

Title	Testing some scenarios in modified gravity
Author(s)	Arraut, Ivan
Citation	大阪大学, 2014, 博士論文
Version Type	VoR
URL	https://doi.org/10.18910/34062
rights	
Note	

The University of Osaka Institutional Knowledge Archive : OUKA

https://ir.library.osaka-u.ac.jp/

The University of Osaka

Testing some scenarios in modified gravity

Iván Darío Arraut Guerrero

Thesis for the PhD course

Student: Iván Darío Arraut Guerrero

Osaka University Faculty of Science Department of Physics Osaka, Toyonaka city, Japan January 10TH, 2014

Testing some scenarios in modified gravity

Iván Darío Arraut Guerrero, Osaka University

January $10^{\rm TH}, 2014$

Abstract

Modified gravity theories have emerged as an alternative for solving the dark energy and dark matter problems by introducing additional degrees of freedom inside the standard gravitational theory. These extra degrees of freedom might be problematic at the moment of analyzing some scenarios where they can reproduce some pathologies, generally absent inside the standard formulation of gravity (General Relativity). In this document, we analyze two modifications of gravity. The first one corresponds to the de-Rham-Gabadadze-Tolley (dRGT) theory of non-linear massive gravity which is a candidate for solving the dark energy problem. In this theory we study the perturbative behavior of the Schwarzschild de-Sitter (SdS) solution with one free parameter satisfying $\beta = \alpha^2$. We find that the linear perturbation equations become identical to those for the vacuum Einstein theory when they are expressed in terms of the gauge-invariant variables. This implies that this black hole is stable in the dRGT theory as far as the spacetime structure is concerned in contrast to the case of the bi-Schwarzschild solution in the bi-metric theory. However, we have also found a pathological feature that the general solution to the perturbation equations contain a single arbitrary function of spacetime coordinates. This implies a degeneracy of dynamics in the Stückelberg field sector at the linear perturbation level in this background. Physical significance of this degeneracy depends on how the Stückelberg fields couple to the observable ones. As dRGT is not able to reproduce dark matter effects, we analyzed a second model. It corresponds to one of the proposed non-local models of gravity. The model was used before in order to recreate screening effects for the cosmological constant (A) value. Here we analyze the possibility of reproducing dark matter effects in that formulation. Although the model in the weak-field approximation (in static coordinates) can reproduce the field equations in agreement with the AQUAL Lagrangian, the solutions are scale dependent and cannot reproduce the observed dark matter dynamics in agreement with the Modified Newtonian Dynamics (MOND) proposed by Milgrom.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	4
2	Wea	ak field approximation with Λ	7
	2.1	Propagation of gravitational waves in an asymptotically de-Sitter space	8
	2.2	Polarization analysis	10
	2.3	The Λ gauge	13
	-	2.3.1 The equations of motion in the Λ gauge	14
		$2.3.2$ Polarizations in the Λ gauge	15
		2.3.3 Power and critical distance in the Λ gauge $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	17
3	Line	ear massive gravity: The Fierz Pauli theory	18
	3.1	Another way for counting the degrees of freedom	19
	3.2	The vDVZ discontinuity	20
	3.3	The Stückelberg trick in vectorial theories	23
	3.4	Graviton Stückelberg and origin of the vDVZ discontinuity	24
	0.1	3.4.1 Graviton Stückelberg and the propagating ghost	27
4	The	non-linear formulation of massive gravity	29
-	4.1	Formulation of the dBGT	$\frac{-3}{32}$
	4.2	The Schwarzschild-de Sitter solution in Einstein gravity	34
	4.3	The Schwarzschild de-Sitter (SdS) solution in dBGT theory	35
	4 4	Gauge invariant formulation for Black Hole perturbations	40
	1.1	4.4.1 Tensorial decomposition of perturbations	41
		4.4.2 Gauge invariant variables	42
		1.1.2 Gauge invariant variables	12
	15	Perturbation analysis in the dBCT formalism	46
	4.0	4.5.1 Background	46
		4.5.1 Datkground \dots of Y^{μ}	40
		4.5.2 Fortunbation of A_{ν}^{*}	40 50
		4.5.5 vector perturbations	- 50 ธุก
	16	4.0.4 Scalar perturbations $\dots \dots \dots$	0Z 54
	4.0	Gauge invariant formulation for the perturbation formalism in the dRGT	54
	4.1	Black noies in bi-gravity theories	58

5	Mod	lified theories and dark matter effects	62
	5.1	Lagrangian formulation of MOND	63
	5.2	The MOND field equations	64
	5.3	The field equations at large distances from the source	65
	5.4	A Non-local model for gravity	67
		5.4.1 The ghost free condition	68
	5.5	The Newtonian limit in the standard case in S-dS metric	69
		5.5.1 The weak field approximation in non-local gravity and its relation with	
		MOND	70
	5.6	Explicit solutions for ϕ and μ	72
		5.6.1 Solutions for μ and ϕ for special values of γ	72
		5.6.2 Special cases for different values of the parameter γ and the ghost-free	
		condition	74
		5.6.3 The relevant cases for the potential	74
		5.6.4 The case $C = 1$	75
		5.6.5 The case $C = -1$	75
	5.7	A comparison with other models	76
6	Con	clusions	79
\mathbf{A}	Seco	and order expansion for the Λ term	82
в	Poy	nting vector average over big regions	85
С	C The other parameter choices admitting the Schwarzschild-de Sitter solu- tion		
D	• Explicit forms for δQ_1 , δQ_2 and δQ_3		

Chapter 1 Introduction

The alternative theories of gravity have emerged as possible explanations for the observed accelerated expansion of the universe [1]. In other cases, they also attempt to explain the dark matter effects by introducing new degrees of freedom like scalar or vector components in addition to the tensorial one [2, 3]. These models of course do not solve the problem completely since they introduce new parameters which anyway we have to tune in order to agree with the observations. For now it seems that every single observation agrees with the fact that the Einstein theory of gravity with the addition of a cosmological constant (Λ) and dark matter is the appropriate one and no evidence for new degrees of freedom have been observed at all in the current experiments [1, 4, 5]. However, it has been difficult to find a natural explanation for the observed small value of Λ in comparison with what is expected from the zero point quantum fluctuations if we have an ultraviolet (UV) cut-off at the Planck scale [1]. It is at this point that the alternative theories of gravity might be important in order to provide possible scenarios for solving naturally the observed value of A. Among the most popular suggestions as alternatives to gravity, we have Massive Gravity theories, Modified Gravity (MOG) and Non-local gravity theories [2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9]. All of them have something in common, namely, the introduction of new degrees of freedom. It is however possible to introduce non-localities without new degrees of freedom as suggested by Deser and colleagues if the non-localities come from quantum fluctuations or from another effect [6]. In this document we focus principally in two models. The first one is the dRGT non-linear massive gravity theory which is a candidate for solving the dark energy problem [10, 11]. The second model, perhaps not so attractive as dRGT, corresponds to one of the many proposals for introducing non-localities inside the Einstein-Hilbert action [8, 9]. In this particular model, the non-localities are equivalent to the introduction of new degrees of freedom. If dRGT is supposed to be a real theory of nature, it must be consistent with all the observed features. In particular, it must be consistent with the 'observed' existence of astrophysical black holes. In many cases, this requirement leads to non-trivial constraints. For example, it was recently claimed that the bi-Schwarzschild solution is unstable against a spherically symmetric perturbation in the bi-metric theory of gravity [12]. Motivated by this, the stability of the Schwarzschild-de Sitter black hole was analyzed in the framework of the linear massive gravity theory by Brito, Cardoso and Pani [14, 13]. They found that

the black hole is unstable generically, but becomes stable when the mass of the graviton takes the particular value $m^2 = 2\Lambda/3$. In this case, the theory is inside the regime of partially massless gravity, where the Vainshtein mechanism seems to be unnecessary since the vDVZ discontinuity does not appear anymore[15]. However, it has been demonstrated that the partially massless theories of gravity have several problems of consistency [16]. In the present paper, we analyze the stability of the Schwarzschild-de Sitter solution in the framework of the non-linear dRGT massive theory of gravity. We do not introduce the cosmological constant as an extra parameter of the theory, but instead, we utilize the fact that the Schwarzschild-de Sitter black hole is an exact solution to the non-linear dRGT theory if the parameters $\alpha = 1 + 3\alpha_3$ and $\beta = 3(\alpha_3 + 4\alpha_4)$ of the theory satisfy the relation $\beta = \alpha^2$. For this parameter choice, the mass term of the theory behaves exactly as the cosmological constant term in the Einstein theory for a spherically symmetric geometry as pointed out by Berezhiani et al[17]. We exhaust all Schwarzschild-de Sitter-type solutions to the non-linear dRGT theory in the unitary gauge for the Stückelberg fields assuming $\beta = \alpha^2$. We find a family of solutions that are gauge equivalent to the standard Schwarzschild-de Sitter solution if we neglect the non-trivial transformation of the Stückelberg fields. In the massive gravity theory, they should be regarded as different solutions because if the metric are put into the standard Schwarzschild-de Sitter form, the Stückelberg fields behave differently. The solution obtained in [17] is one solution in this family that is regular at the future horizon. There exists no solution that is regular both at the future and the past horizons. We consider linear perturbations of this background solution in the framework of the nonlinear dRGT theory only assuming the parameter relation $\beta = \alpha^2$. Hence, we generally expect to obtain perturbation equations that are different from those in the Einstein theory with the cosmological constant. In fact, we do if we do not impose the constraint coming from the Bianchi identity on the mass term. However, when we impose that constraint, the extra terms are required to vanish. Hence, we obtain the perturbation equations that are identical to those in the Einstein theory with a cosmological constant and some additional constraints on the metric perturbation variables that correspond to the gauge-dependent parts in the Einstein theory. From this result and the Birkhoff theorem for the Einstein theory, we can easily find the general solution to the perturbation equations and deduce the stability of the black hole against linear perturbations concerning the spacetime structure. However, we also find that this general solution contains an arbitrary function of the spacetime coordinates that reduces to a part of the gauge transformation freedom in the absence of the Stückelberg fields. In the gauge in which the background metric takes the standard Schwarzschild-de Sitter form, this freedom goes to the Stückelberg fields. Hence, we cannot determine the behavior of the fields only by initial data. Along with this general argument, we point out that the general solution to the vector-type perturbation equations contains a family of stationary modes that correspond the rotation of a black hole in the Einstein theory. Regarding the non-local model of gravity, the extra degrees of freedom inside this model might modify the observed galactic dynamics. Then it is natural to ask whether or not some of these models are able to reproduce dark matter effects. The model which recreates the observed galactic dynamics with one fit parameter is MOND, originally proposed by Milgrom [18, 19, 20]. In this paper I take an already suggested non-local gravity model which introduce two scalar fields (one non-dynamical) in order to create an screening effect of the Λ value and I then compare it with the MOND results in agreement with the AQUALlike equation $\nabla \cdot \left(\mu \left(\frac{|\nabla \Phi|}{a_0}\right) \nabla \Phi\right) = 4\pi G \rho$ [21] in order to reproduce the dark matter effects at least for the observed galaxy rotation curves. The AQUAL equation provides the appropriate predictions for the extragalactic phenomenology even if the AQUAL model itself cannot be realistic since it provides unphysical results [22, 23, 24]. It is however already known that an appropriate Relativistic version of MOND must reproduce the AQUAL equation in the weak field approximation [21].

In this document we find that a non-local model of gravity can reproduce the same AQUAL equations in agreement with MOND, but not the same dynamics since the interpolating function parameter μ in this model is a scale-dependent quantity. This is the case because μ depends on the potential ϕ rather than on the acceleration $\nabla \phi$. I am not concerned about the origin of the non-localities in this paper [7]. The thesis is organized as follows: In chapter (2), I review the weak field approximation of the Einstein-Hilbert action and then analyze the propagation of gravitational waves inside this formalism [25, 26]. I use this chapter as an introduction for the formalism of massive gravity. Basically the Einstein-Hilbert action expanded up to second order corresponds (in massive gravity language) to the most basic potential without interaction between the fiducial metric and the dynamical one. The obtained potential has however undesirable properties as they are explained in [27]. In chapter (3), I make a review of the linear formulation of massive gravity known as the Fierz-Pauli theory. I then explain the first pathology found inside these formulations, namely, the vDVZ discontinuity. In chapter (4), I make a brief review of the non-linear formulation of massive gravity and then I analyze the Schwarzschild de-Sitter solution. After then the black hole stability is studied. Finally I make a brief comparison with the bi-gravity formulation. In chapter (5), I introduce another alternative for modifying gravity and then I analyze the possibility for finding dark matter effects inside the formulation. In chapter (6), I conclude.

Chapter 2 Weak field approximation with Λ

There is usually the question of whether the cosmological constant in the weak field approximation corresponds to a graviton mass. This is not the case as it is explained in [27]. It is very well known that the most general covariant action including Λ is [28]

$$S_{EH} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} (R - 2\Lambda). \tag{2.1}$$

The field equations obtained from this action become

$$R_{\mu\nu} = -\Lambda g_{\mu\nu}.\tag{2.2}$$

These equations are just equivalent to the standard Einstein equations in vacuum and given by

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \Lambda g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.3)$$

as can be easily demonstrated. In weak field approximation, eq. (2.2) becomes [29]

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial^{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}h_{\lambda\nu} - \partial^{\lambda}\partial_{\nu}h_{\lambda\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h = -2\Lambda g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.4)

These equations are equivalent to

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h - \partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} - \partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\nu}h^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}(\Box h - \partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\alpha}h^{\sigma\alpha}) - 2\Lambda\left(\eta_{\mu\nu} - h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}h\right) = 0. \quad (2.5)$$

The previous results can be derived directly from the Einstein-Hilbert action expanded up to second order [30]

$$\mathcal{L} = -2\Lambda \left(1 + \frac{1}{2}h - \frac{1}{4}h_{\alpha\beta}h^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{8}hh \right) - \frac{1}{4}\partial_{\nu}h_{\alpha\beta}\partial^{\nu}h^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{4}\partial_{\mu}h\partial^{\mu}h - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\beta}h\partial_{\mu}h^{\beta\mu} \qquad (2.6)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\alpha}h_{\nu\beta}\partial^{\nu}h^{\alpha\beta}.$$

We can rewrite the action defined in eq. (2.1) as

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R + U_1 \right),$$
 (2.7)

where I introduce the effective potential term U_1 inside this action. In fact, the simplest potential is given by the cosmological constant itself. In the action (2.7), the kinetic term of the graviton field is contained inside $\sqrt{-qR}$ and represents contributions of the form

$$\sqrt{-g}R \to \partial h \partial h.$$
 (2.8)

The second term is the simplest possible potential and it can be expanded as

$$\sqrt{-g} = 1 + \frac{h}{2} + \frac{h^2}{8} - \frac{h_{\mu\nu}^2}{4} + \dots,$$
(2.9)

up to some multiplicative factor related to Λ . This previous analysis, is related to a spin 2 field propagating over some background. In the simplest case, the background is selected to be the Minkowskian one. As the action (2.7) provides the dynamics of a spin 2 particle, then the term $\sqrt{-g}U_1$ cannot be considered as a massive term. The only possibility for introducing a massive term is by providing a second metric inside the formalism. This is true for the non-linear case. For the linear case, the second metric cannot be noticed since it is simply given by the Minkowskian background. In fact, the Fierz-Pauli action is a special case of the non-linear version of massive gravity as I will explain in forthcoming sections. The result (2.9) is obtained in detail in appendix (A).

2.1 Propagation of gravitational waves in an asymptotically de-Sitter space

The results of the previous section can be used if we want to analyze the propagation of gravitational waves in an asymptotically de-Sitter space [25, 26]. If we use the weak field approximation, the metric can be written as $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ [29], where $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ is the Minkowski metric. The field equations in the weak field approximation and with a positive Λ , after imposing the de-Donder gauge $\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h$ become [25, 26, 31]

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} = -16\pi G S_{\mu\nu} - 2\Lambda \eta_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.10)$$

where we ignore terms of order Λh and the source term $S_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}T$ is included. It is just the trace reversed version of the energy-momentum tensor. The full set of solutions for $h_{\mu\nu}$ can be expressed as

$$h_{00} = e_{00}(\vec{r},\omega)e^{ikx} + c.c - \Lambda t^2, \qquad h_{0i} = e_{0i}(\vec{r},\omega)e^{ikx} + c.c + \frac{2}{3}\Lambda tx_i, \qquad (2.11)$$
$$h_{ij} = e_{ij}(\vec{r},\omega)e^{ikx} + c.c + \Lambda t^2\delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{3}\Lambda\epsilon_{ij},$$

where $\epsilon_{ij} = x_i x_j$ for $i \neq j$ and 0 otherwise. The full solution of course respects the de-Donder condition $\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h$. From the full solution, it can be observed that the particular one corresponds to the de-Sitter background. This is the solution obtained for the graviton in the massless limit $(m \to 0)$ as can be shown from the results obtained in [32]. Additionally, in agreement with [25, 26], the energy-momentum (tensor) carried by the gravitational waves with a positive Λ , is given by

$$\hat{t}_{\mu\nu} = t_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{8\pi G} \Lambda h_{\mu\nu},$$
(2.12)

where $t_{\mu\nu}$ is [29]

$$t_{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{8\pi G} \left(R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} R - R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} R^{(1)} \right), \qquad (2.13)$$

and it is obtained from the second-order contributions to the Einstein's equations given by

$$R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}R^{(1)} - \Lambda\eta_{\mu\nu} = -8\pi G(T_{\mu\nu} + \hat{t}_{\mu\nu}).$$
(2.14)

If we expand up to second order in h, then $t_{\mu\nu}$ as it is defined in eq. (2.13) is explicitly

$$t_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \left(-\frac{1}{2} h_{\mu\nu} R^{(1)} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} h^{\sigma\rho} R^{(1)}_{\sigma\rho} + R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} \eta^{\sigma\rho} R^{(2)}_{\sigma\rho} \right) + O(h^3).$$
(2.15)

If we take into account that the first order Ricci scalar is given by $R^{(1)} = -\eta_{\mu\nu}\Lambda$, then the Poynting vector corresponding to the background solution becomes [25, 26]

$$\hat{t}_{0i} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \left(\frac{10}{9} \Lambda^2 t x_i \right), \qquad (2.16)$$

where the definition for the second-order Ricci tensor has been used and it is given by

$$R^{(2)}_{\mu\kappa} = -\frac{1}{2}h^{\lambda\nu}(\partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\mu}h_{\lambda\nu} - \partial_{\kappa}\partial_{\lambda}h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}h_{\lambda\kappa} + \partial_{\nu}\partial_{\lambda}h_{\mu\kappa}) + \frac{1}{4}(2\partial_{\nu}h^{\nu}{}_{\sigma} - \partial_{\sigma}h)(\partial_{\kappa}h^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}h^{\sigma}{}_{\kappa} - \partial^{\sigma}h_{\mu\kappa}) - \frac{1}{4}(\partial_{\lambda}h_{\sigma\kappa} + \partial_{\kappa}h_{\sigma\lambda} - \partial_{\sigma}h_{\lambda\kappa})(\partial^{\lambda}h^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}h^{\sigma\lambda} - \partial^{\sigma}h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}). \quad (2.17)$$

If we now assume a wave moving along the z-direction, then the relevant quantity for us is (remember that after averaging the contributions from $h\Lambda \to 0$ in agreement with [25, 26])

$$< t^{03} > = < t^{03} >_{wave} + < t^{03} >_{\Lambda}$$
. (2.18)

In appendix (B), I explain the justification for the linearity of the superposition when we take the average. The averages are performed over regions of the size of a wavelength and times of the length of a period of the wave [33]. Note, the subscript "wave" refers to the standard contribution without Λ . The critical distance [25, 26], is obtained as $\langle t^{03} \rangle = 0$. After some calculation, it is given by

$$L_{crit} = \frac{6\sqrt{2}\pi f \hat{h}}{\sqrt{5}} r_{\Lambda}^2, \qquad (2.19)$$

which depends on the frequency and the amplitude of the wave. L_{crit} could in principle be of any order of magnitude. But it becomes the background scale r_{Λ} after taking into account the condition $r_{\Lambda} \approx \frac{\lambda}{h}$ [34]. The wave cannot propagate to a distance larger than L_{crit} , it means that the inhomogeneities (in this case GW) eventually disappear and the space goes asymptotically to the de-Sitter one. This is in agreement with deeper studies performed in [35, 36, 37] where the Cosmic No-hair Conjecture (CNC) in the presence of GWs was confirmed.

2.2 Polarization analysis

In general, any plane wave solution can be expressed in the form

$$h_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu\nu} exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e^*_{\mu\nu} exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}), \qquad (2.20)$$

where $e_{\mu\nu}$ is the polarization tensor [29]. The homogeneous solution (in vacuum) of eq. (2.10), has to satisfy

$$k_{\alpha}k^{\alpha} = 0. \tag{2.21}$$

This means that the massless graviton propagates at the light velocity. The de-Donder condition $\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h$ in momentum space becomes

$$k_{\mu}e^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2}k_{\nu}e, \qquad (2.22)$$

where e is the trace for the polarization tensor. The polarization tensor $e_{\mu\nu}$ must be symmetric because $h_{\mu\nu}$ is already symmetric. Then in principle we have 10 degrees of freedom. However eq. (2.22) represents four relations between the components of the polarization tensor, so we only would have 6 independent components. From these six components, only two of them represent physical degrees of freedom [29]. If in a local transformation of coordinates, we select

$$\epsilon^{\mu}(x) = i\epsilon^{\mu}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) - i\epsilon^{\mu*}exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}).$$
(2.23)

Then, under local gauge transformations, the plane wave solution (2.20) becomes

$$h'_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu\nu}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e^*_{\mu\nu}exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + \epsilon_{\mu}k_{\nu}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + \epsilon^*_{\mu}k_{\nu}exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + \epsilon_{\nu}k_{\nu}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + \epsilon^*_{\nu}k_{\nu}exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}).$$
(2.24)

Equivalently

$$h'_{\mu\nu} = e'_{\mu\nu} exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e'^{*}_{\mu\nu} exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}), \qquad (2.25)$$

with $e'_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu\nu} + k_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} + k_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu}$. Then we can conclude that $e'_{\mu\nu}$ and $e_{\mu\nu}$ represent the same physical situation for arbitrary values of the four parameters ϵ_{μ} [29]. At the end only two degrees of freedom are relevant for the polarization tensor. Consider for example a wave traveling in the +z-direction, with wave vector given by

$$k^{\mu} \to (k, 0, 0, k),$$
 (2.26)

with $k^3 = k^0 = k > 0$ as in the case of a wave moving at the light velocity and as a consequence satisfying the condition (2.21). If we use the de-Donder condition in momentum space given in (2.22), then

$$k^{3}e_{3\nu} + k^{0}e_{0\nu} = \frac{1}{2}k_{\nu}(e^{0}_{\ 0} + e^{1}_{\ 1} + e^{2}_{\ 2} + e^{3}_{\ 3}), \qquad (2.27)$$

where we have taken into account that the only non-vanishing components of the wave vector are $k^3 = k^0 = k$. For $\nu = 1$, we have

$$k^{3}e_{31} + k^{0}e_{01} = 0 = e_{31} + e_{01}.$$
(2.28)

Since $k^3 = k^0$; for $\nu = 2$, then

$$k^{3}e_{32} + k^{0}e_{02} = 0 = e_{32} + e_{02}.$$
(2.29)

When $\nu = 0$, we have

$$k^{3}e_{30} + k^{0}e_{00} = \frac{1}{2}k_{0}(e^{0}_{\ 0} + e^{1}_{\ 1} + e^{2}_{\ 2} + e^{3}_{\ 3}).$$
(2.30)

This is equivalent to

$$k^{3}e_{30} + k^{0}e_{00} = -\frac{1}{2}k^{0}(-e_{00} + e_{11} + e_{22} + e_{33}).$$
(2.31)

And from from eq. (2.26), we get

$$-e_{30} - e_{00} = \frac{1}{2}(-e_{00} + e_{11} + e_{22} + e_{33}).$$
(2.32)

Finally, if $\nu = 3$, we have

$$k^{3}e_{33} + k^{0}e_{03} = \frac{1}{2}k^{3}(-e_{00} + e_{11} + e_{22} + e_{33}).$$
(2.33)

And by the same arguments as before we get

$$e_{33} + e_{03} = \frac{1}{2}(-e_{00} + e_{11} + e_{22} + e_{33}).$$
 (2.34)

We can find the physical degrees of freedom by performing a rotation of the system. From the previous equations, we have the partial results

$$e_{01} = -e_{31}, \quad e_{02} = -e_{32}, \quad e_{03} = -\frac{1}{2}(e_{33} + e_{00}), \quad e_{22} = -e_{11}.$$
 (2.35)

Under local gauge transformation, the six components of $e_{\mu\nu}$ transform in agreement with

$$e'_{11} = e_{11}, \quad e'_{12} = e_{12},$$

$$e'_{13} = e_{13} + k\epsilon_1, \quad e'_{23} = e_{23} + k\epsilon_2,$$

$$e'_{33} = e_{33} + 2k\epsilon_3, \quad e'_{00} = e_{00} - 2k\epsilon_0.$$

$$(2.36)$$

Thus only e_{11} and e_{12} have absolute physical meaning, since the other components can be sent to zero with an appropriate choice of k. If we select the following values for ϵ as a function of k

$$\epsilon_1 = -\frac{e_{13}}{k}, \quad \epsilon_2 = -\frac{e_{23}}{k}, \quad \epsilon_3 = -\frac{e_{33}}{2k}, \quad \epsilon_0 = \frac{e_{00}}{2k}.$$
 (2.37)

Then the unphysical components vanish. The spin-2 behavior is obtained if we select the appropriate linear combination of the tensor components e_{11} and e_{12} . The rotation around the z-axis is just a special case of a Lorentz transformation given in the following form

$$R_{1}^{1} = \cos\theta, \quad R_{1}^{2} = \sin\theta,$$

$$R_{2}^{1} = -\sin\theta, \quad R_{2}^{2} = \cos\theta,$$

$$R_{3}^{3} = R_{0}^{0} = 1, \quad other \quad R_{\mu}^{\nu} = 0.$$
(2.38)

As $R_{\mu}^{\ \nu}k_{\nu} = k_{\mu}$, then the only effect of a Lorentz transformation is to convert the polarization tensors $e_{\mu\nu}$ into

$$e'_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu}^{\ \rho} R_{\nu}^{\ \sigma} e_{\rho\sigma}.$$
 (2.39)

The non-vanishing components of the polarization tensor, are in agreement with eqns. (2.35) and (2.36); e_{11} , e_{12} and $e_{22} = -e_{11}$, then from eq. (2.39), we get

$$e_{11}' = R_1^{\ \rho} R_1^{\ \sigma} e_{\rho\sigma}. \tag{2.40}$$

Summing repeated indices, we get

$$e_{11}' = R_1^{\ 1} R_1^{\ 1} e_{11} + 2R_1^{\ 1} R_1^{\ 2} e_{12} + R_1^{\ 2} R_1^{\ 2} e_{22}.$$
(2.41)

Eq. (2.38) inside this previous result gives

$$e_{11}' = (\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta)e_{11} + 2\cos\theta\sin\theta e_{12}.$$
 (2.42)

Doing the same process for e_{12} , we have

$$e_{12}' = R_1^{\ \rho} R_2^{\ \sigma} e_{\rho\sigma}. \tag{2.43}$$

Again if we sum over repeated indices, we get

$$e_{12}' = R_1^{\ 1}R_2^{\ 1}e_{11} + R_1^{\ 1}R_2^{\ 2}e_{12} + R_1^{\ 2}R_2^{\ 1}e_{21} + R_1^{\ 2}R_2^{\ 2}e_{22}.$$
(2.44)

Eq. (2.38) inside this expression and we get

$$e_{12}' = (\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta)e_{12} - 2\cos\theta\sin\theta e_{11}.$$
 (2.45)

If we define the following linear combination

$$e_{\pm} \equiv e_{11} \mp i e_{12}, \tag{2.46}$$

then under the transformations (2.42) and (2.45), e_{\pm} transforms as

$$e'_{\pm} = e'_{11} \mp i e'_{12} = (\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta)e_{11} + 2\cos\theta\sin\theta e_{12} \mp i((\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta)e_{12} - 2\cos\theta\sin\theta e_{11}).$$
(2.47)

Regrouping terms, this quantity becomes

$$e'_{\pm} = (\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta + 2i\sin\theta\cos\theta)e_{11} \mp i(\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta + 2i\sin\theta\cos\theta)e_{12}.$$
 (2.48)

By factorizing common terms, we get

$$e'_{\pm} = (\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta + 2i\sin\theta\cos\theta)(e_{11} \mp ie_{12}). \tag{2.49}$$

From definition (2.46), we get

$$e'_{\pm} = (\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta + 2i\sin\theta\cos\theta)e_{\pm} = (\cos\theta \pm i\sin\theta)^2e_{\pm}.$$
 (2.50)

Or equivalently

$$e'_{\pm} = exp(\pm 2i\theta)e_{\pm}.\tag{2.51}$$

In general, we know that any plane wave that transforms by a rotation of any angle θ about the direction of propagation into

$$\Phi = e^{in\theta}\Phi,\tag{2.52}$$

is said to have helicity n [29]. The helicity for the gravitational wave field is in agreement with the result (2.51) is $n = \pm 2$. Then the gravitational field is a spin-2 field.

2.3 The Λ gauge

The Λ gauge was already explained in [31]. In such a case, Λ is not a source anymore, but its effects will appear as gauge ones. Independent of the selected gauge, we expect to have 2 physical polarization tensors and we expect to obtain the same L_{crit} already found previously. By proving this, we show that the background effects are gauge-independent as it must be.

2.3.1 The equations of motion in the Λ gauge

The field equations in the Λ gauge can be obtained if we introduce the gauge condition $\partial_{\mu}h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h = \Lambda x_{\nu}$ inside the full weak field version of the Einstein's equations [25, 26, 31]. In this gauge, the equations simplify to

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} = 0, \tag{2.53}$$

where the solutions for this equation must be obtained after taking into account the gauge condition. They were already found in [31] and repeated here for clarity

$$h_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu\nu}e^{ikx} + c.c + \frac{\Lambda}{18} \left(4x_{\mu}x_{\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}x^2\right).$$
 (2.54)

The first part of this solution is the plane wave contribution. The field equations (eqn. 2.53) in momentum space show the fact the the graviton propagates at the light velocity $k^{\mu}k_{\mu}$. The gauge condition, on the other hand, can be written partially in momentum space and is given by

$$k_{\mu}e^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2}k_{\nu}e + \Lambda x_{\nu}.$$
(2.55)

If $h_{\mu\nu}$ does not satisfy the Λ gauge condition, then it is always possible to find some $h'_{\mu\nu}$ that does by performing the appropriate coordinate transformations with [1]

$$\Box \epsilon_{\nu} \equiv \partial_{\mu} h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu} h.$$
(2.56)

If the Λ gauge condition is satisfied, then the previous equations can only be reduced to [25, 31]

$$\Box \epsilon_{\nu} = \Lambda x_{\nu}. \tag{2.57}$$

The homogeneous solutions for these equations are the standard ones already given in [1]

$$\epsilon^{\mu}(x) = i\epsilon^{\mu}e^{ikx} - i\epsilon^{\mu*}e^{-ikx}.$$
(2.58)

The particular solutions are

$$\begin{split} \epsilon^0_\Lambda &= at^3 + br^2 t, \\ \epsilon^i_\Lambda &= ct^2 x^i + d(x^i)^3 + ex^i ((x^j)^2 + (x^k)^2). \end{split}$$

The constants must satisfy the conditions $-a + b = \frac{\Lambda}{6}$ and $-c + 6d + 4e = \Lambda$ in agreement with equation (2.57). We will write the particular solutions as $\epsilon^{\mu}_{\Lambda}(x)$. Then, the infinitesimal parameters for the coordinate transformations can be written as

$$\epsilon^{\mu}(x) = i\epsilon^{\mu}e^{ikx} - i\epsilon^{\mu*}e^{-ikx} + \epsilon^{\mu}_{\Lambda}(x).$$
(2.59)

2.3.2 Polarizations in the Λ gauge

If we assume that the wave is propagating along the z direction, namely, $k^1 = k^2 = 0$ and $k^3 = k^0 = k > 0$ [1]; then the relations among the polarizations components can be obtained from eq. (2.55) as

$$e_{01} = -e_{31} + \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\omega}\right)x, \quad e_{02} = -e_{32} + \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\omega}\right)y, \quad e_{03} = -\frac{1}{2}(e_{33} + e_{00}) + \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\omega}\right)z.$$
 (2.60)

The previous equations correspond to the Λ gauge condition written in the form (2.55) for $\nu = 1, 2, 3$ respectively. For the case $\nu = 0$, we get

$$e_{03} = -\frac{1}{2}(e_{33} + e_{00}) - \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\omega}\right)t.$$
 (2.61)

If we sum this result with the one obtained in eq. (2.60), we obtain

$$e_{03} = -\frac{1}{2}(e_{33} + e_{00}) - \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\omega}\right)(z-t), \qquad (2.62)$$

for a wave traveling along the z-direction. The relevant coordinates are z and t. As the graviton must travel along a light cone, then the assumption z = t is valid and the previous equations just become to be the same as the standard ones obtained in [1]

$$e_{01} = -e_{31}, \quad e_{02} = -e_{32}, \quad e_{03} = -\frac{1}{2}(e_{33} + e_{00}).$$
 (2.63)

If additionally we analyze the transformations for the polarization tensors [1], then the independent components transform as

$$e'_{11} = e_{11} - 2\left(ct^2 + 3dx^2 + e(y^2 + z^2)\right), \qquad (2.64)$$

$$e_{12}' = e_{12} - 4exy, (2.65)$$

$$e_{13}' = e_{13} + k\epsilon_1 - 4exz, (2.66)$$

$$e'_{23} = e_{23} + k\epsilon_2 - 4eyz, (2.67)$$

$$e'_{33} = e_{33} + 2k\epsilon_3 - 2\left(ct^2 + 3dz^2 + e(y^2 + x^2)\right), \qquad (2.68)$$

$$e'_{00} = e_{00} - 2k\epsilon_0 - 2\left(3at^2 + br^2\right).$$
(2.69)

Observing these expressions for the 6 independent polarization tensors, we might believe that there is a problem here because we are expecting only 2 of them to have physical relevance.

However, if z = t and if additionally we ignore the coordinates x and y since the wave is propagating along z, the previous transformations just become

$$e'_{11} = e_{11} - 2z^2 \left(c + e\right), \qquad (2.70)$$

$$e_{12}^{'} = e_{12},$$
 (2.71)

$$e_{13}' = e_{13} + k\epsilon_1, \tag{2.72}$$

$$e_{23}' = e_{23} + k\epsilon_2, (2.73)$$

$$e'_{33} = e_{33} + 2k\epsilon_3 - 2z^2 \left(c + 3d\right), \qquad (2.74)$$

$$e'_{00} = e_{00} - 2k\epsilon_0 - 2z^2 (3a+b).$$
(2.75)

The conditions $-a + b = \frac{\Lambda}{6}$ and $-c + 6d + 4e = \Lambda$ must be satisfied. Here we want to keep e_{11} as a physically relevant component for the polarization tensor in agreement with [1]. Then the following additional conditions must be imposed

$$c = -e, \quad -5c + 6d = \Lambda,$$

$$c = -3d, \quad d = \frac{\Lambda}{21},$$

$$b = -3a, \quad a = -\frac{\Lambda}{24}.$$
(2.76)

Then the physical relevant components are

$$e'_{11} = e_{11}, \quad e'_{12} = e_{12}.$$
 (2.77)

The behavior under rotations is still [1]

$$e'_{\pm} = exp(\pm 2i\theta)e_{\pm}, \qquad (2.78)$$

with $e_{\pm} = e_{11} \mp i e_{12}$. This is what we were expecting. This result is in agreement with that obtained in [38] where it was found that Λ does not affect the polarization of the GW during its propagation. In [38] Λ only provides an isotropic contribution to the geodesic deviation equation given by

$$\ddot{Z}_1 = \ddot{Z}_2 = \ddot{Z}_3 = \frac{\Lambda}{3} Z_1.$$
(2.79)

Here Z is the geodesic deviation coordinate in agreement with [38]. Then if we have a group of particles creating a circle. They will move isotropically keeping the initial shape of the circle. In other words, the polarization is not affected by the presence of Λ . This is valid for Minkowski, de-Sitter and Anti de-Sitter spaces [38].

2.3.3 Power and critical distance in the Λ gauge

In [25, 26], the radiation flux of a gravitational wave when it propagates in an asymptotically de-Sitter space was calculated by taking Λ as an additional source of radiation (de-Donder gauge). Here we want to explore if the same critical distance L_{crit} can be obtained when we take Λ as a gauge effect. We can perform the same calculations as in [26], but this time the first order scalar curvature is $R^{(1)} = 0$ in agreement with the eqn. (2.53) [25]. The effective gravitational Poynting vector in the Λ gauge is then given by

$$\hat{t}_{0i} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \left(R_{0i}^{(2)} - \Lambda h_{0i} \right) + O(h^3).$$
(2.80)

This result differs from the one obtained in [26] only in the first order contribution of the Ricci tensor $(R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu})$ which is zero in the present case. However, this difference is compensated by the gauge effect. If we replace the solutions given in eqn. (2.54), after some standard calculations and after taking an average over a large region of spacetime, we obtain the same result $L_{crit} \approx (f\hat{h})r_{\Lambda}^2$ as the one obtained in [26], repeated in eqn. (2.19) for clarity. If we introduce the condition $r_{\Lambda} \approx \frac{\lambda}{h}$ [34], when combined with the critical distance just found previously, implies

$$L_{crit} \approx r_{\Lambda},$$
 (2.81)

and then the so called critical distance found in [26] becomes the background curvature scale [34] and it helps us to evaluate the validity of the GW approach. Here however we interpret this result as a consequence of the power decay rate as the GW propagates inside the background. In other words, the background absorbs the energy of the wave as it propagates. This is in agreement with the CNC since it demonstrates the tendency for the inhomogeneities to be dissipated at large times (distances). It shows the tendency for the space to go asymptotically to the de-Sitter one. In reference [35] the equations for the evolution of GWs in an asymptotically de-Sitter space were written as in the asymptotically flat case but including a viscosity term and a decaying term which is in complete agreement with the present formalism and interpretation. The formalism developed here is however very simple and can be easily extended to massive gravity theories. These previous results are in agreement with the predictions for the stochastic background of gravitational waves as has been explained in [25, 39]. In this thesis I will not focus in such problems but it is important to remark that the future discovery of stochastic background of gravitational waves, would open a new window in physics since it would provide information of the universe when it was at the age 10^{-36} seconds. This can give some ideas about the physics at very high energies [33].

Chapter 3

Linear massive gravity: The Fierz Pauli theory

The idea of introducing mass to the graviton is not new. It was proposed since the beginning of General Relativity [40, 41]. The simplest theory for a non-self interacting graviton is the Fierz-Pauli theory [42]. Fierz and Pauli discovered that it is possible to reproduce a ghost-free theory of massive gravitons by introducing a mass term in the action of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{mass} = b_1 h_{\mu\nu}^2 + b_2 h^2 = m^2 (h_{\mu\nu}^2 - h^2), \qquad (3.1)$$

where $b_1 = -b_2$. Only this combination of coefficients provides a ghost free version of the theory, any other combination corresponds to a ghost [41, 42]. It is well known that the action (2.7) is invariant under the following gauge transformation

$$\delta_g h_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu \zeta_\nu + \partial_\nu \zeta_\mu. \tag{3.2}$$

However, the mass term in the Fierz-Pauli action given in (3.1) violates this symmetry [41]. Then the Fierz-Pauli action describes a massive graviton. Later we will see how this action can be extended to the non-linear case. For now, we can analyze that only the combination of coefficients given in (3.1) provides the appropriate ghost-free action. The full action for the Fierz-Pauli theory is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h_{\alpha\beta}\partial^{\nu}h^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}h\partial^{\mu}h - \partial_{\beta}h\partial_{\mu}h^{\beta\mu} + \partial_{\alpha}h_{\nu\beta}\partial^{\nu}h^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}m^{2}(h^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu} - h^{2}).$$
(3.3)

If we set the massive term like $-\frac{1}{2}m^2(h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu}-(1-a)h^2)$. By applying the Euler-Lagrange formalism, we obtain the following field equations

$$\frac{\delta S}{\delta h^{\mu\nu}} = \Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\mu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\nu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h + \eta_{\mu\nu} \left(\partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\lambda\sigma} - \Box h \right) - m^2 \left(h_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu} (1-a)h \right) = 0.$$
(3.4)

For a = 0, we recover the Fierz-Pauli tuning. For $a \neq 0$, it is possible to observe that we have a ghost. If we take the divergence of the previous equation, we get the constraint

$$\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} - (1-a)\partial_{\nu}h = 0. \tag{3.5}$$

For a = 0, this condition after taking its divergence, is equivalent to the vanishing Ricci scalar R = 0. If we introduce this condition inside eq. (3.4), then we get

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} - (1 - 2a)\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h - a\eta_{\mu\nu}\Box h - m^{2}(h_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}(1 - a)h) = 0.$$
(3.6)

If we take the trace of this equation, we get

$$-2a\Box h - m^2(-3 + 4a)h = 0. \tag{3.7}$$

For a = 0, this result is the traceless condition h = 0 and eq. (3.5) would imply in such a case that $\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = 0$. If we replace eq. (3.7) inside eq. (3.6), then

$$(\Box - m^2)h_{\mu\nu} - (1 - 2a)\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h + \frac{m^2}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}(-3 + 4a)h + m^2(\eta_{\mu\nu}(1 - a)h) = 0.$$
(3.8)

If $a \neq 0$, the condition h = 0 is not obtained. Then we can only use the four constraints obtained from 3.5. In such a case, we have 6 degrees of freedom propagating and then we have a ghost. If a = 0, the previous set of equations simplify to

$$(\Box - m^2)h_{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad \partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad h = 0.$$
 (3.9)

The second and third equations provide a total of five constraints. As the tensor $h_{\mu\nu}$ has a total of ten components, then there are only five degrees of freedom propagating and there is no ghost for this particular case.

3.1 Another way for counting the degrees of freedom

We can rewrite the Lagrangian (3.3) in terms of canonical variables. The canonical momenta are given by

$$\pi_{ij} = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \dot{h}_{ij}} = \dot{h}_{ij} - \dot{h}_{kk} \delta_{ij} - 2\partial_{(i}h_{j)0} + 2\partial_k h_{0k} \delta_{ij}.$$
(3.10)

If we invert for the velocities, we have

$$\dot{h}_{ij} = \pi_{ij} - \frac{1}{2} \pi_{kk} \delta_{ij} + 2\partial_{(i} h_{j)0}.$$
(3.11)

Then the Fierz-Pauli action written in terms of these Hamiltonian variables, becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \pi_{ij}\dot{h}_{ij} - H + 2h_{0i}(\partial_j\pi_{ij}) + m^2h_{0i} + h_{00}(\vec{\nabla}^2h_{ij} - \partial_i\partial_jh_{ij} - m^2h_{ii}), \qquad (3.12)$$

where

$$H = \frac{1}{2}\pi_{ij}^2 - \frac{1}{4}\pi_{ii}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\partial_k h_{ij}\partial_k h_{ij} - \partial_i h_{jk}\partial_j h_{ik} + \partial_i h_{ij}\partial_j h_{kk} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_i h_{jj}\partial_i h_{kk} + \frac{1}{2}m^2(h_{ij}^2 - h_{ii}^2).$$
(3.13)

If we consider the case m = 0, the components h_{0i} and h_{00} are Lagrange multipliers, enforcing some constraints [41]. It is direct to demonstrate that in fact there are only two degrees of freedom propagating for this case. For $m \neq 0$, h_{0i} is not a Lagrange multiplier anymore. Its equation of motion is

$$h_{0i} = -\frac{1}{m^2} \partial_j \pi_{ij}.$$
 (3.14)

After plugging back this result to the action (3.12), we obtain the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \pi_{ij}\dot{h}_{ij} - H + h_{00}\left(\vec{\nabla}^2 h_{ii} - \partial_i\partial_j h_{ij} - m^2 h_{ii}\right).$$
(3.15)

This time, with H defined as

$$H = \frac{1}{2}\pi_{ij}^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\pi_{ii}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{k}h_{ij}\partial_{k}h_{ij} - \partial_{i}h_{jk}\partial_{j}h_{ik} + \partial_{i}h_{ij}\partial_{j}h_{kk} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{i}h_{jj}\partial_{i}h_{kk} + \frac{1}{2}m^{2}(h_{ij}^{2} - h_{ii}^{2}) + \frac{1}{m^{2}}(\partial_{j}\pi_{ij})^{2}.$$
(3.16)

Although the component h_{00} remains a Lagrange multiplier, the Hamiltonian is not a first class as in the case with m = 0 [41]. In fact, we have a secondary constraint from the Poisson bracket with the Hamiltonian $H = \int d^4x H$. The resulting set of two constraints is second class and then we do not have gauge freedom anymore [41].

3.2 The vDVZ discontinuity

It is well known that the Fierz-Pauli theory has a pathology. Namely, if we set the mass of the graviton to zero (m = 0), then we do not recover a massless theory as it is supposed to happen. Instead, we recover a massless graviton plus an interaction term representing the coupling between the scalar component and the trace of the energy-momentum tensor [41, 43] if we have a source term $T_{\mu\nu}$. This result cannot be observed in vacuum. It can only be obtained if there is a source. In other words, we have to include the energy-momentum tensor. In the previous section, all the field equations were analyzed in vacuum, then apparently the theory is not sick at this level. The source term included in the Lagrangian is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{matter} \sim 2M_{pl}^{-2} T_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu}. \tag{3.17}$$

By adding this previous matter Lagrangian to the vacuum action given in eq. (3.3), the equations of motions become of the form

$$-\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} = -m^2 (h_{\mu\nu} - h\eta_{\mu\nu}) + 2M_{pl}^{-2}T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.18)$$

with $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}$ defined in agreement with the kinetic contribution given in eq. (3.4) [32, 43]. If the Bianchi identity is assumed and if we also have conservation of the energy-momentum $\partial^{\mu}T_{\mu\nu} = 0$, then the following constraint is obtained

$$\partial^{\rho}h_{\rho\mu} = \partial_{\mu}h. \tag{3.19}$$

If we take the divergence of this expression, again this is just the vanishing Ricci scalar. In fact, the condition is explicitly

$$\partial^{\nu}\partial^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} - \Box h = 0. \tag{3.20}$$

If we take the trace of eq. (3.18) and taking into account the previous condition (3.20), then we get

$$h = -\frac{2}{3} \frac{T}{m^2 M_{pl}^2}.$$
(3.21)

Then even in the presence of a source term, the trace can be determined algebraically and it cannot propagate. It is non-dynamical. If we introduce the results (3.19) and (3.21) inside the field equations (3.18), then we get [43]

$$-(\Box - m^2)h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{M_{pl}^2} \left(T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3}T\eta_{\mu\nu}\right) + \frac{2}{3}\frac{\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T}{m^2 M_{pl}^2}.$$
 (3.22)

We can compute the graviton propagator by expanding the graviton field $h_{\mu\nu}$ in a Fourier expansion as

$$h_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^4} \int d^4k e^{ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}} \tilde{h}(k^{\mu}).$$
(3.23)

If we make an analogous decomposition for the energy-momentum tensor, then we can find the propagator from the definition

$$\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} = D^{(m\neq0)}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \frac{\tilde{T}^{\rho\sigma}}{M_{pl}^2}.$$
(3.24)

If we replace the Fourier expansions inside eq. (3.22). The explicit expression for the propagator is

$$D^{(m\neq0)}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{k^2 + m^2} \left(\eta_{\rho\mu}\eta_{\sigma\nu} + \eta_{\rho\nu}\eta_{\sigma\mu} - \frac{2}{3}\eta_{\rho\sigma}\eta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{2}{3}\eta_{\rho\sigma}\frac{k_{\mu}k_{\nu}}{m^2} \right).$$
(3.25)

If we want to find the propagator for the massless case, we have to start from the equation

$$-\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} = 2M_{pl}^{-2}T_{\mu\nu}.\tag{3.26}$$

In such a case, we have a gauge freedom and we can impose the De-Donder gauge condition $\partial_{\mu}h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h$. Then the field equations become

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{M_{pl}^2} \left(T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} T \right).$$
 (3.27)

Note that the field equations are just the same obtained in eq. (2.10) if we set $\Lambda = 0$. If we replace the same Fourier expansion, then we get the massless propagator

$$D^{(m=0)}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{k^2} \left(\eta_{\rho\mu} \eta_{\sigma\nu} + \eta_{\rho\nu} \eta_{\sigma\mu} - \eta_{\rho\sigma} \eta_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
(3.28)

Note that there is a difference between the coefficients of the third term of the propagator of the massive graviton given in eq. (3.25) and the analogous term for the massless propagator given in eq. (3.28) even if the involved terms are independent of the mass of the graviton. The difference marks the origin of the vDVZ discontinuity which was originally found in [44]. The term proportional to $k_{\mu}k_{\nu}$ in eq. (3.25) does not appear in the final expression for the amplitude because it vanishes after contraction with the energy-momentum tensor. This is a consequence of the energy-momentum conservation in momentum space. We can compute the formal tree level amplitude of two conserved currents. The amplitude can be defined as [43, 45]

$$A = M_{pl}^2 \int d^4x S^{\mu\nu}(x) h_{\mu\nu}(T)(x), \qquad (3.29)$$

where $h_{\mu\nu}(T)$ is the tree level graviton field generated by a conserved source $T_{\mu\nu}$. It is well known that the graviton field is given by

$$h_{\mu\nu}(T)(x) = M_{pl}^{-2} \int d^4x' D_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(x-x') T^{\rho\sigma}(x'), \qquad (3.30)$$

where $D_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(x-x')$ can be taken as the propagator for both, the massive or massless graviton as they have been defined before. If we introduce eq. (3.30) inside (3.29) and using respectively (3.25) and (3.28), then we get

$$A^{m=0} = \int d^4k \frac{2}{k^2} \left(\tilde{S}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{T}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{S} \tilde{T} \right), \qquad (3.31)$$

$$A^{m\neq0} = \int d^4k \frac{2}{k^2} \left(\tilde{S}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{T}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3} \tilde{S} \tilde{T} \right), \qquad (3.32)$$

where I have used the large momentum approximation $k^2 >> m^2$ and I use the result $k_{\mu}S^{\mu\nu} = 0$, which is a consequence of the energy-momentum conservation expressed in momentum space. Now we can consider two non-relativistic currents with $\tilde{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \propto (\tilde{M}_1, 0, 0, 0)$ and $\tilde{S}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \propto (\tilde{M}_2, 0, 0, 0)$. If we assume that the two sources are separated at a distance smaller than the Compton wavelength, then the amplitude for the exchange of a massive graviton is given by

$$A^{(m\neq0)} = \frac{4}{3}A^{(m=0)} = \frac{4}{3}\int d^4k \frac{\tilde{M}_1\tilde{M}_2}{k^2}.$$
(3.33)

Then even if the graviton mass takes very small values, the amplitude of the massive graviton remains different with respect to the massless one.

3.3 The Stückelberg trick in vectorial theories

There is another way to obtain the vDVZ discontinuity. If we use the Stückelberg trick [46]. First, let's show how the trick works in a vector example. In such a case, the Lagrangian is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}m^2A_{\mu}A^{\mu} + A_{\mu}J^{\mu}.$$
(3.34)

The field equations are

$$\partial_{\gamma} F^{\gamma\sigma} = m^2 A^{\sigma} - J^{\sigma}. \tag{3.35}$$

If we take the divergence of this expression, then we get the constraint

$$\partial_{\gamma}A^{\gamma} = \frac{\partial\gamma J^{\gamma}}{m^2}.$$
(3.36)

If we replace this constraint inside eq. (3.35), then we get

$$(\Box - m^2)A^{\sigma} = -J^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{m^2}\partial^{\sigma}\partial_{\gamma}J^{\gamma}.$$
(3.37)

If we expand the field and the source terms in a Fourier series, then we can compute the propagator. In such a case, the eq. (3.37) becomes

$$\tilde{A}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{k^2 + m^2} \left(\eta_{\mu\gamma} - \frac{1}{m^2} k_{\mu} k_{\gamma} \right) \tilde{J}^{\gamma}.$$
(3.38)

Then it is clear that the propagator is $\tilde{D}_{\mu\gamma} \propto \frac{1}{k^2+m^2} \left(\eta_{\mu\gamma} - \frac{1}{m^2}k_{\mu}k_{\gamma}\right)$ as expected. We can now take the limit $m \to 0$ in the Lagrangian (3.34) and we realize immediately that the limit only exist for a conserved source. There is however a discontinuity when the massless limit is taken because we only have two degrees of freedom instead of three in such a case [43]. We can introduce redundant variables in order to restore the gauge invariance and the continuity in the number of degrees of freedom if we introduce a scalar ϕ by doing the replacement

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\phi. \tag{3.39}$$

Note that the tensor $F_{\mu\nu}$ remains unchanged under this transformation. Then only the mass term changes. We must emphasize that this is not a change of variables nor a gauge transformation (although it looks like one). The new Lagrangian then becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}m^2(A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\phi)^2 + A_{\mu}J^{\mu} - \phi\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu}, \qquad (3.40)$$

where the coupling to the source has been integrated by parts. The new action, has the gauge symmetry

$$\delta_g A_\mu = \partial_\mu \Lambda \quad \delta_g \phi = -\Lambda. \tag{3.41}$$

In the unitary gauge, we have $\phi = 0$. In such a case, we just recover the original action and the field equation for the scalar field ϕ just becomes equivalent to the divergence condition of the field equations corresponding to the vector fields A^{μ} . This can be observed if we compute explicitly the field equations given by

$$(\Box - m^2)A^{\nu} = (-\partial^{\nu}\Box + m^2\partial^{\nu})\phi - J^{\nu} + \frac{1}{m^2}\partial^{\nu}\partial_{\gamma}J^{\gamma}, \qquad (3.42)$$

for the field A^{ν} and

$$\Box \phi = -\partial_{\sigma} A^{\sigma} + \frac{1}{m^2} \partial_{\sigma} J^{\sigma}, \qquad (3.43)$$

for the scalar field ϕ . In the unitary gauge, eq. (3.43) is obtained from the divergence of eq. (3.42). The new Lagrangian (3.40) now has a gauge symmetry. It is however physically equivalent to the action represented by eq. (3.34). We can normalize the action (3.40) by defining $\phi \to m^{-1}\phi$ in order to normalize the kinetic term and then the Lagrangian becomes [43]

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}m^2A_{\mu}A^{\mu} - mA_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi + A_{\mu}J^{\mu} - \frac{1}{m}\phi\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu}, \qquad (3.44)$$

and now the gauge symmetry becomes

$$\delta_g A_\mu = \partial_\mu \Lambda, \qquad \delta_g \phi = -m\Lambda. \tag{3.45}$$

If we consider the limit $m \to 0$, which is valid if the current is conserved; then the Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi + A_{\mu} J^{\mu}, \qquad (3.46)$$

and the gauge symmetry is

$$\delta_g A_\mu = \partial_\mu \Lambda \quad \delta_g \phi = 0. \tag{3.47}$$

In this case, we can see that the massless limit preserves the number of degrees of freedom. Two of the 3 degrees of freedom go to the vector and the remaining one goes to the scalar. As the vector is now decoupled from the scalar, then we have basically two free massless fields, one vectorial and another scalar. The scalar degree of freedom does not disappear because we have re-scaled it as m^{-1} .

3.4 Graviton Stückelberg and origin of the vDVZ discontinuity

The massive Lagrangian of a graviton at the linear level becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0} - \frac{1}{2}m^2(h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu} - h^2) + \kappa h_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.48)$$

which is in agreement with the expression (3.3). If we want to preserve the gauge symmetry $\delta_g h_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu} \zeta_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu} \zeta_{\mu}$, then we introduce the Stückelberg field pattern

$$h_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}.$$
 (3.49)

This redefinition can only change the mass term of the action (3.48). The new action becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0} - \frac{1}{2} m^2 (h_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} - h^2) - \frac{1}{2} m^2 F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - 2m^2 (h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\mu} A^{\nu} - h \partial_{\mu} A^{\mu}) + \kappa h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu} - 2\kappa A_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} T^{\mu\nu},$$
(3.50)

where the definition $F_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ has been introduced. The new action (3.50) is invariant under the following transformation

$$\delta_g h_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu \zeta_\nu + \partial_\nu \zeta_\mu, \qquad \delta_g A_\mu = -\zeta_\mu. \tag{3.51}$$

We can find the field equations from the action (3.50). They are

$$\frac{\delta S}{\delta h^{\mu\nu}} = \Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\nu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h + \eta_{\mu\nu}\left(\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\sigma}h^{\lambda\sigma} - \Box h\right) -m^{2}(h_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}h) - 2m^{2}(\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\gamma}A^{\gamma}) + \kappa T_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (3.52)$$

for the variations with respect to $h_{\mu\nu}$. And

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} + m^2(\partial_{\mu}h^{\mu\nu} - \partial^{\nu}h) = \kappa \partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.53)$$

for the variations with respect to A_{μ} . The gauge $A_{\mu} = 0$ recovers the original action. In such a case, it is easy to verify that eq. (3.53) becomes equivalent to the Bianchi identity obtained from the divergence of eq. (3.52). Following the same procedure as in the vectorial case, we can rescale the field $A_{\mu} \rightarrow m^{-1}A_{\mu}$. In such a case, the action (3.50) becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0} - \frac{1}{2}m^2(h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu} - h^2) - \frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - 2m(h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}A^{\nu} - h\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu}) + \kappa h_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu} - \frac{2\kappa}{m}A_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.54)

In this case, if we take the limit $m \to 0$, then we have a tensor field and a vector field. Both of them are decoupled each other and they represent a massless graviton and a massless photon for a total of 4 degrees of freedom. Then at this point, the massless limit loses one degree of freedom. However, we can introduce a scalar gauge symmetry by introducing another Stückelberg field ϕ

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\phi. \tag{3.55}$$

With this new field, the action (3.50) becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0} - \frac{1}{2}m^2(h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu} - h^2) - \frac{1}{2}m^2F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - 2m^2(h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}A^{\nu} - h\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu}) -2m^2(h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi - h\partial^2\phi) + \kappa h_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu} - 2\kappa A_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu} + 2\kappa\phi\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (3.56)

Now we have two gauge symmetries, given by

$$\delta_g h_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu \zeta_\nu + \partial_\nu \zeta_\mu, \qquad \delta_g A_\mu = -\zeta_\mu. \tag{3.57}$$

$$\delta_g A_\mu = \partial_\mu \Lambda, \qquad \delta_g \phi = -\Lambda. \tag{3.58}$$

If we fix the gauge $\phi = 0$, then we recover the Lagrangian (3.50). The equations of motion in this case become

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\nu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h + \eta_{\mu\nu} \left(\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\sigma}h^{\lambda\sigma} - \Box h\right) -m^{2}(h_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}h) - 2m^{2}(\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\gamma}A^{\gamma}) -m^{2}(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi - \eta_{\mu\nu}\partial^{2}\phi) + \kappa T_{\mu\nu} = 0,$$
(3.59)

for the variation with respect to $h_{\mu\nu}$. The equations corresponding to the variation with respect to A_{μ} are just the same as those obtained in eq. (3.53). On the other hand, the equation related to the variation of the scalar field ϕ is given by

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h^{\mu\nu} - \Box h = \frac{\kappa\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu}}{m^2}.$$
(3.60)

If the source term $T_{\mu\nu}$ is conserved, then the previous expression is equivalent to the vanishing of the Ricci scalar R. If we rescale $A_{\mu} \rightarrow (1/m)A_{\mu}$ and $\phi \rightarrow (1/m^2)\phi$, then the Lagrangian (3.56) becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0} - \frac{1}{2}m^2(h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu} - h^2) - \frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - 2m(h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}A^{\nu} - h\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu}) -2(h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi - h\partial^2\phi) + \kappa h_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu} - \frac{2}{m}\kappa A_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu} + \frac{2}{m^2}\kappa\phi\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu},$$
(3.61)

and the gauge transformations become

$$\delta_g h_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu \zeta_\nu + \partial_\nu \zeta_\mu, \qquad \delta_g A_\mu = -m \zeta_\mu.$$

$$\delta_g A_\mu = \partial_\mu \Lambda, \qquad \delta_g \phi = -m \Lambda.$$
 (3.62)

One factor of m is absorbed inside the gauge parameter Λ . If we assume the source to be conserved and then we take the limit $m \to 0$, then the Lagrangian takes the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - 2(h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi - h\partial^{2}\phi) + \kappa h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.63)

In this limit, we observe that we have 5 degrees of freedom but the scalar is kinematically mixed with the tensor. The vector field is completely decoupled. If we perform a linear conformal transformation by defining

$$h_{\mu\nu} = h'_{\mu\nu} + \phi \eta_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (3.64)

Then the massless graviton Lagrangian in eq. (3.63) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{m=0} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0}(h') + 2\left((\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}h') - (\partial_{\beta}\phi)(\partial_{\mu}h'^{\beta\mu}) + \frac{3}{2}(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\phi)\right).$$
(3.65)

Then the Lagrangian (3.63) is

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{m=0}(h') - \frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - 3(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\phi) + \kappa h'_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu} + \kappa\phi T, \qquad (3.66)$$

and the gauge transformations become

$$\delta_g h'_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu \zeta_\nu + \partial_\nu \zeta_\mu, \qquad \delta_g A_\mu = 0.$$

$$\delta_g A_\mu = \partial_\mu \Lambda, \qquad \delta_g \phi = 0. \tag{3.67}$$

This massless limit is soft in the sense that now we have 5 degrees of freedom, 2 in the massless graviton field, other two in the massless photon field and the remaining one in the massless scalar. Note however that there is a coupling between the scalar component and the tensorial one in the Lagrangian (3.66) even in the massless limit. Although this coupling disappears for the case of photons, it will appear for ordinary matter. This coupling marks the origin of the vDVZ discontinuity. This discontinuity is in fact a pathology due to the linear approach. It is necessary to go to the non-linear level in order to recover the continuity of the theory at the massless limit.

3.4.1 Graviton Stückelberg and the propagating ghost

Starting this chapter I explained that for a massive term given by $-\frac{1}{2}m^2(h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu}-(1-a)h^2)$, there is a ghost for $a \neq 0$. Here I will show that by using the Stückelberg trick, it is possible to derive the reason for the absence of a ghost when a = 0. If we follow the same procedure as in the first part of the chapter, then for the transformation given by eq. (3.49), the massive term defined previously for $a \neq 0$ becomes

$$-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}(h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu}-(1-a)h^{2})-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}-2m^{2}(h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}A^{\nu}-h\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu})-2m^{2}a((\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu})^{2}+h\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu}).$$
(3.68)

If again, we make the transformation suggested in eq. (3.55), then the massive term will contain the following additional terms with respect to the result (3.56)

$$-2m^2a\left((\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu})^2 + 2\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu}\Box\phi + (\Box\phi)^2 + h\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} + h\Box\phi\right).$$
(3.69)

Chapter 4

The non-linear formulation of massive gravity

Based in the arguments of the previous section, it seems that we should reject any theory of massive gravity since it would be in disagreement with solar system observations due to the vDVZ discontinuity [43, 44, 45]. However, Vainshtein realized that non-linearities can restore the continuity of the theory [49]. It was however demonstrated that non-linearities can activate the so-called Boulware-Deser ghost [43, 50]. It took time for this pathology to be solved with the Λ_3 version of massive gravity developed by de-Rham, Gabadadze and Tolley [10, 11] (dRGT). The dRGT theory is ghost-free. The fact that the theory is ghost free, was first analyzed at the decoupling limit [10] and after outside the decoupling limit [11]. The first work demonstrating that the theory is fully ghost-free for any background was performed by Hassan et. al [51]. The generalization of the Fierz-Pauli action to the non-linear case considers the dynamical metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the same kinetic terms of General Relativity. Then the same kinetic part of the action (2.1) remains and we need a mass term |41, 43|. The mass term is not necessarily linear. Of course, we expect that the mass term goes to the Fierz-Pauli one after quadratic expansions around a flat background and working in weak field approximation. In order to get a massive term in a non-linear theory, we have to introduce an auxiliary metric $(f_{\mu\nu})$ [43], otherwise, we would have simply two propagating degrees of freedom. The extra metric is normally taken to be flat (unitary gauge) and nondynamical. With a second metric coming to the scenario, we will have a new term in the action $S_{int}(f, g)$, which represents the interaction of the two metrics. This action is taken such that i). the theory remains covariant under diffeomorphisms (common to the two metrics). ii). The theory has a flat solution of the field equations for $g_{\mu\nu}$. iii). When one expands $g_{\mu\nu}$ to second order around the canonical Minkowski metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ as $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ and additionally, we let the fiducial metric $f_{\mu\nu}$ to take the Minkowskian form (Unitary gauge), then the potential at quadratic order for $h_{\mu\nu}$ takes the Fierz-Pauli form given by eq. (3.3). In principle, there are many possible interaction terms satisfying these conditions. Among the possibilities, we have [27, 52]

$$S_{int} = -\frac{1}{8}m^2 M_{pl}^2 \int d^4x \sqrt{-f} H_{\mu\nu} H_{\sigma\tau} \left(f^{\mu\sigma} f^{\nu\tau} - f^{\mu\nu} f^{\sigma\tau} \right), \qquad (4.1)$$

or equivalently

$$S_{int} = -\frac{1}{8}m^2 M_{pl}^2 \int d^4x \sqrt{-f} H_{\mu\nu} H_{\sigma\tau} \left(g^{\mu\sigma} g^{\nu\tau} - g^{\mu\nu} g^{\sigma\tau} \right), \qquad (4.2)$$

where $H_{\mu\nu}$ is the covariantization of the field $h_{\mu\nu}$ defined previously. This field is defined as $H_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} - f_{\mu\nu}$ [43]. Independent of the explicit form of the interaction term S_{int} , it has the form [53]

$$S_{int} = -\frac{1}{8}m^2 M_{pl}^2 \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} V^{(a)}(g^{-1}f), \qquad (4.3)$$

where $\sqrt{-g}V^{(a)}(g^{-1}f)$ is a suitable "potential" density associated with the scalar function $V^{(a)}$. We can observe that the metrics interact in a non-derivative way and that the theory has to be invariant under diffeomorphism [53]. The diffeomorphism invariance as usual is expressed as transformations acting on the metrics as follows

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu} x^{\prime\sigma}(x) \partial_{\nu} x^{\prime\tau}(x) g^{\prime}_{\sigma\tau}(x^{\prime}(x)), \qquad (4.4)$$

$$f_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu} x^{\prime\sigma}(x) \partial_{\nu} x^{\prime\tau}(x) f_{\sigma\tau}^{\prime}(x^{\prime}(x)).$$
(4.5)

Under these transformations, $V^{(a)}$ transforms as a scalar. When matter is introduced, it is usually assumed to be minimally coupled to the dynamical metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the total action is normally taken as

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{M_{pl}^2}{2}R + L(g)\right) + S_{int}(f,g).$$
(4.6)

The possible non-vanishing cosmological constant is included inside the interaction term $S_{int}(f,g)$. In fact, if there are no interaction terms, the eq. (4.6) just reduces to the Einstein-Hilbert action already shown in eq. (2.1). The decoupling limit for an action of the form (4.6) is in general defined as [10, 11]

$$\mathcal{L} = M_{pl}^2 \sqrt{-g} R - \frac{M_{pl}^2 m^2}{4} \sqrt{-g} \left(U_2(g, H) + U_3(g, H) + U_4(g, H) + U_5(g, H) + \dots \right), \quad (4.7)$$

where the U_i terms denote the interaction at ith order in $H_{\mu\nu}$

$$U_2(g,H) = H^2_{\mu\nu} - H^2, \qquad (4.8)$$

$$U_3(g,H) = c_1 H_{\mu\nu}^3 + c_2 H H_{\mu\nu}^2 + c_3 H^3, \qquad (4.9)$$

30

$$U_4(g,H) = d_1 H^4_{\mu\nu} + d_2 H H^3_{\mu\nu} + d_3 H^2_{\mu\nu} H^2_{\alpha\beta} + d_4 H^2 H^2_{\mu\nu} + d_5 H^4, \qquad (4.10)$$

$$U_5(g,H) = f_1 H_{\mu\nu}^5 + f_2 H H_{\mu\nu}^4 + f_3 H^2 H_{\mu\nu}^3 + f_4 H_{\alpha\beta}^2 H_{\mu\nu}^3 + f_5 H (H_{\mu\nu}^2)^2 + f_6 H^3 H_{\mu\nu}^2 + f_7 H^5, \quad (4.11)$$

where the index contractions are performed using the inverse metric $g^{\mu\nu}$. For example $H = g^{\mu\nu}H_{\mu\nu}$ and $H^2_{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu}g^{\alpha\beta}H_{\mu\alpha}H_{\nu\beta}$ denote traces with respect to the dynamical metric. The coefficients c_i , d_i and f_i are arbitrary but in the ghost-free version of massive gravity, they are selected such that any ghost is absent. In [10], the authors obtained a ghost-free version up to quintic order. In [11], the authors proved that the theory is ghost-free at all orders in the decoupling limit. Finally in [51], the authors proved that the theory is ghost-free even outside the decoupling limit. The tensor $H_{\mu\nu}$ is defined as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{h_{\mu\nu}}{M_{pl}} = H_{\mu\nu} + \eta_{ab}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{a}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{b}, \qquad (4.12)$$

where a, b = 0, 1, 2, 3 and $\eta_{ab} = diag(-1, 1, 1, 1)$. $H_{\mu\nu}$ behaves as a tensor if the fields ϕ^a transform as scalars under a change of coordinates. The definition (4.12) gives the form for the covariantization of the perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$. The purpose is to restore the gauge invariance by introducing redundant variables. If we define

$$\phi^a = (x^\alpha - \pi^\alpha) \delta^a_{\ \alpha},\tag{4.13}$$

then we get

$$H_{\mu\nu} = \frac{h_{\mu\nu}}{M_{pl}} + \partial_{\mu}\pi_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\pi_{\mu} - \eta_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\mu}\pi^{\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\pi^{\beta}.$$
(4.14)

The index for π^{μ} is raised or lowered by using the Minkowskian metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$. If we use the substitution $\pi_{\alpha} = \partial_{\alpha} \pi / \Lambda_3^3$ with the effective field scale Λ_3 , then we get

$$H_{\mu\nu} = \frac{h_{\mu\nu}}{M_{pl}} + \frac{2}{M_{pl}m^2}\Pi_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{M_{pl}^2m^4}\Pi_{\mu\nu}^2, \qquad (4.15)$$

where $\Pi_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\pi$ and $\Pi^2_{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\alpha\beta}\Pi_{\mu\alpha}\Pi_{\beta\nu}$. The traces are defined as $[\Pi^2] = \Pi^{\mu\nu}\Pi_{\mu\nu}$ and $[\Pi]^2 = \Pi^{\mu}{}_{\mu}\Pi^{\nu}{}_{\nu}$. It is possible to define [11]

$$Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu}(g,H) = \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - \sqrt{\delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - H^{\mu}_{\ \nu}}.$$
(4.16)

With this definition, we can demonstrate that

$$Q_{\mu\nu}(g,H)_{h_{\mu\nu}=0} = \frac{\Pi_{\mu\nu}}{M_{pl}m^2}.$$
(4.17)

This is obtained if we take into account that $H_{\mu\nu h=0} = \frac{2}{M_{pl}m^2}\Pi_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{M_{pl}^2m^4}\Pi_{\mu\nu}^2$ from eq. (4.12) and then replacing it inside eq. (4.16). In what follows, we will use square brackets

31

 $[\Pi] = \eta^{\mu\nu}\Pi_{\mu\nu}$ for the traces with respect to the Minkowskian metric. And we will use $\Pi_n = Tr(\Pi^n)$ or $\Pi^n = (Tr(\Pi))^n$ for the traces with respect to the dynamical metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. The consistency of the Fierz-Pauli action term $h^2 - h^2_{\mu\nu}$ is related to the fact that the Lagrangian term

$$\mathcal{L}_{der}^{(2)} = [\Pi]^2 - [\Pi^2], \tag{4.18}$$

is a total derivative. Inside the non-linear formulation of massive gravity, it has been demonstrated that additionally the terms

$$\mathcal{L}_{der}^{(3)} = [\Pi]^3 - 3[\Pi][\Pi^2] + 3[\Pi^3], \qquad (4.19)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{der}^{(4)} = [\Pi]^4 - 6[\Pi^2][\Pi]^2 + 8[\Pi^3][\Pi] + 3[\Pi^2]^2 - 6[\Pi^4], \qquad (4.20)$$

are also total derivatives. The key point of dRGT theory is that the coefficients for the potential terms given from eq. (4.8) until (4.11) are tuned such that the total derivative term interactions defined in eqns. (4.18), (4.19) and (4.20) are obtained [10]. The expansions (4.18) until (4.20) correspond to the interaction terms up to quartic order. It has been demonstrated by de-Rham and Gabadadze [10], that the higher-order combinations satisfy $L^n = 0$ for any $n \ge 5$. After tuning the coefficients of the potential such that the total derivative conditions are satisfied, all the interactions that arise at an energy scale lower than Λ_3 disappear. As a consequence of this, the decoupling limit in this theory is considered as

$$m \to 0, \quad M_{pl} \to \infty, \quad with \quad \Lambda_3 \equiv (m^2 M_{pl})^{1/3} \quad fixed.$$
 (4.21)

In [10], the coefficients for the potential were selected such that the previous conditions are satisfied up to quintic order. If we want to ensure that no ghost appears outside the decoupling limit, then it is possible to extend the second and higher order terms (4.18), (4.19) and (4.20) away from the condition $h_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow 0$ [11]. This is equivalent to replace the terms Π by the corresponding Q terms defined previously in eq. (4.16). Then the action becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{M_{pl}^2}{2} \sqrt{-g} \left(R + m^2 U(g, H) \right), \qquad (4.22)$$

where the potential terms for U(g, H) will be defined in the next section inside the Λ_3 version of massive gravity.

4.1 Formulation of the dRGT

In the standard formalism of the dRGT theory, the action is given by [10, 11]

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} (R + m^2 U(g, \phi)), \qquad (4.23)$$

with the effective potential depending on two free parameters as

$$U(g,\phi) = U_2 + \alpha_3 U_3 + \alpha_4 U_4, \tag{4.24}$$

where

$$U_2 = Q^2 - Q_2, (4.25)$$

33

$$U_3 = Q^3 - 3QQ_2 + 2Q_3, (4.26)$$

$$U_4 = Q^4 - 6Q^2Q_2 + 8QQ_3 + 3Q_2^2 - 6Q_4, (4.27)$$

$$Q = Q_1, \qquad Q_n = Tr(Q^n)^{\mu}{}_{\nu},$$
(4.28)

$$Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - M^{\mu}_{\ \nu}, \tag{4.29}$$

$$(M^2)^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = g^{\mu\alpha} f_{\alpha\nu}, \tag{4.30}$$

$$f_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{ab} \partial_{\mu} \phi^a \partial_{\nu} \phi^b. \tag{4.31}$$

We can the compute the field equations as follows

$$G_{\mu\nu} = -m^2 X_{\mu\nu}, (4.32)$$

where

$$X_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\delta U}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} - \frac{1}{2} U g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(4.33)

Here $f_{\mu\nu}$ is the fiducial metric and Q is the trace of the matrix $Q^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ with respect to the dynamical metric. The potential (U) defined above is unique. It is impossible to add polynomial terms without introducing a ghost [10, 11]. If we want to prove that eq. (4.32) is consistent with the definition of the tensor $X_{\mu\nu}$ as given in eq. (4.33); we have to demonstrate that $X_{\mu\nu}$ is symmetric and divergence-free. The first requirement is automatically satisfied because $Q_{\mu\nu}$ is a symmetric tensor. In contrast, the second requirement leads to constraints on $g_{\mu\nu}$ and /or ϕ^a . To see this, we use the diffeomorphism invariance of the mass terms of the action

$$\int d^4x' \sqrt{-g'} U(g', \phi') = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} U(g, \phi).$$
(4.34)

For an infinitesimal coordinate transformation

$$\delta x = \zeta^{\mu}, \quad \delta g_{\mu\nu} = -2\nabla_{(\mu}\zeta_{\nu)}, \quad \delta \phi = -\zeta^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi, \tag{4.35}$$

this equation leads to
$$0 = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(-m^2 \nabla_{\nu} X^{\mu\nu} \zeta_{\mu} - \frac{\delta U}{\delta \phi} \nabla_{\mu} \phi \zeta^{\mu} \right).$$
(4.36)

Hence we obtain

$$m^{2}\nabla_{\nu}X^{\nu}{}_{\mu} = -\partial_{\mu}\phi^{a}\frac{\delta U}{\delta\phi^{a}} = \partial_{\mu}\phi^{a}\nabla_{\nu}\left(\frac{\delta U}{\partial(\partial_{\nu}\phi^{a})}\right).$$
(4.37)

If the field equations (4.32) holds, then the left-hand side of this equation should vanish due to the Bianchi identity. Because $\partial_{\mu}\phi^a$ is regular matrix, this constraint is equivalent to the Euler equation for the Stückelberg field

$$\nabla_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial U}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi^a)} \right) = 0. \tag{4.38}$$

4.2 The Schwarzschild-de Sitter solution in Einstein gravity

The Schwarzschild-de Sitter solution in Einstein gravity corresponds to the vacuum solutions for the field equations given in (2.3). The solution in static coordinates is given by a metric of the form [54]

$$ds^{2} = -V(r)dt^{2} + V(r)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2}, \qquad (4.39)$$

where

$$V(r) = 1 - \frac{r_s}{r} - \frac{1}{3}\frac{r^2}{r_{\Lambda}^2}, \quad r_s = 2G_N M, \quad r_{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}.$$
(4.40)

The event horizons for this metric can be calculated by using the standard condition [1]

$$g^{rr}(r_c) = 0. (4.41)$$

After solving this equation, the two event horizons are given by [54]

$$r_{CH} = -2r_{\Lambda}cos\left(\frac{1}{3}\left(cos^{-1}\left(\frac{3r_s}{2r_{\Lambda}}\right) + 2\pi\right)\right),$$

$$r_{BH} = -2r_{\Lambda}cos\left(\frac{1}{3}\left(cos^{-1}\left(\frac{3r_s}{2r_{\Lambda}}\right) + 4\pi\right)\right),$$
(4.42)

where r_{CH} corresponds to the cosmological horizon and r_{BH} corresponds to the black hole event horizon. The equations (4.42) show that the maximum mass for a black hole in an universe with a positive cosmological constant Λ is given by

$$M_{max} = \frac{1}{3} \frac{m_{pl}^2}{m_A},$$
(4.43)

where m_{pl} corresponds to the Planck mass and $m_{\Lambda} = \sqrt{\Lambda}$. If the mass of a black hole is larger than the value (4.43), then there is no radiation process at all and we only have a naked singularity. M_{max} is however of the order of magnitude of the mass of the universe if we take the observed value for Λ [55]. As $M = M_{max}$, the two event horizons take the same value $\left(r_{BH} = r_{CH} = r_{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\right)$, they are degenerate and there is no net radiation due to the thermodynamic equilibrium established. For degenerate horizons, the Schwarzschild-like coordinates given by the expression (4.39) and (4.40) are not valid anymore [56, 57]. As Bousso and Hawking have explained before [56, 57], as $M \to M_{max}$, then $V(r) \to 0$ between the two horizons (BH and Cosmological). In such a case we need a new coordinate system. In agreement with Ginsparg and Perry [58], we can write

$$9G^2M^2\Lambda = 1 - 3\epsilon^2, \quad 0 \le \epsilon \ll 1, \tag{4.44}$$

where the degenerate case (where the two horizons become the same) corresponds to $\epsilon \to 0$. We must then define the new radial and the new time coordinates to be

$$t = \frac{1}{\epsilon \sqrt{\Lambda}} \psi, \quad r = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda}} \left(1 - \epsilon \cos \chi - \frac{1}{6} \epsilon^2 \right).$$
(4.45)

In these coordinates, the black hole horizon corresponds to $\chi = 0$ and the cosmological horizon to $\chi = \pi$ [56, 57]. The metric then becomes

$$ds^{2} = -r_{\Lambda}^{2} \left(1 + \frac{2}{3}\epsilon\cos\chi\right)\sin^{2}\chi d\psi^{2} + r_{\Lambda}^{2} \left(1 - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon\cos\chi\right)d\chi^{2} + r_{\Lambda}^{2} (1 - 2\epsilon\cos\chi)d\Omega_{2}^{2}.$$
 (4.46)

This metric has been expanded up to first order in ϵ . Eq. (4.46) is of course the appropriate metric to be used as the mass of the black hole is near to its maximum value given by (4.43). The result (4.46) is obtained after doing the transformations for the metric in the form

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial x^a}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial x^b}{\partial x^{\nu}} g_{ab}.$$
(4.47)

It is easy to verify that the previous result is reproduced after introducing the coordinates (4.45) and taking the positive root in eq. (4.44). The negative root of eq. (4.44) is unphysical and then ignored.

4.3 The Schwarzschild de-Sitter (SdS) solution in dRGT theory

If we want the SdS solution to be a solution for the field equations in massive gravity, the tensor $X_{\mu\nu}$ should be a constant multiple of $g_{\mu\nu}$ and given by [17]

$$m^2 X_{\mu\nu} = \Lambda g_{\mu\nu}, \tag{4.48}$$

with $X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ given by

$$g^{\mu\alpha}X_{\alpha\nu} = -Q - \frac{1}{2}(Q^2 - Q_2) + (1+Q)Q^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - (Q^2)^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \frac{\alpha_3}{2}\{3(Q_2 - Q^2) - Q^3 + 3QQ_2 - 2Q_3 + 3(2Q + Q^2 - Q_2)Q^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - 6(1+Q)(Q^2)^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + 6(Q^3)^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\} + \alpha_4\{-2Q^3 + 6QQ_2 - 4Q_3 + 6(Q^2 - Q_2)Q^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - 12Q(Q^2)^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + 12(Q^3)^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\}.$$
 (4.49)

If the field equations satisfy the condition (4.48), then we have a set of solutions for the Einstein equations with Λ . The different solutions are not however necessarily equivalent even if they are connected by diffeomorphism transformation. This is due to the fact that the Stückelberg fields are not necessarily related by the same transformation. Later in this document we will see that this apparently harmless issue, becomes highly pathological for the black hole physics in this formulation. In agreement with the definition (4.33). If the parameters satisfy

$$12\alpha_4 = 1 + 3\alpha_3 + 9\alpha_3^2, \tag{4.50}$$

then any metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = g_{tt}dt^{2} + 2g_{tr}dtdr + g_{rr}dr^{2} + r^{2}S_{0}^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2},$$
(4.51)

will satisfy the condition (4.48) with

$$S_0 = \frac{3\alpha_3 + 1}{3\alpha_3 + 2}.\tag{4.52}$$

Note that $S_0 \neq 1$ for any value of the parameter α_3 , this means that the cosmological constant defined in unitary gauge and given by

$$\Lambda = m^2 \frac{1 - S_0}{S_0} = \frac{m^2}{3\alpha_3 + 1},\tag{4.53}$$

is different from zero. Although in principle the metric is arbitrary, it can be translated to the standard S-dS form after some coordinate (gauge) transformations. If we work in unitary gauge, all the degrees of freedom will be inside the dynamical metric. The Stückelberg fields ϕ^a are given by

$$\phi^0 = t, \quad \phi^1 = x = r \cos \theta, \quad \phi^2 = y = r \sin \theta \cos \phi, \quad \phi^3 = z = r \sin \theta \sin \phi.$$
 (4.54)

In this gauge, the fiducial metric $f_{\mu\nu}$ is

$$f_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -dt^2 + dr^2 + r^2(d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta \, d\phi^2). \tag{4.55}$$

Hence, for the metric (4.51), the matrix M^2 defined in (4.30), is given by

$$(M^2) = (g^* f_*) = \begin{pmatrix} -g^{tt} & g^{tr} & 0 & 0\\ -g^{tr} & g^{rr} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{S^2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{S^2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.56)

We define the root square of this matrix by using the expression (4.29) and defining [59]

$$Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \begin{pmatrix} a & c & 0 & 0 \\ -c & b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 - \frac{1}{S} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 - \frac{1}{S} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.57)

Here

$$1 - a = \frac{1}{M_1} (-g^{tt} + (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2}), \qquad (4.58)$$

$$c = -\frac{g^{tr}}{M_1},\tag{4.59}$$

$$1 - b = \frac{1}{M_1} (g^{rr} + (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2}), \qquad (4.60)$$

$$M_1 = (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2} \left(-g_{tt} + g_{rr} + 2(-g_{(2)})^{1/2} \right)^{1/2}, \qquad (4.61)$$

$$g_{(2)} = g_{tt} - g_{tr}^2. aga{4.62}$$

In terms of $M_{\mu\nu}$, we get

$$M_{tt} = \frac{1}{M_1} (-1 + g_{tt} (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2}), \qquad (4.63)$$

$$M_{tr} = \frac{(-g_{(2)})^{-1/2}}{M_1} g_{tr}, \qquad (4.64)$$

$$M_{rr} = \frac{1}{M_1} (1 + g_{rr} (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2}), \qquad (4.65)$$

$$M_{ij} = \frac{1}{S}g_{ij}.\tag{4.66}$$

We can also express $g_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of the components of $Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ as follows

$$g_{tt} = -\frac{(1-b)^2 - c^2}{[(1-a)(1-b) + c^2]^2},$$
(4.67)

$$g_{rr} = \frac{(1-a)^2 - c^2}{[(1-a)(1-b) + c^2]^2},$$
(4.68)

$$g_{tr} = -\frac{c(2-a-b)}{[(1-a)(1-b)+c^2]^2},$$
(4.69)

$$g_{\theta\theta} = r^2 S^2, \tag{4.70}$$

$$g_{\phi\phi} = r^2 S^2 \sin^2\theta, \tag{4.71}$$

$$(-g_{(2)})^{-1/2} = c^2 + (1-a)(1-b).$$
(4.72)

If we introduce the definition of Q^{μ}_{ν} given by eq. (4.57) inside eq. (4.49), we obtain

$$X_{t}^{t} = -bF_{3} - (F_{1} + 1)\frac{(S - 1)}{S}, \qquad (4.73)$$

$$X^t_{\ r} = cF_3, \tag{4.74}$$

$$X^{t}_{\ t} - X^{r}_{\ r} = (a-b)F_{3}, \tag{4.75}$$

$$X_{t}^{t} - X_{\theta}^{\theta} = F_{1}\left(a - 1 + \frac{1}{S}\right) + F_{2}\left(ab + c^{2} - b\frac{(S - 1)}{S}\right),$$
(4.76)

where we define

$$F_1 = 3\alpha_3 + 2 - \frac{(1+3\alpha_3)}{S},\tag{4.77}$$

$$F_2 = 1 + 6\alpha_3 + 12\alpha_4 - \frac{3(4\alpha_4 + \alpha_3)}{S}, \qquad (4.78)$$

$$F_3 = F_1 + \frac{(S-1)}{S}F_2. \tag{4.79}$$

If the following conditions are satisfied

$$F_1 = F_2 = 0, \quad S = \frac{3\alpha_3 + 1}{3\alpha_3 + 2}, \quad 12\alpha_4 = 1 + 3\alpha_3 + 9\alpha_3^2.$$
 (4.80)

Then the conditions (4.50) and (4.52) are satisfied. As a consequence, $X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ becomes multiple of the unit matrix

$$X^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \frac{1-S}{S} \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu}.$$
 (4.81)

This is true independent of the form of a(t, r), b(t, r) or c(t, r) and as a consequence of the background metric. If we require the metric (4.51) to be a solution of the field equations (4.32) with (4.50), owing to the Birkhoff theorem for the Einstein vacuum system, it must be

isomorphic to the Schwarzschild-de Sitter solution in the standard form for which $q_{tt} = -f(r)$, $g_{tr} = 0$ and $g_{rr} = 1/f(r)$ with $f(r) = 1 - 2M/r - \Lambda r^2/3$. The above result means that g_{tt} , g_{tr} and g_{rr} obtained from this standard form by arbitrary change of time coordinate $t \to T(t,r)$ also satisfies the field equations (4.32). Because we have already fixed the spacetime coordinates by the unitary gauge condition (4.54), these solutions obtained from the standard form by fixing the Stückelberg fields and applying the coordinate transformation only to the metric should be regarded to be inequivalent mutually [59]. In appendix (C), we exhaust all the other possible solutions as follows. The solution with a flat metric. The metric form should be that of (C.3) with S given by one of the values in (C.4). No constraint on the parameters α and β is required. Solution SdS-I: The Schwarzschild-de Sitter type solution discussed in this section. The cosmological constant is given by $\Lambda = m^2/\alpha$, and the metric is given by (C.9) with $S = \alpha/(1+\alpha)$. The parameters are constrained as $\beta = \alpha^2$, but the function $T_0(t,r)$ can be arbitrary. Solution SdS-II: The Schwarzschild-de Sitter type solution whose metric is given by (C.9) with constant S given by (C.13) and the cosmological constant (C.14). The parameters α and β are weakly constrained as $\beta < \alpha^2$, but the function T_0 is constrained to those satisfying (C.12). In the unitary gauge, if we introduce all the degrees of freedom inside the dynamical metric, the Schwarzschild de-Sitter (SdS-I) metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = -\mu^{2} f(Sr) dt^{2} - 2\mu h'(r) f(Sr) dt dr + \frac{S^{2} - (h'(r))^{2} f^{2}(Sr)}{f(Sr)} dr^{2} + S^{2} r^{2} d\Omega_{2}^{2}.$$
 (4.82)

This metric corresponds to the rescaling $r \to Sr$ with a constant S and introducing the coordinate transformation

$$t \to \mu t + h(r), \tag{4.83}$$

inside a metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = -f(r)dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{f(r)} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2}.$$
(4.84)

From the metric (4.82) and the metric components defined previously in (4.67), (4.68) and (4.69), together with the determinant condition (4.72), we get

$$c^{2} + (1-a)(1-b) = \frac{1}{\mu S},$$
(4.85)

$$(1-b)^2 - c^2 = -\frac{1}{S^2} f(Sr), \qquad (4.86)$$

$$(1-a)^2 - c^2 = \frac{S^2 - (h')^2 f(Sr)}{\mu^2 S^2},$$
(4.87)

$$c(2-a-b) = \frac{h'(r)f(Sr)}{\mu S^2}.$$
(4.88)

From these equations, we can observe that only the condition (4.85) is invariant under coordinate transformations. It corresponds to the determinant of the matrix $M^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = (1-Q)^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ in agreement with the result (4.57).

4.4 Gauge invariant formulation for Black Hole perturbations

In this section we introduce some notions for working with the gauge invariant perturbation approach as has been formulated previously in [60, 61]. We start from a background metric given by

$$ds^{2} = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = g_{ab}(y)dy^{a}dy^{b} + r^{2}(y)d\sigma_{n}^{2}, \qquad (4.89)$$

where g_{ab} is the metric of a two-dimensional spacetime D^2 and

$$d\sigma_n^2 = \gamma_{ij} dx^i dx^j, \tag{4.90}$$

is the metric with a constant sectional curvature K on a unit two-sphere S^2 . The internal metric γ_{ij} in S^2 is proportional to the i - j components of the Ricci tensor

$$\hat{R}_{ij} = (n-1)K\gamma_{ij},\tag{4.91}$$

for some constant K. If S^2 is maximally symmetric, then the constant K corresponds to the sectional curvature of S^2 and we can normalize $K = 0, \pm 1$. In general, we assume that S^2 is complete since it describes the cross section of the event horizon. Here I will take K = 1 and n = 2. We denote the covariant derivative, the connection coefficients, and the curvature tensors for the different spaces as follows

$$\nabla_{\mu}, \quad \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\lambda}, \quad R_{\mu\nu\lambda\beta}, \tag{4.92}$$

for the four-dimensional spacetime (whole),

$$D_a, \quad {}^m\Gamma^a_{bc}, \quad {}^mR_{abcd}, \tag{4.93}$$

for the subspace with metric g_{ab} . And finally

$$\hat{D}_i, \quad \hat{\Gamma}^i_{jk}, \quad \hat{R}_{ijkl} = K(\gamma_{ik}\gamma_{jl} - \gamma_{il}\gamma_{jk}),$$

$$(4.94)$$

for the bi-dimensional subspace with internal metric γ_{ij} . The geometric structure of the background, requires a background energy-momentum tensor given by

$$T_{ab} = T_{ab}(y), \quad T_{ai} = 0, \quad T^{i}{}_{j} = P\delta^{i}{}_{j}.$$
 (4.95)

Here P is a scalar field on D^2 . In this manuscript, we will be working with a static background metric.

4.4.1 Tensorial decomposition of perturbations

We classify the perturbation variables into three different types according to their tensorial behavior on the subspace S^2 in such a way that the different type of perturbations get decoupled. After we can introduce the harmonic tensors on S^2 such that each type of Einstein equations reduce to a set of equations for the subspace D^2 . The perturbation variables can be classified in agreement with the decomposition theorems as follows:

i). If (S^2, γ_{ij}) is a compact Riemannian manifold. Then any dual vector field on S^2 can be uniquely decomposed as

$$v_i = V_i + \hat{D}_i S,\tag{4.96}$$

where $\hat{D}^i V_i = 0$. Here V_i and S are respectively, the vector and scalar-type components of the dual vector v_i .

ii). For a compact Riemannian Einstein space (S^2, γ_{ij}) with curvature tensor $\hat{R}_{ij} = c\gamma_{ij}$ for some constant c. Any second rank symmetric tensor t_{ij} can be uniquely decomposed as

$$t_{ij} = 2\hat{D}_{(i}t_{j)}^{(1)} + t_L\gamma_{ij} + \hat{L}_{ij}t_T, \qquad (4.97)$$

$$\hat{L}_{ij} := \hat{D}_i \hat{D}_j - \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{ij} \hat{\Delta}, \qquad (4.98)$$

where $\hat{D}^{i}t_{i}^{(1)} = 0$ and $t_{L} = t_{m}^{m}/n$ and $\hat{\Delta}$ is the Laplace-Beltrami operator. We refer to $t_{i}^{(1)}$ and (t_{T}, t_{L}) as the vector and scalar-type components for t_{ij} respectively. If we consider perturbations $h_{\mu\nu}$ over the full-spacetime with metric $g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$, then we can decompose the perturbation as

$$h_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = h_{ab}dy^{a}dy^{b} + 2h_{ai}dy^{a}dz^{i} + h_{ij}dz^{i}dz^{j}.$$
(4.99)

Here the components h_{ab} are purely scalar with respect to transformations over S^2 . If we apply the decomposition theorems (i) and (ii) explained above over the vectorial h_{ai} and tensorial components h_{ij} , then we get

$$h_{ai} = \hat{D}_i h_a + h_{ai}^{(1)}, \tag{4.100}$$

$$h_{ij} = 2\hat{D}_{(i}h_{j)}^{(1)} + h_L\gamma_{ij} + \hat{L}_{ij}h_T^{(0)}, \qquad (4.101)$$

where,

$$\hat{D}^{i}h_{ai}^{(1)} = 0, \qquad \hat{D}^{i}h_{T}^{(1)}{}_{i} = 0.$$
 (4.102)

The vector part of $h_{\mu\nu}$ is $(h_{ai}^{(1)}, h_T^{(1)})$, and the scalar part consists of $(h_{ab}, h_a, h_L, h_T^{(0)})$. Note that it is possible to add an arbitrary function of y to h_a in eq. (4.100). This corresponds to the exceptional mode l = 0 (S-mode) in the harmonic expansion to be explained later. In eq. (4.101), $h_T^{(0)}$ is uniquely determined up to functions belonging to the Kernel of the

operator \hat{L}_{ij} , which consists of the S-mode (l = 0) and the l = 1 modes in the harmonic expansion. Similarly, $h_{Ti}^{(1)}$ is unique up to a combination of the Killing vector of S^2 with arbitrary functions of y as coefficients. This corresponds to the exceptional mode with l = 1in the harmonic expansion. These exceptional modes are spurious as the S-mode for h_a and should be discarded in physical arguments. With this understanding, the scalar components (h_{ab}, h_a, h_L, h_T) of the metric perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$ describe the scalar perturbation, and the vector components $(h_{ai}^{(1)}, h_{Ti}^{(1)})$ describe the vector perturbation. In a similar way, we can decompose the energy-momentum perturbations as follows

$$\delta T^a_{\ i} = \hat{D}_i \delta T^a + \delta T^{a(1)}_{\ i}, \tag{4.103}$$

$$\delta T^i_{\ j} = \delta T^{(1)i}_{\ j} + \delta P \delta_{ij} + \hat{L}_{ij} \delta T^{(0)}_T, \qquad (4.104)$$

with $\hat{D}^i \delta T_{ai}^{(1)} = 0 = \hat{D}^i \delta T_T^{(1)}$. Hence, the scalar and vector components of the perturbation of the energy-momentum tensor consist of $(\delta T_{ab}, \delta T^a, \delta P, \delta T_T^{(0)})$ and $(\delta T_i^{(1)a}, \delta T_j^{(1)i})$, respectively. There exist spurious exceptional modes in δT^a and $\delta T_T^{(0)}$ as in the metric perturbation decomposition.

4.4.2 Gauge invariant variables

The Einstein equations are invariant under the gauge transformation generated by an (infinitesimal) vector field ζ^M . After performing a gauge transformation, the perturbation variable $h_{\mu\nu}$ and its transform $h_{\mu\nu} - \pounds_{\zeta} g_{\mu\nu}$, both represent the same physical situation. Then we have an ambigüity since there are infinite perturbation variables representing the same. If we want to remove the redundancy, we can construct a gauge-invariant set of variables and then use them as a basis for the perturbation equations. This automatically extract the physical degrees of freedom related to the perturbations.

First, let's write the gauge transformations for the components of $h_{\mu\nu}$ as follows

$$h_{ab} \to h_{ab} - D_a \zeta_b - D_b \zeta_a, \tag{4.105}$$

$$h_{ai} \to h_{ai} - r^2 D_a \left(\frac{\zeta_i}{r^2}\right) - \hat{D}_i \zeta_a,$$

$$(4.106)$$

$$h_{ij} \to h_{ij} - 2\hat{D}_{(i}\zeta_{j)} - 2r(D^a r)\zeta_a \gamma_{ij}.$$
(4.107)

In a similar way, the gauge transformations for the perturbation of the energy-momentum tensor components become

$$\delta T_{ab} \to \delta T_{ab} - \zeta^c D_c T_{ab} - T_{ac} D_b \zeta^c - T_{bc} D_a \zeta^c, \qquad (4.108)$$

$$\delta T_{ai} \to \delta T_{ai} - T_{ab} \hat{D}_i \zeta^b - r^2 P D_a(\zeta_i/r^2), \qquad (4.109)$$

$$\delta T_{ij} \to \delta T_{ij} - \zeta^a D_a(r^2 P) \gamma_{ij} - P(\hat{D}_i \zeta_j + \hat{D}_j \zeta_i).$$
(4.110)

From the decomposition theorem, the generators ζ^M are separated into vector and scalar components as

$$\zeta_a = T_a, \qquad \zeta_i = V_i + \tilde{D}_i S, \tag{4.111}$$

43

where $\gamma^{ij}\hat{D}_iV_j = 0$. For vector perturbations, the gauge transformation of the metric perturbation is given as

$$h_{ai}^{(1)} \to h_{ai}^{(1)} - r^2 D_a \left(\frac{V_i}{r^2}\right),$$
(4.112)

$$h_{Ti}^{(1)} \to h_{Ti}^{(1)} - V_i.$$
 (4.113)

Then we can define the gauge invariant basis

$$F_{ai}^{(1)} = h_{ai}^{(1)} - r^2 D_a \left(\frac{h_{Ti}^{(1)}}{r^2}\right).$$
(4.114)

In a similar way, we can define gauge invariant variables for the gauge transformations of the components of the energy-momentum tensor

$$\tau_i^{(1)a} := \delta T_i^{(1)a}, \tag{4.115}$$

$$\tau_{j}^{i(1)} := \delta T_{j}^{(1)i}. \tag{4.116}$$

Then any vector invariant variable can be expressed as a linear combination of $(F_{ai}^{(1)}, \tau_{ai}^{(1)}, \tau_{ij}^{(1)})$ and their derivatives. Then we can define the perturbations $(h_{ai}^{(1)}, \delta T_{ai}^{(1)}, \delta T_{Tj}^{(1)})$ in terms of the above defined invariants and $h_{Ti}^{(1)}$. Under gauge transformations, $h_{Ti}^{(1)}$ just transforms like ζ_i , then if we define this variable in terms of the invariant basis, we are automatically specifying the gauge. For scalar perturbations, the gauge transformation law is given by

$$h_{ab} \to h_{ab} - 2D_{(a}T_{b)}, \tag{4.117}$$

$$h_a \to h_a - T_a - r^2 D_a \left(\frac{S}{r^2}\right),$$

$$(4.118)$$

$$h_L \to h_L - 2r(D^a r)T_a - \hat{\Delta}S,$$
 (4.119)

$$h_T \to h_T - 2S. \tag{4.120}$$

We can define $X_M = (X_a, X_i = \hat{D}_i X_L)$ as

$$X_a := -h_a + \frac{r^2}{2} D_a \left(\frac{h_T}{r^2}\right), \quad X_L := -\frac{h_T}{2}, \tag{4.121}$$

and X_M just transforms like $X_M \to X_M + \zeta_M$, and then

$$(X_a, X_L) \to (X_a + T_a, X_L + S).$$
 (4.122)

We can now define the following set of gauge invariant variables

$$F_{ab}^{(0)} = h_{ab} + 2D_{(a}X_{b)}, (4.123)$$

$$F^{(0)} = h_L + 2r(D^a r)X_a + \hat{\Delta}X_L.$$
(4.124)

For the exceptional modes, these are not gauge invariants. For the case of matter perturbations, we have

$$\Sigma_{ab}^{(0)} := \delta T_{ab} + X^c D_c T_{ab} + T_{ac} D_b X^c + T_{bc} D_a X^c, \qquad (4.125)$$

$$\Sigma_i^{a(0)} := \hat{D}_i \delta T^a + T^a_{\ b} \hat{D}_i X^b - P \hat{D}_i X^a, \qquad (4.126)$$

$$\Sigma_L^{(0)} := \delta P + X^a D_a P, \qquad (4.127)$$

$$\Pi^{(0)} = \delta T_T^{(0)}. \tag{4.128}$$

For the exceptional modes, all or some of these variables are not gauge invariants. Further, for the S-modes, $\Sigma_{ai}^{(0)}$ and $\Pi_{ij}^{(0)}$ do not exist, and for the exceptional modes with l = 1, $\Pi_{ij}^{(0)}$ does not exist. As in the case of metric perturbations, any scalar gauge invariant can be expressed as a combination of the variables $(F_{ab}^{(0)}, F^{(0)}, \Sigma_{ab}^{(0)}, \Sigma_{ai}^{(0)}, \Sigma_{ai}^{(0)}, \Pi_{ij}^{(0)})$ and their derivatives. In general, we can express the metric and matter perturbations in terms of the above set of gauge invariants and in terms of X_M . Writing X_M in terms of the gauge invariant variables is equivalent to fixing gauge. In the next sections we will use the gauge invariant approach explained here by expanding the corresponding variables in terms of Harmonic tensors as it is explained in [60, 61].

4.4.3 Harmonic expansions

In practical arguments, it is often more convenient to use the harmonic expansions for perturbation variables and their gauge-invariant combinations. We also use it in the subsequent sections. Here we give some expressions for scalar and vector harmonic expansions relevant to the analysis in our paper, but more details can be found in [60, 61]. First, in order to expand vector perturbations, we use the irreducible harmonic vectors defined by the eigenvalue problem

$$\hat{\Delta}V_i = -k_v^2 V_i, \quad \hat{D}_i V^i = 0.$$
 (4.129)

For S^2 , the eigenvalue k_v^2 is given by

$$k_v^2 = l(l+1) - 1, \quad l = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (4.130)

Note that V_i is proportional to $\epsilon_{ij}\hat{D}^jS$ where S is some scalar harmonics with the same l. The lowest mode with l = 1 is exceptional because it can be shown to be a Killing vector field on S^2 and satisfies

$$V_{ij} := -\frac{1}{k_v} \hat{D}_{(i} V_{j)} = 0.$$
(4.131)

The basic variables for vector perturbations can be expanded in terms of the vector-type harmonic basis as

$$h_{ai}^{(1)} = r f_a V_i, \qquad h_{Ti}^{(1)} = -\frac{r^2}{k_v} H_T V_i,$$
(4.132)

and correspondingly, the gauge-invariant variables are expanded as

$$F_{ai}^{(1)} = rF_a V_i, \quad \tau_i^{(1)a} = r\tau^a V_i, \quad \tau_j^{(1)i} = \tau_T V_j^i, \quad (4.133)$$

for the case of generic modes satisfying $m_V := k_v^2 - 1 = (l+2)(l-1) > 0$, where the indices of the harmonic tensors are lowered and raised by γ_{ij} . Here and in the following, we omit the index for the harmonic basis and the corresponding summation symbols for simplicity. For the exceptional modes with $m_V = 0$, i.e. l = 1, there is only one gauge-invariant

$$F_{ab\,i}^{(1)} = rF_{ab}^{(1)}V_i, \qquad F_{ab}^{(1)} = rD_a\left(\frac{F_b}{r}\right) - rD_b\left(\frac{F_a}{r}\right). \tag{4.134}$$

For scalar perturbations, we use a basis for the scalar harmonic functions satisfying the eigenvalue problem

$$\hat{\Delta}S = -k_s^2 S, \quad k_s^2 = l(l+1), l = 0, 1, 2, ...,$$
(4.135)

and the associated vector and tensors defined by

$$S_i = -\frac{1}{k_s}\hat{D}_i S, \quad S_{ij} = \frac{1}{k_s^2}\hat{L}_{ij}S.$$
 (4.136)

In terms of these harmonic tensors, the perturbation variables for scalar perturbations can be expanded as

$$h_{ab} = f_{ab}S, \quad h_a = -\frac{r}{k_s}f_aS,$$

$$h_L = 2r^2 H_LS, \quad h_T = 2\frac{r^2}{k_s^2}H_TS,$$

$$\delta T_{ab} = \tau_{ab}S, \quad \delta T^a = -\frac{r}{k_s}\tau^aS,$$

$$\delta P = \tau_LS, \quad \delta T_T^{(0)} = \frac{r^2}{k_s^2}\tau_TS,$$
(4.137)

and the corresponding gauge-invariant variables are

$$F_{ab}^{(0)} = F_{ab}S, \quad F^{(0)} = 2r^2 FS,$$

$$\Sigma_{ab}^{(0)} = \Sigma_{ab}S, \quad \Sigma_i^{(0)a} = r\Sigma^a S_i,$$

$$\Sigma_L^{(0)} = \Sigma_L S, \quad \Pi^{(0)} = \frac{r^2}{k_c^2} \tau_T S.$$
(4.138)

For exceptional modes; τ_T does not exist for the l = 0 and l = 1 modes, and Σ_a does not exist for the l = 0 modes.

4.5 Perturbation analysis in the dRGT formalism

4.5.1 Background

The perturbation analysis inside the bimetric formalism revealed that the black hole reproduces the Gregory-Laflamme instability under spherical perturbations [13, 14, 62], the exception is the case where the mass of the graviton (in the massive metric) takes some specific value in relation to Λ (Partially massless gravity regime). However, it has been recently confirmed that the black holes are stable when the fiducial metric takes the Minkowskian form even inside the bi-metric formulation [63]. This result is clearly inspired in the original derivation [59], where the authors followed the standard formulation for the non-linear massive gravity theory with only one dynamical metric. It is possible to keep the gravitational degrees of freedom inside the dynamical metric instead of distributing them between the dynamical metric and the Stückelberg fields as has been done in [17]. This means that basically we will work in the unitary gauge. In the unitary gauge, the fiducial metric takes the form (4.55). The dynamical spherically symmetric metric defined in eq. (4.82), is equivalent to

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -f(S_0r)(\partial_t h(r,t)dt + \partial_r h(r,t)dr)^2 + \frac{S_0^2}{f(S_0r)}dr^2 + S_0^2r^2d\Omega_2^2, \qquad (4.139)$$

where in this case we have a gauge function h(r, t) depending on both, t and r and $\mu = 1$ without loss of generality. The coordinate transformation (4.83) in this case is extended to

$$dt \to \partial_t h(t, r)dt + \partial_r h(r, t)dr \quad dr \to S_0 dr.$$
 (4.140)

If $f(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} - \frac{1}{3}\Lambda r^2$, then the previous metric is equivalent to the Schwarzschild de-Sitter one (as has been explained previously) after some coordinate transformations. The fiducial and the dynamical metric after rescaling in unitary gauge become

$$f_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -dt^2 + \frac{dr^2}{S_0^2} + \frac{r^2}{S_0^2}d\Omega_2^2, \qquad (4.141)$$

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -f(r)(\partial_t h(r,t)dt + \partial_r h(r,t)dr)^2 + \frac{dr^2}{f(r)} + r^2 d\Omega_2^2$$
(4.142)

$$= g_{ab}dy^{a}dy^{b} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2}.$$
 (4.143)

Rescaling the fiducial metric in the form given by eq. (4.141) is equivalent to rescale the Stückelberg fields like

$$\phi^t = t, \quad \phi^x = \frac{r \cos\theta}{S_0}, \quad \phi^y = \frac{r \sin\theta\cos\phi}{S_0}, \quad \phi^z = \frac{r \sin\theta\sin\psi}{S_0}, \quad (4.144)$$

where θ and ψ are the zenithal and azimuthal angles for the spherical symmetry. The above *r*-coordinate rescaling also affects the *Q* matrix. Because the dRGT theory has general covariance, $(g^*f_*) = (g^{\mu\alpha}f_{\alpha\nu})$ transforms as

$$g^*f_* \to T^{-1}g^*f_*T; \quad T = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1/S_0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.145)

Because the mixed tensor Q should behave exactly as $g^* f_*$ under a coordinate transformation, the *r*-rescaling transforms Q from the old value Q' to

$$Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = T^{-1} Q^{\prime \mu}_{\ \nu} T = \begin{pmatrix} a & \frac{c}{S_0} & 0 & 0\\ -S_0 c & b & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 - \frac{1}{S_0} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 - \frac{1}{S_0} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.146)

Note that due to the *r*-rescaling, the expression for g_{ab} in terms of *a*, *b*, and *c* is modified as follows

$$g_{tt} = -\frac{(1-b)^2 - c^2}{[(1-a)(1-b) + c^2]^2},$$

$$S_0^2 g_{rr} = \frac{(1-a)^2 - c^2}{[(1-a)(1-b) + c^2]^2},$$

$$S_0 g_{tr} = -\frac{c(2-a-b)}{[(1-a)(1-b) + c^2]^2},$$

$$S_0^{-1}(-g_{(2)})^{-1/2} = c^2 + (1-a)(1-b).$$
(4.147)

Similarly, a, b and c are expressed in terms of the new metric g_{ab} as

$$1 - a = \frac{1}{\underline{M}_{1}} (-S_{0}g^{tt} + (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2}),$$

$$c = -\frac{g^{tr}}{\underline{M}_{1}},$$

$$1 - b = \frac{1}{\underline{M}_{1}} (S_{0}^{-1}g^{rr} + (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2}),$$
(4.148)

with

$$\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{1} = (-g_{(2)})^{-1/2} \left(-g_{tt} + S_{0}^{2} g_{rr} + 2S_{0} (-g_{(2)})^{1/2} \right)^{1/2},
g_{(2)} = g_{tt} g_{rr} - g_{tr}^{2}.$$
(4.149)

4.5.2 Perturbation of $X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$

We can calculate the perturbation of the tensor $X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ by using the definitions

$$h_{ab} = f_{ab}(t, r)Y, \quad h_{ai} = rf_a(t, r)Y_i, \quad h_{ij} = 2r^2 [H_L \gamma_{ij}Y + H_T Y_{ij}],$$
 (4.150)

where Y, Y_i and Y_{ij} represent the corresponding tensors for either the scalar or vector harmonics. We can simplify the expression (4.49) as follows

$$X^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \chi_0 \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \chi_1 Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \chi_2 (Q^2)^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \chi_3 (Q^3)^{\mu}_{\ \nu}, \qquad (4.151)$$

where

$$\chi_0 = -\frac{\beta}{3}Q_3 + \frac{\alpha + \beta Q}{2}Q_2 - Q - \frac{\alpha}{2}Q^2 - \frac{\beta}{6}Q^3, \qquad (4.152)$$

$$\chi_1 = 1 + \alpha Q + \frac{\beta}{2} (Q^2 - Q_2), \qquad (4.153)$$

$$\chi_2 = -\alpha - \beta Q, \tag{4.154}$$

$$\chi_3 = \beta, \tag{4.155}$$

and we define

$$\alpha = 1 + 3\alpha_3, \quad \beta = 3(\alpha_3 + 4\alpha_4).$$
 (4.156)

Then the perturbation of the matrix $X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ is determined by

$$\delta X^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \delta \chi_0 \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \delta \chi_1 Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \delta \chi_2 (Q^2)^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \delta \chi_3 (Q^3)^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \chi_1 \delta Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \chi_2 \delta (Q^2)^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \chi_3 \delta (Q^3)^{\mu}_{\ \nu}.$$
(4.157)

Here the perturbations $\delta \chi_n$ are linear combinations of δQ_n (where Q_n is defined in eq. (4.28)), namely, the perturbations of the traces of the powers of matrices $(Q^n)^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$. δQ_n can be calculated as

$$\delta Q_n = \frac{n}{2} Tr[h^{\mu}_{\ \gamma} (Q^{n-1})^{\gamma}_{\ \beta} (1-Q)^{\beta}_{\ \omega}], \qquad (4.158)$$

and the perturbations for the matrices $Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ can be determined from the equations

$$(\delta Q^{\mu}{}_{\sigma})(Q^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}-\delta^{\sigma}{}_{\nu})+(Q^{\mu}{}_{\sigma}-\delta^{\mu}{}_{\sigma})\delta Q^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}=-\delta (M^{2})^{\mu}{}_{\nu}=-(g^{\mu\gamma}h_{\gamma\beta}(M^{2})^{\beta}{}_{\nu}), \qquad (4.159)$$

where we have used $M^2 = g^* f_*$ and then $\delta(M^2) = (\delta g^*) f_*$ if all the gravitational degrees of freedom are inside the dynamical metric. Otherwise $\delta(M^2) = (\delta g^*) f_* + g^*(\delta f_*)$. However there is no loss of generality by assuming that all the degrees of freedom are inside the dynamical metric since it is always possible to make a coordinate transformation in order to go back to the unitary gauge if we start from any gauge. In solving eq. (4.159), it is important to note that the background metric g and the matrix $M = g^* f_*$ are direct sum of two dimensional sub matrices

$$g = g_{(1)}(t, r) \oplus g_{(2)}(\theta, \phi),$$
 (4.160)

$$M = M_{(1)} \oplus M_{(2)}. \tag{4.161}$$

Because the calculations δQ_{b}^{a} , δQ_{i}^{a} and δQ_{j}^{i} decouple from each other, except for the calculation of δQ_{n} , namely, the perturbation of the traces, in appendix (D), we have calculated explicitly the components for δQ_{1} , δQ_{2} and δQ_{3} . We concentrate in the family of solutions satisfying $\beta = \alpha^{2}$. That this condition is special, was first reported by Th. Nieuwenhuizen [64]. Additionally, we impose the determinant condition (4.85), which is invariant under any coordinate transformation including rescaling. First, the angular part δQ_{j}^{i} can be easily calculated because $I_{2} - Q_{j}^{i} = (1/S_{0})I_{2}$. Then

$$\delta X^{i}{}_{j} = \delta \chi_{0} \delta^{i}{}_{j} + \delta \chi_{1} (1 - S^{-1}_{0}) \delta^{i}{}_{j} + \delta \chi_{2} (1 - S^{-1}_{0})^{2} \delta^{i}{}_{j} + \delta \chi_{3} (1 - S^{-1}_{0})^{3} \delta^{i}{}_{j} + \delta Q^{i}{}_{j} [\chi_{1} + 2\chi_{2} (1 - S^{-1}_{0}) + 3\chi_{3} (1 - S^{-1}_{0})^{2}],$$

$$(4.162)$$

where $\delta \chi_3 = 0$ and the angular components for $\delta Q^i{}_j$ can be found from eq. (4.159). They are

$$\delta Q^{i}{}_{j} = \frac{H_{L}Y\delta^{i}{}_{j} + H_{T}Y^{i}{}_{j}}{S_{0}}, \qquad (4.163)$$

thus

$$\delta X^i{}_j = \omega(r)(H_L \delta^i{}_j - H_T Y^i{}_j), \qquad (4.164)$$

where

$$\omega(r) = \frac{1+\alpha}{\alpha} \{\beta(c^2 + ab) + \alpha(a+b) + 1\}.$$
(4.165)

Next, for the r-t components, again solving the set of equations generated by the expression (4.159), we get

$$\delta Q^a{}_b = \frac{1}{2(2-a-b)} \left(h^a{}_c (M^2)^c{}_b + (1-Q)^a{}_c f^{cd} h_{dh} (1-Q)^h{}_b \right).$$
(4.166)

From eq. (4.157), the a-b components for the perturbation of $X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ are

$$\delta X^{a}_{\ b} = \delta \chi_{0} \delta^{a}_{\ b} + \delta \chi_{1} Q^{a}_{\ b} + \delta \chi_{2} (Q^{2})^{a}_{\ b} + \chi_{1} \delta Q^{a}_{\ b} + \chi_{2} \delta (Q^{2})^{a}_{\ b} + \chi_{3} \delta (Q^{3})^{a}_{\ b}.$$
(4.167)

If we replace the previous background results together with eq. (4.166), then

$$\delta X^a_{\ b} = 0. \tag{4.168}$$

Finally, for the a - i components, we know that $(Q^n)_i^a = 0$ as can be verified from the background matrix (4.146). Then the a - i components of the perturbation of X^{μ}_{ν} are

$$\delta X^{a}_{\ i} = \chi_1 \delta Q^{a}_{\ i} + \chi_2 \delta (Q^2)^{a}_{\ i} + \chi_3 \delta (Q^3)^{a}_{\ i}.$$
(4.169)

Here

$$\delta(Q^2)^a{}_i = \left(1 - \frac{1}{S_0}\right) \delta Q^a{}_i + Q^a{}_b \delta Q^b{}_i, \qquad (4.170)$$

$$\delta(Q^3)^a{}_i = \left(1 - \frac{1}{S_0}\right)^2 \delta Q^a{}_i + \left(1 - \frac{1}{S_0}\right) Q^a{}_b \delta Q^b{}_i + (Q^2)^a{}_b \delta Q^b{}_i.$$
(4.171)

The components $\delta Q^a{}_i$ can be found again by solving the general equation (4.159), this time given by

$$[(1+1/S_0)\delta^a_{\ b} - Q^a_{\ b}]\delta Q^a_{\ i} = \frac{r}{S_0^2}f^aY.$$
(4.172)

Then eq. (4.169) becomes

$$\delta X^{a}_{\ i} = \frac{1}{S_{0}^{2}} \left(\left\{ \chi_{1} + (1 - 1/S_{0})\chi_{2} + (1 - 1/S_{0})^{2}\chi_{3} \right\} \delta^{a}_{\ b} + \left\{ \chi_{2} + (1 - 1/S_{0})\chi_{3} \right\} Q^{a}_{\ b} \quad (4.173)$$

$$+\chi_3(Q^2)^a{}_b) \times ([1+1/S_0-Q]^{-1})^b{}_c f^c Y_i. \quad (4.174)$$

If we insert all the background values for $Q^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$, then we obtain

$$\delta X^a_{\ i} = 0 \tag{4.175}$$

4.5.3 Vector perturbations

For vector perturbations, we can use the following harmonic expansion

$$h_{ab} = 0, \quad h_{ai} = r f_a Y_i, \quad h_{ij} = 2r^2 H_T Y_{ij}.$$
 (4.176)

Similarly, a vector perturbation of the energy-momentum tensor

$$\kappa^2 \tau^{\mu}_{\ \nu} := \kappa^2 \delta T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = -m^2 \delta X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}, \tag{4.177}$$

has the harmonic expansion [60, 61]

$$\tau^{a}_{\ b} = 0, \quad \tau^{a}_{\ i} = r\tau^{a}Y_{i}, \quad \tau^{i}_{\ j} = \tau_{T}Y^{i}_{\ j}, \quad (4.178)$$

where τ^a and τ_T are gauge-invariant. From the calculations of the previous section, we get

$$\tau^a = 0, \tag{4.179}$$

$$\kappa^2 \tau_T = m^2 \omega(r) H_T. \tag{4.180}$$

These source terms have to satisfy the Bianchi identities, which for a vector perturbation reduce to [60, 61]

$$D_a(r^3\tau^a) + \frac{(l+2)(l-1)}{2[l(l+1)-1]^{1/2}}r^2\tau_T = 0, \quad \to (l-1)\omega(r)H_T = 0.$$
(4.181)

Because $\omega(r) \neq 0$ for the family of solutions defined by $\beta = \alpha^2$, it follows that $H_T = 0$ for $l \geq 2$. Hence the perturbations are just identical to those for the vacuum Einstein gravity. Then the general solution for the perturbations is

$$f_a = F_a, \quad H_T = 0,$$
 (4.182)

where F_a is the gauge invariant variable satisfying the perturbed vacuum Einstein equations. It is obtained when we perform the Harmonic function expansions for the variable (4.114) as $F_{ai}^{(1)} = rF_aV_i$ [60, 61]. We can also write the Einstein equations as

$$D_a(r^3 F^{(1)}) - m_V r \epsilon_{ab} F^b = -2\kappa^2 r^3 \epsilon_{ab} \tau^b = 0, \qquad (4.183)$$

$$k_V D_a(rF^a) = -\kappa^2 \tau_T = 0, (4.184)$$

with $F^{(1)}$ defined as

$$F^{(1)} = \epsilon^{ab} r D_a \left(\frac{F_b}{r}\right). \tag{4.185}$$

The solutions are then stable for vector perturbations. For the exceptional mode l = 1, H_T does not exist and then F_a is not gauge invariant and transforms for $\zeta^a = 0$, $\zeta^i = LV^i$ as

$$\delta_g F_a = -r D_a L. \tag{4.186}$$

We know that the general solution for l = 1 in the Einstein case is a linear combination of this gauge mode and the rotational perturbation corresponding to the angular momentum component in the Kerr metric [61]. Hence, the general solution in the present case is given by

$$f_a = -rD_aL - \frac{2aM}{r}\partial_a T_0(t, r).$$

$$(4.187)$$

In particular, this shows that the dRGT theory admits a rotational black hole solution at the linear perturbation level.

4.5.4 Scalar perturbations

For scalar perturbations we take the full set of perturbations for the metric given in eq. (4.150). We also take the full set of perturbations for the source terms given by

$$\delta T_{ab} = \tau_{ab}Y, \quad \delta T^a_{\ i} = r\tau^a Y_i, \quad \delta T^i_{\ j} = \delta P \delta^i_{\ j}Y + \tau_T Y^i_{\ j}. \tag{4.188}$$

Then

$$\delta X_{ab} = \delta g_{ac} X^c_{\ b} + g_{ac} \delta X^c_{\ b} = \frac{\Lambda}{m^2} f_{ab} Y.$$

$$(4.189)$$

Hence, the perturbations of the effective energy-momentum tensor are given by

$$\tau_{ab} = -\Lambda f_{ab},\tag{4.190}$$

$$\kappa^2 \tau^a = 0, \tag{4.191}$$

$$\kappa^2 \delta P = -m^2 \omega(r) H_L, \qquad (4.192)$$

$$\kappa^2 \tau_T = m^2 \omega(r) H_T. \tag{4.193}$$

The corresponding standard gauge invariant variables are

$$\kappa^2 \Sigma_{ab} = \kappa^2 \tau_{ab} - 2\Lambda D_{(a} X_{b)} = -\Lambda F_{ab}, \qquad (4.194)$$

$$\Sigma_a = \tau_a = 0, \tag{4.195}$$

$$\kappa^2 \Sigma_L = -m^2 \omega H_L, \tag{4.196}$$

and τ_T . These should satisfy the conservation laws

$$\frac{1}{r^3}D_a(r^3\Sigma^a) - \frac{k}{r}\Sigma_L + \frac{k^2 - 2}{2kr}\tau_T = 0, \qquad (4.197)$$

$$\frac{1}{r^2} D_b[r^2(\Sigma_a^b + \Lambda F_a^b)] + \frac{k}{r} \Sigma_a - 2\frac{D_a r}{r} \Sigma_L = 0.$$
(4.198)

These reduce to

$$-2l(1+l)H_L = (l+2)(l-1)H_T, \quad (l \ge 1),$$
(4.199)

$$H_L = 0.$$
 (4.200)

Hence for all modes including the cases l = 0, 1 for which H_T does not exist, we obtain the constraint $H_L = H_T = 0$, and the perturbation equations are identical to those for the vacuum Einstein system with Λ , which has the structure

$$E_{ab} = 2\kappa^2 \Sigma_{ab} = 0, \qquad (4.201)$$

$$E^a = 2\kappa^2 \Sigma^a = 0, \qquad (4.202)$$

$$E_L = 2\kappa^2 \Sigma_L = 0, \qquad (4.203)$$

$$-\frac{k_s^2}{r^2}F_a^a = 2\kappa^2\tau_T = 0, (4.204)$$

where E_{ab} , E_a and E_L are tensors written as differential linear combinations of the gaugeinvariants F_{ab} and F. In particular, no instability occurs. The general solution for $l \geq 2$ is expressed in terms of gauge invariant quantities satisfying the perturbation equations for the vacuum Einstein system with Λ as

$$f^r = kF, (4.205)$$

$$f_{ab} = F_{ab} - \frac{1}{k} [D_a(rf_b) + D_b(rf_a)], \quad (k > 0),$$
(4.206)

$$H_L = H_T = 0, (4.207)$$

where $f^t(t, r)$ is left as an arbitrary function. This corresponds to the freedom associated with infinitesimal coordinate transformation $\delta t = T^t S$, $\delta r = 0$ and $\delta z^i = 0$

$$\delta_g f_{ab} = -D_a T_b - D_b T_a, \qquad \delta_g f_a = \frac{k}{r} T_a, \qquad \delta_g H_L = \delta_g H_T = 0. \tag{4.208}$$

The exceptional modes with l = 0, 1 should be treated separately with care. First, for the S-mode with l = 0, the variables f_a and H_T do not exists. Hence

$$F_{ab} = f_{ab}, \quad H_L = 0.$$
 (4.209)

In this case, F_{ab} is not gauge invariant and transforms as

$$\delta_g f_{ab} = -D_a T_b - D_b T_a, \tag{4.210}$$

$$\delta_g H_L = -\frac{1}{r} T^r = 0. (4.211)$$

The residual gauge freedom is represented by $\delta t = T^t(t, r)$. This result is in consistence with the existence of the degeneracy represented by the single function $T_0(t, r)$ in the background solution. Because the solution satisfies the Einstein's equations, from the Birkhoff theorem, we know that the general solution is a linear combination of the above gauge transformation from the background solution and the perturbation corresponding to the variation of the mass parameter in the background metric

$$f_{tt} = \delta M \partial_M g_{tt} = \frac{2\delta M}{r}, \qquad (4.212)$$

$$f_{rr} = \delta M \partial_M g_{rr} = \frac{2\delta M}{r} \left(\frac{1}{f^2} + (h')^2\right) - f\delta M \partial_M (h'^2), \qquad (4.213)$$

$$f_{tr} = \delta M \partial_M g_{tr} = \frac{2\delta M}{r} h' - f \delta M \partial_M h'.$$
(4.214)

Next, for the l = 1 mode, there is no H_T function, but now we have a non-zero f^a . However, due to the absence of H_T , then the functions F and F_{ab} are not gauge invariant, and they transform under the coordinate transformation $\delta y^a = T^a S$ and $\delta z^i = L(t, r)S^i$ as

$$\delta_g F = -\frac{k}{2}L - \frac{r}{k}g^{ra}D_aL, \qquad (4.215)$$

$$\delta_g F_{ab} = -\frac{1}{k} [D_a(r^2 D_b L) + D_b(r^2 D_a L)].$$
(4.216)

The function L is restricted by the condition $H_L = 0$ as

$$\delta_g H_L = -\frac{k}{2}L - \frac{1}{r}T^r = 0.$$
(4.217)

Because we know that the corresponding solutions with l = 1 to the vacuum Einstein system are exhausted by (F, F_{ab}) obtained from the trivial solution (0,0) by the above gauge transformation [60], the general solution to our perturbation with l = 1 is given by the gauge modes

$$f_{ab} = -D_a T_b - D_b T_a, (4.218)$$

$$f_a = -rD_aL + \frac{k}{r}T_a, \qquad (4.219)$$

$$H_L = 0, \tag{4.220}$$

where

$$L = -\frac{2}{kr}T^r.$$
(4.221)

4.6 Gauge invariant formulation for the perturbation formalism in the dRGT

The dRGT theory is completely covariant if the Stückelberg field is treated as a dynamical one. It is possible to write a gauge invariant formulation by introducing new gauge invariant variables for the perturbation of the Stückelberg field ϕ^{α} . If we define

$$\sigma^{\alpha} = \delta \phi^{\alpha}, \tag{4.222}$$

its gauge transformation under the coordinate transformation $\delta_g x^\mu = \zeta^\mu$ is given by

$$\delta_g \sigma^\alpha = -\ell_\zeta \phi^\alpha = -\zeta^\mu \partial_\mu \phi^\alpha. \tag{4.223}$$

In unitary gauge, in agreement with eq. (4.144), the Stückelberg fields are defined as

$$\phi^t = \frac{t}{\mu}, \quad \phi^r = \frac{r}{S_0}, \quad \phi^\theta = \frac{\theta}{S_0}, \quad \phi^\varphi = \frac{\varphi}{S_0}. \tag{4.224}$$

Then for $\delta_g y^a = T^a$, $\delta_g z^i = LY^i$, σ^a transforms as

$$\delta_g \sigma^t = -\frac{T^t}{\mu}, \qquad \delta_g \sigma^r = -\frac{T^r}{S_0}, \qquad (4.225)$$

$$\delta_g \sigma_T = -\frac{L}{S_0},\tag{4.226}$$

where

$$\sigma^i = \sigma_T Y^i. \tag{4.227}$$

Vector perturbations:

For vector perturbations, we have

$$\sigma^a = 0, \qquad \sigma^i = \sigma_T V^i. \tag{4.228}$$

From

$$\delta_g f_a = -r D_a L, \qquad \delta_g H_T = kL, \tag{4.229}$$

it is possible then to construct the gauge invariant variable

$$\hat{\sigma}_T = \sigma_T + \frac{1}{kS_0} H_T, \qquad (4.230)$$

for generic modes with $l \ge 2$, in addition to the standard gauge-invariant variable for the metric

$$F_a = f_a + \frac{r}{k} D_a H_T. \tag{4.231}$$

Then the source term for the massive gravity equation $(\delta X^{\mu}_{\ \nu})$ can be expressed in terms of the gauge invariant variable as

$$\tau^a = 0, \qquad \kappa^2 \tau_T = m^2 \omega(r) k S_0 \hat{\sigma}_T. \tag{4.232}$$

In terms of the gauge invariant $\hat{\sigma}_T$, our previous results are expressed as

$$\hat{\sigma}_T = 0, \qquad (l \ge 2). \tag{4.233}$$

56

This implies that the dynamical degree of freedom of the Stückelberg field is completely suppressed and the perturbation of the metric behaves exactly in the same way as in the Einstein gravity case. For the exceptional modes with l = 1, we only have a single gauge invariant quantity defined as

$$\hat{F}_a = f_a - S_0 r \partial_a(\sigma_T). \tag{4.234}$$

Our analysis showed that for l = 1, the general solution for F_a is given by

$$\hat{F}_a = -rD_aL - \frac{2\alpha M}{r}\partial_a T_0, \qquad (4.235)$$

where L(r,t) is an arbitrary function and α is an arbitrary constant corresponding to the angular momentum parameter. Thus, a functional degeneracy appears.

Scalar perturbations:

In this case, we adopt the gauge invariant variables for σ^{α} defined by

$$\hat{\sigma}^t = \sigma^t + \frac{X^t}{\mu},\tag{4.236}$$

$$\hat{\sigma}^r = \sigma^r + \frac{X^r}{S_0},\tag{4.237}$$

$$\hat{\sigma}_T = \sigma_T + \frac{1}{kS_0} H_T. \tag{4.238}$$

In this case, then the source terms corresponding to $\delta X^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ are expressed as

$$\kappa^2 \Sigma_{ab} = -\Lambda F_{ab},\tag{4.239}$$

$$\kappa^2 \Sigma_a = 0, \tag{4.240}$$

$$\kappa^2 \Sigma_L = m^2 \omega(r) \left(\frac{kS_0}{2} \hat{\sigma}_T + \frac{S_0}{r} (D_a r) \hat{\sigma}^a - F \right), \qquad (4.241)$$

$$\kappa^2 \tau_T = m^2 \omega(r) k S_0 \hat{\sigma}_T. \tag{4.242}$$

From the calculations of the previous sections, we found that these source terms should vanish. From eqns. (4.239), (4.240), (4.241) and (4.242), we find the following constraints

$$\hat{\sigma}_T = 0, \qquad \hat{\sigma}^r = \frac{r}{S_0} F, \tag{4.243}$$

but $\sigma^t(\hat{t}, r)$ can be an arbitrary function. Hence, the functional degeneracy appears even for generic modes.

Exceptional modes

For the exceptional modes with l = 1, the variables F, F_{ab} , $\hat{\sigma}^a$, $\hat{\sigma}_T$ are not gauge invariants anymore since H_T is not defined in this case. F and F_{ab} transform as has been shown in eqns. (4.215) and (4.216). Additionally, $\hat{\sigma}^a$ and $\hat{\sigma}_T$ transform as

$$\delta_g \hat{\sigma}^t = -\frac{r^2}{\mu k} D^t L, \qquad (4.244)$$

$$\delta_g \hat{\sigma}^r = -\frac{r^2}{S_0 k} D^r L, \qquad (4.245)$$

$$\delta_g \hat{\sigma}_T = -\frac{L}{S_0}.\tag{4.246}$$

In this case however, we can construct the following set of gauge invariants

$$\hat{F} = F - \frac{S_0 r}{k} D^r(\hat{\sigma}_T) - \frac{k S_0}{2} \hat{\sigma}_T, \qquad (4.247)$$

$$\hat{F}_{ab} = F_{ab} - \frac{S_0}{k} \left(D_a(r^2 D_b(\hat{\sigma}_T)) + D_b(r^2 D_a(\hat{\sigma}_T)) \right), \qquad (4.248)$$

$$\tilde{\sigma}^t = \hat{\sigma}^t - \frac{S_0 r^2}{\mu k} D^t(\hat{\sigma}_T), \qquad (4.249)$$

$$\tilde{\sigma}^r = \hat{\sigma}^r - \frac{r^2}{k} D^r(\hat{\sigma}_T).$$
(4.250)

The perturbation equations for these variables are obtained by the replacements

$$F \to \hat{F}, \quad F_{ab} \to \hat{F}_{ab}, \quad \hat{\sigma}^a \to \tilde{\sigma}^a, \quad \hat{\sigma}_T \to 0.$$
 (4.251)

The general solution is then expressed in terms of these variables as

$$\hat{F} = -\frac{k}{2}L - \frac{r}{k}D^rL, \qquad (4.252)$$

$$\hat{F}_{ab} = -\frac{1}{k} \left(D_a (r^2 D_b L) + D_b (r^2 D_a L) \right), \qquad (4.253)$$

$$\tilde{\sigma}^a = 0, \tag{4.254}$$

where L(r, t) is an arbitrary function. For the exceptional modes with l = 0, from the gauge transformation formula

$$\delta_g f_{ab} = -D_a T_b - D_b T_a, \qquad (4.255)$$

$$\delta_g H_L = -\frac{1}{r} T^r, \qquad (4.256)$$

we can construct the gauge invariants from f_{ab} , H_L and σ_a as follows

$$\hat{F}_{ab} = f_{ab} - D_a \bar{\sigma}_b - D_b \bar{\sigma}_a, \qquad (4.257)$$

$$\hat{F} = H_L - \frac{S_0}{r} \sigma^r, \qquad (4.258)$$

where we have defined

$$\bar{\sigma}^t = \mu \sigma^t, \quad \bar{\sigma}^r = S_0 \sigma^r. \tag{4.259}$$

We have demonstrated that the general solution for l = 0 can be expressed in terms of these gauge invariants as

$$\hat{F}_{tt} = \frac{2\delta M}{r} + 2f\dot{T}^t, \qquad (4.260)$$

$$\hat{F}_{rr} = \frac{2\delta M}{r} \left(\frac{1}{f^2} + (h')^2\right) - f\delta M \partial_M(h'^2) + 2h' f \partial_r T^t, \qquad (4.261)$$

$$\hat{F}_{tr} = \frac{2\delta M}{r}h' - f\delta M\partial_M h' + f(h'\dot{T}^t + \partial_r T^t) - f'T^t, \qquad (4.262)$$

where T^t is an arbitrary function of t and r, and δM is an arbitrary constant corresponding to the mass variation.

4.7 Black Holes in bi-gravity theories

The bi-gravity formalism emerges as an extension of massive gravity for the case where the fiducial metric becomes dynamical. In such a case, the action is [51, 65]

$$S = M_{pl}^2 \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{R_g}{2} + m^2 U\right) + \frac{\kappa M_{pl}^2}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-f} R_f, \qquad (4.263)$$

where R_g and R_f correspond to the Ricci scalars for both, the g and the f metrics respectively. κ is a dimensionless parameter used to distinguish the coupling constant for the f metric and U again represents the interaction of both metrics, it is given by the same expression given by eq. (4.24). As in the case of massive gravity, we can write the interaction term in terms of a matrix of the form

$$K^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - \sqrt{g^{\mu\gamma} f_{\gamma\nu}}.$$
 (4.264)

If we vary the action (4.263) with respect to $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $f_{\mu\nu}$, then we obtain the corresponding equations [12]

$$G_{\mu\nu} = m^2 T^U_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \hat{G}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{\sqrt{-f}} \frac{m^2}{\kappa} \hat{T}^U_{\mu\nu},$$
(4.265)

where $G_{\mu\nu}$ and $\hat{G}_{\mu\nu}$ are the Einstein tensors for $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $f_{\mu\nu}$ respectively. And $T^U_{\mu\nu}$ with $\hat{T}^U_{\mu\nu}$ come from the interaction term U coming from the action (4.263). This term is given explicitly from eq. (4.24), where the potentials U_2 , U_3 and U_4 are given by analogous expressions to (4.25), (4.26) and (4.27). We can rewrite these expressions here as

$$U_2 = \frac{1}{2!} \left((K)^2 - K^{\mu}_{\ \nu} K^{\nu}_{\ \mu} \right), \qquad (4.266)$$

$$U_3 = -\frac{1}{3!} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\sigma} K^{\mu}_{\ \alpha} K^{\nu}_{\ \beta} K^{\rho}_{\ \gamma}, \qquad (4.267)$$

$$U_4 = -\frac{1}{4!} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} K^{\mu}_{\ \alpha} K^{\mu}_{\ \beta} K^{\rho}_{\ \gamma} K^{\sigma}_{\ \delta}, \qquad (4.268)$$

where $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\beta}$ is the Levi-Civita symbol. Then, $T^U_{\mu\nu}$ and $\hat{T}^U_{\mu\nu}$ are given explicitly by

$$T^{U}_{\mu\nu} = -g_{\mu\beta} (\delta^{\beta}_{\ \alpha} - K^{\beta}_{\ \alpha}) (K^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} - K\delta^{\sigma}_{\ \nu}) + O(K^{3}), \qquad (4.269)$$

$$\hat{T}^{U}_{\mu\nu} = -T^{U}_{\mu\nu} + O(K^3).$$
(4.270)

Normally in bigravity formulations, the metrics are taken such that $g_{\mu\nu} = f_{\mu\nu}$. In such a case, all the K matrices are identically zero K = 0 as can be easily verified from expression (4.264). However, the perturbations for both metrics, are in general taken as different [12]. If K = 0 at the background level, then the vacuum solutions for bimetric become the same as in Einstein gravity. The simplest vacuum solution in bi-gravity is then the Schwarzschild metric given by

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2GM}{r}\right)dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{2GM}{r}\right)^{-1} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2}.$$
(4.271)

The perturbations over this background, are defined as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = g^{(0)}_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}, \qquad f_{\mu\nu} = f^{(0)}_{\mu\nu} + \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.272)$$

where $g^0_{\mu\nu} = f^{(0)}_{\mu\nu}$. If this is true, then $g^{\mu\alpha}f_{\alpha\nu} \approx \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + (\tilde{h}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - h^{\mu}_{\ \nu})$ and then the K-matrix becomes

$$K^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \approx \frac{1}{2} h^{(-)\mu}_{\ \nu} + O(h^2),$$
 (4.273)

where $h^{(-)\mu}{}_{\nu} = (h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - h^{\tilde{\mu}}{}_{\nu})$. If we perturb eqns. (4.265), then we get the following results for the first equation

$$\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}_{\mu\nu}h_{\alpha\beta} = m^2 \delta T^U_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.274)$$

with

$$\delta T^{U}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{g_{\mu\beta}}{2} \delta^{\beta}_{\ \alpha} \left(h^{(-)\alpha}_{\ \nu} - h^{(-)} \delta^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} \right), \qquad (4.275)$$

which is simplified to

$$\delta T^{U}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(h^{(-)}_{\mu\nu} - h^{(-)} g_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
(4.276)

Additionally, for the second equation, we get

$$\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\alpha\beta}\tilde{h}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{m^2}{2\kappa} \left(h_{\mu\nu}^{(-)} - h^{(-)}g_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
(4.277)

Taking into account that $\delta T^U_{\mu\nu} = -\delta \hat{T}^U_{\mu\nu}$ in agreement with (4.270). The operator $\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}_{\mu\nu}$ is given by

$$\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\alpha\beta}h_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{2}\left(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}h - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\sigma}h^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\sigma}h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} + \Box h_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}\Box h + g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\beta}h^{\alpha\beta} + 2R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}h_{\lambda\sigma}\right)$$

$$(4.278)$$

and it is just the linearized Einstein tensor around any background. In vacuum $R = 0 = R_{\mu\nu}$. It is possible to combine equations (4.274) and (4.277) such that

$$\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\alpha\beta}h_{\alpha\beta}^{(-)} + \frac{m^{\prime 2}}{2}(h^{(-)} - g_{\mu\nu}h^{(-)}) = 0, \qquad (4.279)$$

$$\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}_{\mu\nu}h^{(+)}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad (4.280)$$

with $m' = m\sqrt{1+\frac{1}{\kappa}}$ and $h^{(+)} = h_{\mu\nu} + \kappa h_{\mu\nu}$. Then $h^{(-)}_{\mu\nu}$ is a massive field and $h^{(+)}_{\mu\nu}$ is a massless one. If we apply the divergence over eq. (4.279), then we get $\nabla^{\nu}h^{(-)}_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}h^{(-)}$. Then substituting back these conditions in the trace of eq. (4.279), we get

$$\nabla^{\mu} h_{\mu\nu}^{(-)} = 0 = h^{(-)}. \tag{4.281}$$

Then the field equations (4.279) become

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu}^{(-)} + 2R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}h_{\lambda\sigma}^{(-)} = m'^2 h_{\mu\nu}^{(-)}.$$
(4.282)

The field $h_{\mu\nu}^{(-)}$ does not change under infinitesimal transformations, $\zeta^{\mu} = \delta x^{\mu}$. However, for $h_{\mu\nu}^{(+)}$, this change corresponds to the standard gauge transformation. Some authors claim that as the equations (4.282) look similar to the equations obtained from a 5-dimensional black string, then the Gregory-Laflamme instability should appear also in bi-gravity formulations [12, 62]. It was however found later by Cardoso et. al [13] that the instability disappears in the partially-massless limit. Here I will review briefly what is the meaning of this limit. Recently it was verified by Babichev that the black hole solutions are stable when the fiducial metric takes the Minkowskian form (flat) [63]. This work is inspired from the results obtained from the previous section [59].

The partially massless limit

The partially massless limit corresponds to some specific value taken by the graviton mass (for the massive field), such that the theory only propagates gravitons and photons and the scalar component disappears [66]. This limit only occurs if $m^2 = \frac{2}{3}\Lambda$, with *m* corresponding to the graviton mass. This specific value is known as the Higuchi limit [67]. For understanding the meaning of this, we can start from the massive action including cosmological constant Λ considered in [13]. The field equations are

$$\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\alpha\beta}h_{\alpha\beta} - \Lambda\left(h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{h}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\right) + \frac{m^2}{2}(h_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}h) = 0.$$
(4.283)

The traces are taken with respect to the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ which will be assumed to be the background metric. If we take the trace and divergence of the previous equation and then we use the following identity

$$(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})h_{\alpha\beta} = R_{\alpha\omega\mu\nu}h^{\omega}_{\ \beta} + R_{\beta\omega\mu\nu}h^{\omega}_{\alpha}, \qquad (4.284)$$

then we get the following set of equations

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu} + 2R_{\alpha\mu\beta\nu}h^{\alpha\beta} - m^2 h_{\mu\nu} = 0,$$

$$\nabla^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = 0,$$

$$\left(m^2 - \frac{2}{3}\Lambda\right)h = 0.$$
(4.285)

Higuchi demonstrated that for masses satisfying $m^2 < 2/3\Lambda$, the scalar component becomes a ghost. However, for masses larger than this value, all the dynamical components become physically relevant. The discontinuity point given by $m^2 = 2/3\Lambda$ is the very well known Higuchi limit [67] and it represents the partially massless regime. Cardoso and colleagues have demonstrated that in this limit, the black hole solutions in bi-gravity becomes stable [13]. Note that the partially massless regime requires the presence of the cosmological constant Λ . Inside the dRGT, it was demonstrated by de Rham that the theory expanded around de-Sitter becomes the best candidate for partially massless gravity theory [66].

Chapter 5

Modified theories and dark matter effects

In the previous chapter, we studied in detail a theory which is a candidate for solving the cosmological constant problem by introducing mass to the graviton. The extensions of this theory are known as bi-gravity formulations, where the fiducial metric also becomes dynamical. Within this extension, it has been recently proposed that dark matter effects can be found if both metrics are allowed to be coupled; to matter in the case of the physical metric, and to some kind of "twin" matter for the case of the fiducial metric [68]. Both metrics cannot be coupled to the ordinary matter since this would violate the equivalence principle [69]. Although the origin of dark matter is still a mystery, we understand perfectly its consequences in the galactic dynamics, clusters, etc. As well as its effects in the CMB and the weak gravitational lenses [70, 71, 72, 73, 74]. Some alternative theories have been proposed in order to explain what is observed. In particular the dRGT theory of massive gravity cannot reproduce dark matter effects. One of the reasons is that the modification of the Einstein-Hilbert action enters as non-derivative terms. It has been demonstrated by Deffayet et al., that in order to get the observed galactic dynamics we require to modify gravity such that first-order derivative terms appear in the action [75, 76]. This condition is not achieved by the dRGT or not even for some other attempts to modify gravity. In what follows I will show one of the attempts to modify gravity for large scales. In this case, the model fails to reproduce the very well known galactic dynamics which has been compactified in the expression proposed by Milgrom [18, 19, 20, 77] inside the so called Modified Newtonian Dynamics (MOND) theory. The model analyzed in what follows, can reproduce a similar expression in comparison with MOND but the dynamics is different due to the scale dependence of the interpolating function μ to be explained later. The appropriate galactic dynamics requires a scale-independent interpolating function μ . Before analyzing the dynamics of the model around a static-spherically symmetric solution, I will make a brief review of the MONdian formulation.

5.1 Lagrangian formulation of MOND

The modified dynamics assumption in agreement with Milgrom [78], can be based in the following set of minimal assumptions [21, 22]:

1). There exist a breakdown of Newtonian dynamics (second law and/or gravity) in the limit of small accelerations.

2). In this limit, the acceleration \vec{a} , of a test particle in the gravitating system is given by $\vec{a}\left(\frac{\vec{a}}{a_0}\right) \approx \vec{g}_N$, where \vec{g}_N is the conventional gravitational field and a_0 is a constant with dimensions of acceleration.

3). The transition from the Newtonian regime to the small acceleration asymptotic region occurs within a range of order a_0 about a_0 . The value of a_0 is of the same order of magnitude of cH_0 . The original results obtained by Milgrom [78] can be described either of the following ways. A modification of the inertia

$$m\mu\left(\frac{a}{a_0}\right)\vec{a} = \vec{F},\tag{5.1}$$

where \vec{F} is an arbitrary static force assumed to depend on its sources in the conventional way, m is the gravitational mass of the accelerated particle and μ is the interpolating function which will be defined later. In the case of gravity, $\vec{F} = m\vec{g}_N$, where $\vec{g}_N = -\nabla\phi_N$ and ϕ_N is the gravitational potential deduced in the usual way from the Poisson equation. Alternatively, MOND in agreement with [78] can be described as a modification of gravity leaving the law of inertia $(m\vec{a} = \vec{F})$ intact. Then, $\vec{F} = m\vec{g}$ and \vec{g} is a modified gravitational field derived from \vec{g}_N using the relation

$$\mu(g/a_0)\vec{g} = \vec{g}_N. \tag{5.2}$$

If only gravitational forces were present, both formulations of MOND given by eqns. (5.1) and (5.2) would be equivalent. However, if we consider any force in general, then the previous formulations are not the same at all. The interpolating function $\mu(x)$ satisfies the following conditions

$$\mu(x) \approx 1 \quad if \ x >> 1, \qquad \mu(x) \approx x \quad if \ x << 1,$$
(5.3)

where the left side corresponds to the standard Newtonian limit. The function $\mu(x)$, can be defined in different ways. Here I will not be concerned with its definition but rather on its asymptotic behavior.

In cases of high symmetry (spherical, plane, or cylindrical), the gravitational field \vec{g} as given by equation (5.2) is derivable from a scalar potential ϕ . However, in the most general cases this is not possible. As has been already explained by Milgrom in his paper [18, 19, 20], MOND cannot be considered as a theory, but only a successful phenomenological scheme for which an underlying theory can be constructed. One of the reasons is for example, that inside MOND theory there is no momentum conservation. In fact, momentum is only conserved approximately as far as the mass of the test body is much smaller than the source one [22]. Milgrom and Bekenstein have already derived a Lagrangian formulation for MOND, where μ and a_0 are introduced by hand. One of the purposes for constructing a fundamental theory which can contain MOND as a non-relativistic limit is to obtain the interpolating function $\mu(x)$ in terms of some fundamental quantities. This was one of the motivations for the work done in [7]. A Lagrangian formulation for MOND solves the momentum conservation problem associated typically to the original MOND version. A Lagrangian formulation also enables to calculate the dynamics of an arbitrary non-relativistic system [22].

There are two important assumptions inside the MOND theory, they are:

1). A composite particle (star or a cluster of stars) moving in an external field, say a galaxy, moves like a test particle according to MOND. Even if within the body, the relativistic accelerations are large. This assumption is possible as far as the mass of the test particle is much smaller than the mass of the galaxy.

2). When a system is accelerated as a whole in an external field, the internal dynamics of the system is affected by the presence of an external field (even when this field is constant without tidal forces). In particular, in the limit when the external (center of mass) acceleration of the system becomes much larger than the MOND scale a_0 , the internal dynamics approaches to the Newtonian behavior even when the accelerations within the system are much smaller than a_0 .

This second observation due to the Milgrom proposal is quite interesting and one of the motivations in [7] since it seems that the internal dynamics of the system can in principle be affected by the presence of some external field. This could in principle be done due to a non-local connection between the internal and external dynamics.

Normally Newtonian gravity is recovered at the non-relativistic regime of General Relativity (GR), and of a number of other relativistic theories of gravity. It is however, necessary to construct a new relativistic version of GR such that MOND could be recovered as a natural non-relativistic limit [22]. This new version could be constructed by considering two possibilities. 1). Additional degrees of freedom. However, dRGT is not able to do this. 2). Non-localities. If we choose to explain the dark matter effects by introducing non-localities, we must be able to explain the origin of such effects. In [7], the origin of non-localities is not relevant. However, some extra-degrees of freedom are introduced in order to recreate some "non-local" effect. This model was proposed by Nojiri and Odintsov some years ago [9]. Later the model was used by Sasaki and colleagues for reproducing screening effects for the cosmological constant for example. [8]

There are two very important reasons in order to construct a Relativistic version for MOND.

1). To help incorporate principles of MOND into the framework of modern theoretical physics.

2). To provide tools for investigating cosmology in light of MOND. [22]

5.2 The MOND field equations

In Newtonian gravity test bodies move with an acceleration equal to $\vec{g}_N = -\nabla \phi_N$, where ϕ_N is the Newtonian gravitational potential. It is determined by the Poisson equation $\nabla^2 \phi_N = 4\pi G \rho$, where ρ is the mass density which produces ϕ_N . The Poisson equation may be derived

from the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_N = -\int d^3 r (\rho \phi_N + (8\pi G)^{-1} (\nabla \phi_N)^2).$$
(5.4)

Milgrom and Bekenstein suggested that in searching for a modification of this theory, we will want to retain the notion of a single potential ϕ_N from which acceleration derives. We want ϕ_N to be arbitrary up to some additive constant. The most general modification of L_N which yield these features is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\int d^3r \left(\rho \phi + (8\pi G)^{-1} a_0^2 f\left(\frac{(\nabla \phi)^2}{a_0^2}\right) \right),$$
(5.5)

where $f(x^2)$ is an arbitrary function. The scale of acceleration is necessary unless we are in the Newtonian case. If we perform the variation of \mathcal{L} with respect to ϕ , with the variation of ϕ vanishing on the boundaries, we get

$$\vec{\nabla} \cdot \left(\mu \left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0} \right) \vec{\nabla}\phi \right) = 4\pi G\rho, \tag{5.6}$$

where $\mu(x) = f'(x^2)$. Eq. (5.6) is the equation determining the modified potential. A test particle is assumed to have acceleration $\vec{g} = -\vec{\nabla}\phi$. We supplement equation (5.6) by the boundary condition $|\vec{\nabla}\phi| \to 0$ as $r \to \infty$.

It is useful to write the field equation in terms of the modified Newtonian field $\vec{g}_N = -\vec{\nabla}\phi_N$, for the same mass distribution, which satisfies the Poisson equation. By eliminating ρ in equation (5.6), we get

$$\vec{\nabla} \cdot \left(\mu \left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0} \right) \vec{\nabla}\phi - \vec{\nabla}\phi_N \right) = 0.$$
(5.7)

The expression in parenthesis, must then be a curl, since its divergence is zero. Then we can write

$$\mu\left(\frac{g}{a_0}\right)\vec{g} = \vec{g}_N + \vec{\nabla} \times \vec{h}.$$
(5.8)

It has already been demonstrated by Bekenstein and Milgrom that the present theory satisfies the basic assumptions of MOND and that the curl term vanishes exactly for the spherically symmetric case and it vanishes at least as fast as $\frac{1}{r^3}$ at large distances from the source in general cases. In the next section I will consider the review of this point.

5.3 The field equations at large distances from the source

In agreement with [22], let's consider a bound density distribution of total mass M with the origin at the center of mass. Following the Bekenstein and Milgrom notation, let's define the

vector field \vec{u} as $\vec{u} \equiv \vec{\nabla}\phi_N - \mu\left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0}\right)\vec{\nabla}\phi$. For the reasons explained in the previous section, the vector \vec{u} , satisfies $\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{u} = 0$ and it vanishes at infinity. It is possible then to write \vec{u} in terms of the vector potential \vec{A}

$$\vec{u} = \vec{\nabla} \times \vec{A}, \qquad \vec{A}(\vec{r}) = (4\pi)^{-1} \int \frac{\vec{\nabla}' \times \vec{u}(\vec{r'})}{|\vec{r} - \vec{r'}|} d^3r'.$$
 (5.9)

The only term with an r^{-2} behavior at infinity which \vec{u} can have is $\vec{u}^{(2)} = \vec{\nabla} \times (r^{-1}\vec{B}) = -r^{-3}\vec{r} \times \vec{B}$. Where $\vec{B} = (4\pi)^{-1} \int \vec{\nabla}' \times \vec{u}' d^3 r'$, which is the lowest order in the multipole expansion (5.9).

If we can demonstrate that $\vec{B} = 0$, then we guarantee that the lowest contributing multipole term to \vec{u} vanishes at least as fast as r^{-3} . In the limit of large r, we have

$$\mu\left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0}\right)\vec{\nabla}\phi = \vec{\nabla}\phi_N - \vec{u} = r^{-3}(GM\vec{r} + \vec{r}\times\vec{B}) + \vec{O}(r^{-3}).$$
(5.10)

Taking the absolute value, we get

$$\mu\left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0}\right)|\vec{\nabla}\phi| = (|\vec{\nabla}\phi_N|^2 + |\vec{u}|^2)^{1/2}.$$
(5.11)

This expression can be translated into

$$\mu\left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0}\right)|\vec{\nabla}\phi| = \left(\left(\frac{GM}{r^2}\right)^2 + \frac{B^2 \sin^2}{r^4}\theta\right)^{1/2}.$$
(5.12)

As $r \to \infty$, the full MONDian regime operates and we can assume that $\mu\left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0}\right) = \frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0}$. In such a case, the expression (5.12) becomes

$$|\vec{\nabla}\phi| = \frac{a_0^{1/2}}{r} \left(G^2 M^2 + B^2 \sin^2\theta\right)^{1/4}.$$
(5.13)

Assuming again the MONDian regime and replacing the previous expression inside of (5.10), we get

$$\vec{\nabla}\phi = a_0^{1/2} r^{-2} \frac{(GM\vec{r} + \vec{r} \times \vec{B})}{(G^2M^2 + B^2 sin^2\theta)^{1/4}} + \vec{O}(r^{-2}).$$
(5.14)

Here θ is the angle between \vec{r} and \vec{B} which we can take along the z-axis without lost of generality. Requiring the azimuthal component of $\vec{\nabla} \times (\vec{\nabla}\phi)$ to vanish, gives $\vec{B} = 0$ [22]. This means that \vec{u} vanishes at large distances from a mass, at least as $\vec{O}(r^{-3})$. With this result, the equation (5.8) as $r \to \infty$, becomes

$$\mu\left(\frac{g}{a_0}\right)\vec{g} = \vec{g}_N + \vec{O}(r^{-3}), \tag{5.15}$$

consistent with the MOND predictions explained in eqns. (5.1) and (5.2). As $r \to \infty$, we get

$$\vec{g} \to -\frac{(GMa_0)^{1/2}}{r^2}\vec{r} + \vec{O}(r^{-2}).$$
 (5.16)

In this limit, the potential becomes

$$\phi \to (GMa_0)^{1/2} ln\left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right) + O(r^{-1}),$$
(5.17)

where r_0 is an arbitrary radius. This potential leads to an asymptotically constant circular velocity $V_{\infty} = (GMa_0)^{1/4}$ as it is observed in the outskirts of spiral galaxies.

The field equation (5.6) is nonlinear and difficult to solve in general. However, in cases of high symmetry, the curl term in equation (5.8) vanishes identically and we have the exact result $\mu\left(\frac{g}{a_0}\right)\vec{g} = \vec{g}_N$ which is identical to equation (5.2). For systems for high degree of symmetry, then the solution for ϕ is straightforward and all the results obtained from the standard Newtonian theory can then be extended to the present formalism.

For example, the acceleration field at a distance r from the center in a spherical system depends only on the total mass M(r), interior to r (in agreement with the Gauss' theorem), and in fact is given by $\mu\left(\frac{g}{a_0}\right)\vec{g} = -\frac{M(r)G\vec{r}}{r^3}$.

The field equation (5.6) is analogous to the equation for the electrostatic potential in a nonlinear isotropic medium in which the dielectric coefficient is a function of the electric field strength [22].

The field equation (5.6) is also equivalent to the stationary flow equations of an irrotational fluid which has a density $\hat{\rho} = \mu \left(\frac{|\vec{\nabla}\phi|}{a_0}\right)$, a negative pressure $\hat{P} = -\frac{1}{2}a_0^2 f\left(\frac{(\vec{\nabla}\phi)^2}{a_0^2}\right)$, flow velocity $\hat{\vec{v}} = \vec{\nabla}\phi$, and a source distribution $\hat{S}(\vec{r}) = 4\pi G\rho$. The fluid satisfies an equation of state $\hat{P}(\hat{\rho}) = -\frac{1}{2}a_0^2 f\left([(\mu^{-1}(\hat{\rho})]^2)\right)$.

An equation of the same form as equation (5.6) has been studied to describe classical models of quark confinement using a very different form of the function μ at both, large and small values of its argument [79]. The conservation laws and other results related to the Lagrangian formulation of MOND can be found in [22]. In this manuscript I will omit such analysis.

5.4 A Non-local model for gravity

The non-local action suggested in [8] is given by

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa^2} (R(1 + f(\Box^{-1}R)) - 2\Lambda) + l_{matter}(Q,g) \right),$$
(5.18)

where f is some function, \Box is just the D'Alembertian for the scalar field, Λ is the cosmological constant which is supposed to be screened by the introduced non-localities and Q corresponds to the matter fields. We can rewrite the action by introducing two scalar fields ψ and ζ as follows [8]

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa^2} (R(1+f(\psi)) - \zeta(\Box\psi - R) - 2\Lambda) + l_{matter} \right)$$
$$= \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa^2} (R(1+f(\psi) + \zeta) + g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \zeta \partial_\nu \psi - 2\Lambda) + l_{matter} \right).$$
(5.19)

If we vary the above action with respect to ζ , then $\Box \psi = R$ or $\psi = \Box^{-1}R$. The variation with respect to the metric is

$$0 = \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\left(R(1+f(\psi)+\zeta)+g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\zeta\partial_{\beta}\psi-2\Lambda\right)-R_{\mu\nu}(1+f(\psi)+\zeta) -\frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}\zeta\partial_{\nu}\psi+\partial_{\mu}\psi\partial_{\nu}\zeta)-(g_{\mu\nu}\Box-\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu})(f(\psi)+\zeta)+\kappa^{2}T_{\mu\nu},$$
(5.20)

and the variation with respect to ψ gives

$$0 = \Box \zeta - f'(\psi)R. \tag{5.21}$$

The explicit solutions for the previous equations, can be found if we introduce a metric. In this manuscript, I will focus on spherically symmetric solutions.

5.4.1 The ghost free condition

In [8], it was found that after a conformal transformation to the Einstein frame, we get

$$\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \tilde{R} = \frac{1}{\Omega^2} (R - 6(\Box ln\Omega + g^{\mu\nu} \nabla_\mu ln\Omega \nabla_\nu ln\Omega)), \qquad (5.22)$$

$$\Omega^2 = \frac{1}{1 + f(\psi) + \zeta},$$
(5.23)

which gives an action given by [8]

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa^2} (\hat{R} - 6g^{\mu\nu} \nabla_\mu \phi' \nabla_\nu \phi' + e^{2\phi'} g^{\mu\nu} \nabla_\mu \zeta \nabla_\nu \psi - 2e^{4\phi'} \Lambda) + e^{4\phi'} l_{matter}(Q; e^{2\phi'} g) \right),$$
(5.24)

where

$$\phi' \equiv ln\Omega = -\frac{1}{2}ln(1+f(\psi)+\zeta), \qquad (5.25)$$

and \hat{R} is the resulting Ricci scalar after performing the transformation (5.22). The condition for gravity to have a normal sign is

$$1 + f(\psi) + \zeta > 0. \tag{5.26}$$

If ϕ' and ψ are considered to be the independent fields, then

$$\zeta = e^{-2\phi'} - (1 + f(\psi)). \tag{5.27}$$

In terms of the new set of independent variables, the action is

$$S = \int \sqrt{-g} \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} (R - 6\nabla^{\mu} \phi' \nabla_{\mu} \phi' - 2\nabla^{\mu} \phi' \nabla_{\mu} \psi - e^{2\phi'} f'(\psi) \nabla^{\mu} \psi \nabla_{\mu} \psi - 2e^{4\phi'} \Lambda) + e^{4\phi'} l_{matter}(Q; e^{2\phi' g}).$$
(5.28)

The ghost free condition is simply

$$f'(\psi) > \frac{1 + f(\psi) + \zeta}{6} > 0.$$
(5.29)

5.5 The Newtonian limit in the standard case in S-dS metric

In [8], the metric is assumed to be FLRW. In this case, as we are concerned with the dark matter effects and we want to compare with the MONDian case, it is reasonable to assume that the space corresponds to the Newton-Hooke one, which is just the Newtonian limit for the Schwarzschild-de Sitter metric. Explicitly in eqs. (5.20) and (5.21), I will assume the metric to be

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2GM}{r} - \frac{1}{3}\frac{r^{2}}{r_{\Lambda}^{2}}\right)dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{2GM}{r} - \frac{1}{3}\frac{r^{2}}{r_{\Lambda}^{2}}\right)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2},$$
(5.30)

with $d\Omega^2 = d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta d\phi^2$. I will work under the condition $r_s \ll r \ll r_{\Lambda}$, where the weak field approximation is then justified. Then we have to satisfy the standard results

$$G_{00}^{(1)} \approx \Box g_{00} \approx R^{(1)} = 2R_{00}^{(1)},$$
 (5.31)

where the weak field approximation for the Ricci tensor is given by

$$R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial^{\lambda} \partial_{\mu} h_{\lambda\nu} - \partial^{\lambda} \partial_{\nu} h_{\lambda\mu} + \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h), \qquad (5.32)$$

and then, the first order Einstein's equations become

$$R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}R^{(1)} + \eta_{\mu\nu}\Lambda = -8\pi G_N T^{(1)}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.33)$$

with the metric given by (5.30), then we get

$$\nabla^2 g_{00} = -8\pi G\rho + 2\Lambda. \tag{5.34}$$
If $g_{\mu\nu} \approx \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$, then $\nabla g_{00} \approx \nabla h_{00}$. Thus

$$\nabla^2 \phi = 4\pi G_N \rho - \Lambda, \tag{5.35}$$

with $h_{00} = -2\phi = h_{ij}$ and $T_{00} \approx \rho$. The spherical symmetry assumption taken from the metric (5.30) is important since it implies that the curl term in equation (5.8) can be ignored in agreement with the analysis performed in the previous section. The results of this section will be used in the field equations 5.20 and 5.21.

5.5.1 The weak field approximation in non-local gravity and its relation with MOND

In agreement with Bekenstein [21], at the Newtonian limit we have to satisfy an equation similar to the AQUAL one given already in eq. (5.6). We rewrite it as follows

$$\nabla^2 \phi \approx \mu^{-1} (\kappa^2 \rho - \Lambda) - \mu^{-1} (\nabla \phi) \cdot \nabla \left(\mu \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi|}{a_0} \right) \right).$$
(5.36)

For the Newtonian limit of the field equations (5.20), I will make the expansions up to second order in the potential ϕ . Even if the second order terms are most likely negligible, I will keep them in order to get a more accurate result. Take into account that the non-localities, represented by $f(\psi) + \zeta$ in eq. (5.20) reproduce an amplification of the non-linearities related to the space time curvature and it includes the second order contributions. This amplification will however depend on a parameter γ which will be defined later. The 0-0 component of eq. (5.20) is then given by

$$0 \approx -\frac{1}{2} \left(R^{(1)} (1 + f(\psi) + \zeta) + \nabla_r \zeta \nabla_r \psi - 2\Lambda \right) - \phi R^{(1)} (1 + f(\psi) + \zeta) - R^{(1)}_{00} (1 + f(\psi) + \zeta) + (1 + 2\phi) \Box (f(\psi) + \zeta) + \nabla_0 \nabla_0 (f(\psi) + \zeta) - \kappa^2 \rho,$$
(5.37)

where we have used $T_{00} = -\rho$. In this approach, we neglect the time-dependence of the scalar fields. However we take into account the curvature effects through the Christoffel connections. We can write ζ in terms of $f(\psi)$ if we solve the equation (5.21). For that purpose, we assume an exponential solution like $f(\psi) = f_0 e^{\gamma \psi}$ as has been suggested in [8]. Then the following relations are true

$$\nabla_{\mu} f(\psi) = \gamma f(\psi) \nabla_{\mu} \psi, \quad \Box f(\psi) = \gamma f(\psi) \Box \psi + \gamma^2 f(\psi) \nabla_{\mu} \psi \nabla^{\mu} \psi.$$
(5.38)

We can then find the solution for eq. (5.21) if we expand both sides of the equation and then compare the same order of magnitude terms as follows

$$2\nabla\phi\cdot\nabla\zeta + \frac{2}{r}\frac{\partial\zeta}{\partial r} + \frac{\partial^2\zeta}{\partial r^2} \approx -\gamma f(-2\phi)\left(4\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial r}\right)^2 + \frac{4}{r}\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial r} + 2\frac{\partial^2\phi}{\partial r^2}\right).$$
(5.39)

The solution for ζ is (ignoring second order contributions)

$$\zeta(\psi) \approx f(\psi), \tag{5.40}$$

where we have used the Lagrange multiplier condition $R = \Box \psi$. If we replace the solution for $\zeta(\psi)$, and taking into account eq. (5.21) and the Lagrange multiplier condition, then eq. (5.37) becomes

$$0 \approx -\frac{1}{2} \left(R^{(1)} (1 + 2f(\psi)) + \gamma f(\psi) (\nabla \psi)^2 - 2\Lambda \right) - \phi R^{(1)} (1 + 2f(\psi)) - R^{(1)}_{00} (1 + 2f(\psi)) + 2\gamma (1 + 2\phi) f(\psi) \Box \psi + 2\nabla_0 \nabla_0 f(\psi) - \kappa^2 \rho.(5.41) \right)$$

The Christoffel connection component is given by $\Gamma_{00}^r \approx \partial_r \phi = \nabla_r \phi$. I will take the spatial components of the Einstein's equations as given by the standard Newtonian approach as it is explained in the standard textbooks. In such a case, I will take the Ricci tensor and the curvature scalars as

$$R^{(1)} = 2R_{00}^{(1)} \approx \Box g_{00} = \Box h_{00} = -2\Box\phi \approx -4(\nabla\phi) \cdot (\nabla\phi) - 2\nabla_M^2\phi - 4\phi\nabla_M^2\phi.$$
(5.42)

Note that we are just rewriting the result (5.32) for the case of a static potential. Note also that in the standard Newtonian approach $\Box h_{00} = \nabla_M^2 h_{00}$, where the subindex M makes reference to the Minkowskian case. However, in this case I consider the expansion up to second order and it includes the curvature effects obtained from the Christoffel connections. In principle, the scalar curvature and the Ricci tensor when expanded up to second order are given by

$$R \approx R^{(1)} + R^{(2)}, \quad R_{\mu\nu} \approx R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} + R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (5.43)

Up to first order, then the approximation $\psi = -2\phi$ is valid in agreement with eq. (5.42) and the Lagrange multiplier condition. On the other hand, eq. (5.41) expanded up to second order is equivalent to

$$\nabla_M^2 \phi \approx \mu^{-1} (\kappa^2 \rho - \Lambda) - \mu^{-1} \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla \phi (4\omega), \qquad (5.44)$$

where $\mu(\phi)$ and ω are defined by

$$\mu(\phi) = 2(1 + 2f(\psi)(1 + 3\phi - 2\gamma - 8\phi\gamma) + 3\phi), \quad \omega = 1 + 2f(\psi)\left(1 - \frac{3}{4}\gamma\right).$$
(5.45)

We can observe that eq. (5.44) has the same form of eq. (5.36) which describes the MONDian dynamics. There is however a fundamental difference since in the non-local model, μ defined in eq. (5.45) is just a function of the potential rather than a function of the acceleration $(|\nabla \phi|)$ as in the case of the MONDian dynamics. For the weak field approximation, eqs. (5.45) are

$$\mu(\phi) \approx 2(1 + 2f_0(1 + 3\phi - 2\gamma - 8\phi\gamma) + 3\phi - 4\gamma f_0\phi(1 - 2\gamma)), \quad \omega \approx 1 + 2f_0\left(1 - \frac{3}{4}\gamma\right).$$
(5.46)

5.6 Explicit solutions for ϕ and μ

I will compute the explicit solutions for μ and ϕ in agreement with the equation (5.44). Then different regimes will be explored (different values for γ) and I will identify some special values for γ . It is simpler to start by solving μ . For that purpose we have to find the solutions for the following equations in agreement with the result (5.46) for the weak field approximation

$$\nabla \mu = -4\nabla \phi \left((-3 + 8\gamma)f_0 - \frac{3}{2} + 2f_0\gamma(1 - 2\gamma) \right),$$
(5.47)

$$\nabla^2 \mu = -4\nabla^2 \phi \left((-3+8\gamma)f_0 - \frac{3}{2} + 2f_0\gamma(1-2\gamma) \right).$$
 (5.48)

Then we can write eq. (5.44) in terms of μ . In vacuum the result is

$$\mu \nabla_M^2 \mu \approx C \nabla \mu \cdot \nabla \mu, \tag{5.49}$$

where we have defined C as

$$C = \frac{\omega}{\left((-3+8\gamma)f_0 - \frac{3}{2} + 2f_0\gamma(1-2\gamma)\right)}.$$
(5.50)

The general solution for μ is given by

$$\mu(r) = A \left(\frac{-1+C}{r} + B\right)^{\frac{1}{1-C}}.$$
(5.51)

Note that this solution is valid for $C \neq 1$. As C = 1, eq. (5.49) becomes

$$\mu \nabla_M^2 \mu \approx \nabla \mu \cdot \nabla \mu. \tag{5.52}$$

The solution for this equation is

$$\mu(r) = De^{-E/r}.$$
(5.53)

5.6.1 Solutions for μ and ϕ for special values of γ

There are different possible solutions for ϕ and μ in agreement with the results obtained in the previous section. In vacuum and ignoring the cosmological constant Λ , we can write the equation (5.44) as follows

$$\mu \nabla_M^2 \phi = C(\nabla \phi) \cdot (\nabla \mu), \qquad (5.54)$$

where we have used the results obtained in eq. (5.47) and the definition (5.50). I will analyze some relevant results summarized in the following table

Table 5.1. Relevant values for e as a function of the parameter f and w		
С	γ	ω
0	∞	$-\infty$
0	$-\infty$	∞
1	$\frac{23f_0 - \sqrt{f_0}\sqrt{-160 + 209f_0}}{16f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{32} \left(23f_0 - \sqrt{f_0} \sqrt{-160 + 209f_0} \right)$
1	$\frac{23f_0 + \sqrt{f_0}\sqrt{-160 + 209f_0}}{16f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{32} \left(23f_0 + \sqrt{f_0} \sqrt{-160 + 209f_0} \right)$
-1	$\frac{17f_0 + \sqrt{f_0}\sqrt{-32 + 225f_0}}{16f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{32} \left(17f_0 + \sqrt{f_0} \sqrt{-32 + 225f_0} \right)$
-1	$\frac{17f_0 - \sqrt{f_0}\sqrt{-32 + 225f_0}}{16f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{32} \left(17f_0 - \sqrt{f_0} \sqrt{-32 + 225f_0} \right)$
∞	$\frac{5f_0 + \sqrt{-6f_0 + 13f_0^2}}{4f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{8} \left(5f_0 + \sqrt{-6f_0 + 13f_0^2} \right)$
$-\infty$	$\frac{5f_0 - \sqrt{-6f_0 + 13f_0^2}}{4f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{8} \left(5f_0 - \sqrt{-6f_0 + 13f_0^2} \right)$
0	$\frac{2}{3f_0} + \frac{4}{3}$	0
Min	$\frac{8+16f_0-\sqrt{2}\sqrt{32+35f_0-58f_0^2}}{12f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{24} \left(8 + 16f_0 - \sqrt{2}\sqrt{32 + 35f_0 - 58f_0^2} \right)$
Max	$\frac{8+16f_0+\sqrt{2}\sqrt{32+35f_0-58f_0^2}}{12f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{24} \left(8 + 16f_0 + \sqrt{2}\sqrt{32 + 35f_0 - 58f_0^2} \right)$
$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{13f_0 - \sqrt{-56f_0 + 57f_0^2}}{8f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{16} \left(13f_0 - \sqrt{-56f_0 + 57f_0^2} \right)$
$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{13f_0\!+\!\sqrt{-56f_0\!+\!57f_0^2}}{8f_0}$	$1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{16} \left(13f_0 + \sqrt{-56f_0 + 57f_0^2} \right)$

Table 5.1: Relevant values for C as a function of the parameter γ and ω

Here Min and Max correspond to a local minimum and a local maximum respectively for the parameter C as can be easily verified. If we replace the result (5.51) inside the definition of μ given in eq. (5.45), we then obtain the solution for ϕ consistent with eq. (5.52). Up to first order, the result is

$$\phi = A(\gamma) \left(\frac{-1+C}{r} + B\right)^{\frac{1}{1-C}} - 2 \left(\frac{1+2f_0(1-2\gamma)}{2(3+2f_0(3-10\gamma+4\gamma^2))}\right),$$
(5.55)

where $A(\gamma)$ is defined as

$$A(\gamma) = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right)\frac{C}{\omega}.$$
(5.56)

The same result for the case C = 1 is

$$\phi = A(\gamma)e^{-D/r} - 2\left(\frac{1+2f_0(1-2\gamma)}{2(3+2f_0(3-10\gamma+4\gamma^2))}\right),\tag{5.57}$$

where D is just another integration constant and ω has to be evaluated for the case C = 1. The case C = 1 corresponds to two different values for the parameter γ as can be seen from Table 5.1. The equations (5.55) and (5.57) can be rewritten in a compact form as

$$\phi = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right)\left(\frac{C}{\omega}\right)\left(\frac{-1+C}{r}+B\right)^{\frac{1}{1-C}} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{C}{\omega}\right)\left(1+2f_0(1-2\gamma)\right),\tag{5.58}$$

$$\phi = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right)\left(\frac{1}{\omega}\right)e^{-D/r} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{\omega}\right)\left(1 + 2f_0(1 - 2\gamma)\right).$$
(5.59)

In both cases, the condition $\omega \neq 0$ is satisfied. If $\omega = 0$, then C can take three different values in agreement with the Table 5.1. The standard Newtonian behavior is recovered for the case $C = 0 = \omega$. There will be values of γ for which the potential ϕ will be attractive and other values for which it will be repulsive.

5.6.2 Special cases for different values of the parameter γ and the ghost-free condition

If we calculate the gradient of the potential ϕ . Without loss of generality, we can set B = 0 for the cases $C \neq -1$ since this constant does not affect the dynamics at large distances. If we calculate the gradient from eq. (5.55) as B = 0, we get

$$\nabla \phi = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right) \left(\frac{C}{\omega}\right) \left(\frac{-1+C}{r}\right)^{\frac{C}{1-C}} \frac{1}{r^2},\tag{5.60}$$

for $C \neq -1$. This potential can be attractive or repulsive depending of the value of the ratio $\frac{C}{\omega}$ and the relative sign of C with respect to -1 for the terms inside the parenthesis. On the other hand, the gradient for the case C = 1 is taken from eq. (5.59) and it is given by

$$\nabla \phi = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right) \left(\frac{D}{\omega}\right) \left(\frac{e^{-D/r}}{r^2}\right),\tag{5.61}$$

which is attractive or repulsive depending on the sign of ω .

5.6.3 The relevant cases for the potential

If we take into account that dynamically the potential satisfies the condition $\vec{\nabla}\phi = \frac{v^2}{r}$, where v is the magnitude of the velocity, then a flat rotation curve for a galaxy can be reproduced only if $\nabla\phi \propto \frac{1}{r}$. But it seems that in this case the behavior is not reproduced for any value of the parameter C. From eq. (5.60), it is clear that the Newtonian behavior is reproduced as C = 0. For a well behaved solution, from the table 5.1, we can see that in such a case, $\omega = 0$. From eq. (5.50), the relation $\frac{C}{\omega}$, then becomes

$$\frac{C}{\omega} = \frac{1}{\frac{29}{9}f_0 - \frac{35}{18} - \frac{16}{9f_0}} = \frac{0}{0},\tag{5.62}$$

where we have introduced the appropriate value for γ taken from the table 5.1. If we replace this condition inside eq. (5.60), we then obtain

$$\nabla\phi = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right)\left(\frac{1}{\frac{29}{9}f_0 - \frac{35}{18} - \frac{16}{9f_0}}\right)\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right) = -\frac{GM}{r^2},\tag{5.63}$$

where we have imposed the Newtonian limit condition. We have to satisfy

$$GM = \left(\frac{A}{4}\right) \left(\frac{1}{-\frac{29}{9}f_0 + \frac{35}{18} + \frac{16}{9f_0}}\right).$$
 (5.64)

Then equation (5.59), for the full potential becomes

$$\phi = -\frac{GM}{r} + \frac{15f_0}{32 - 29f_0},\tag{5.65}$$

where we have replaced the appropriate values for the constant term in eq. (5.59). From the previous equations, it is clear that if we want to reproduce the appropriate Newtonian behavior, then the constant A has to satisfy

$$A = 4GM\left(-\frac{29}{9}f_0 + \frac{35}{18} + \frac{16}{9f_0}\right).$$
(5.66)

The remaining constant term is not important in order to obtain the Newtonian behavior. It is just a constant quantity which can be ignored for the computations.

5.6.4 The case C = 1

The case C = 1 is extremely relevant since it looks like a Yukawa potential. If we replace the appropriate value for γ and ω from the Table 5.1, then we can write the equation (5.61) like

$$\nabla\phi = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right)\frac{D}{\left(1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{32}\left(23f_0 - \sqrt{f_0}\sqrt{-160 + 209f_0}\right)}\frac{e^{-D/r}}{r^2},\tag{5.67}$$

where we have used the first value for ω corresponding to C = 1. For the second value of ω corresponding to C = 1, we can obtain the following result

$$\nabla\phi = -\left(\frac{A}{4}\right)\frac{D}{\left(1 - 2f_0 - \frac{3}{32}\left(23f_0 + \sqrt{f_0}\sqrt{-160 + 209f_0}\right)}\frac{e^{-D/r}}{r^2}.$$
(5.68)

The form of this solution suggests that the behavior of this potential is approximately Newtonian as the exponential factor tends to 1. The attractive or repulsive character of this solution depends on the values taken by f_0 .

5.6.5 The case C = -1

The case C = -1 is perhaps the most interesting for our present purpose. This case is interesting since the field equation (5.54) becomes

$$\mu \nabla^2 \phi = -\nabla \phi \cdot \nabla \mu. \tag{5.69}$$

This equation has can be written as

$$\nabla \cdot (\mu \nabla \phi) = 0. \tag{5.70}$$

In vacuum, this has the same structure as the equation (5.7). With the difference that in the non-local model the interpolating function μ is a function of the potential itself, rather than a function of its gradient as MOND suggests. The case C = -1 requires $B \neq 0$ and $B > \frac{2}{r}$ in eq. (5.55), otherwise the potential in such a case becomes complex.

5.7 A comparison with other models

The non-local model analyzed in this manuscript is able to reproduce the equation (5.44) with the definitions (5.45). This equation (after some arrangements) is similar to eq. (5.6) or (5.36) which is obtained from the AQUAL Lagrangian (5.5). However, the present model cannot reproduce the same dynamics due to MOND since the predicted interpolating function μ is a function of the potential (ϕ), rather than a function of the acceleration ($|\nabla \phi|$) as can be observed from eq. (5.45) and the fact that $f(\psi) = f_0 e^{\gamma \psi}$ with $\psi = -2\phi$. This previous relation is precisely the source of the problem for reproducing MOND appropriately. In [75], it has been demonstrated that in order to reproduce the MONDian dynamics, it is necessary to add to the Einstein-Hilbert action, a Lagrangian such that it cancels the quadratic parts of the action and also provides some additional terms whose variations are

$$\frac{c^2}{2a_0r^2}((rb'(r))^2)' = \frac{8\pi G\rho}{c^4},$$
(5.71)

$$\frac{c^2}{a_0 r^3} (krb'(r) - a(r))^2 = 0, (5.72)$$

where a(r) and b(r) are given by

$$a(r) \equiv A(r) - 1, \quad b(r) \equiv B(r) - 1,$$
 (5.73)

with a static, spherically symmetric geometry defined by

$$ds^{2} = -B(r)c^{2}dt^{2} + A(r)dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}.$$
(5.74)

The key point in the work performed in [75] is to change how the potentials depend upon the source without changing how they depend each other. In fact, the relation between the linearized potentials is given by

$$a(r) \approx rb'(r). \tag{5.75}$$

This relation is necessary in order to reproduce the appropriate amount of weak lensing consistent with the data. In the standard formalism of General Relativity, the linearized potentials take the form

$$rb'(r) \approx \frac{2GM(r)}{c^2r},$$
(5.76)

but in the MONDian regime, the following relation has to be satisfied

$$rb'(r) \to \frac{2\sqrt{a_0 GM(r)}}{c^2}.$$
 (5.77)

The MOND Lagrangian which cancels the quadratic terms of the Einstein-Hilbert action and also reproduces the results (5.71) and (5.72) is [75]

$$\mathcal{L}_{MOND} \to \frac{c^4}{16\pi G} \left(rab'(r) - \frac{a^2(r)}{2} + O(h^3) \right) \\ + \frac{c^2}{a_0} \left(\frac{\alpha a^3(r)}{r} + \beta a^2(r)b'(r) + \gamma ra(r)b'^2(r) + \delta r^2 b'^3(r) + O(h^4) \right) \right).$$
(5.78)

The first line of this Lagrangian, just cancels the Einstein-Hilbert action terms given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{EH} = \frac{c^4}{16\pi G} R \sqrt{-g} \to \frac{c^4}{16\pi G} \left(-ra(r)b'(r) + \frac{a^2(r)}{2} + O(h^3) \right),$$
(5.79)

where the right-hand side (after the arrow) is obtained after integration by parts and here we ignore total derivative terms. Note that for the total Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{EH} + \mathcal{L}_{MOND}$, the Einstein-Hilbert terms vanishes. It has been demonstrated in [75] that no local invariant Lagrangian can reproduce the cubic terms of the MONDian action (5.78). The reason is that the curvature tensor and its possible contractions, can only reproduce terms involving two derivatives acting on one or more weak fields in the following way [75]

$$(Curvature)^N \sim (h'')^N + O((h')^2(h'')^{N-1}).$$
 (5.80)

On the other hand, the MOND corrections in eq. (5.78), involve powers of just one derivative acting on a single weak field like

$$\mathcal{L}_{MOND} \sim \frac{c^4 r^2}{16\pi G} \left((h')^2 + \frac{c^2}{a_0} (h')^3 + O(h^4) \right), \tag{5.81}$$

is in this part where the model proposed in [9] fails. In [7], it was explained that the nonlocalities enter through the function $f(\psi)$ with the Lagrange multiplier condition $R = \Box \psi$ (with $-2\phi = \psi$). In such a case, then the non-localities will enter as an algebraic expansion of the potentials. This can be seen in eq. (5.45) and the action (5.19) if we take into account that $f(\psi) = f_0 e^{\gamma \psi}$. If we want to reproduce the MONDian dynamics, one possibility is for example to expand the function $f(\psi)$ around the scale defined as the geometric average of the gravitational radius and the inverse of the acceleration scale a_0 characteristic of MOND, the scale is $r_0 = \sqrt{\frac{GM}{a_0}}$. In such a case, we would get $f(\psi) \approx f_0 + f_0 \gamma(\nabla \psi)_{r=r_0}$. But doing this expansion just breaks the nature of the model since in such a case, we are imposing by hand the scale at which the MONDian regime applies rather than obtaining it. The model proposed here cannot reproduce the form for the Lagrangian (5.78) or (5.81) in a natural way. In [75], the non-localities are used in order to reduce the number of derivatives for the weak fields and particular components for the curvature are selected by using a time-like 4-vector obtained from the gradient of the invariant volume of the past light cone (see [75] for details). The reduction of the number of derivatives is the appropriate such that the MONDian Lagrangians (5.78) or (5.81) with only a single derivative of the weak fields can be reproduced. Remember that the standard Einstein-Hilbert Lagrangian can only reproduce powers of two derivatives acting on weak fields. In the model analyzed in [7], the extra terms of the action do not have derivative terms (only algebraic relations are found).

Another attempt for reproducing MOND by using non-localities is done in [76]. In such a case, the model can reproduce galaxy rotation curves but not the observed gravitational lenses. The model in [76] proposes a Lagrangian given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{c^4}{16\pi G} (R + c^{-4} a_0^2 F(c^4 a_0^{-2} g^{\mu\nu} \epsilon_{,\mu} \epsilon_{,\nu})) \sqrt{-g}, \qquad (5.82)$$

where ϵ is the small potential as it is defined in [76]. The main point here is that an interpolating function F(x) is introduced since the beginning and MOND is embedded inside this Lagrangian under the assumption that at small x the MONDian dynamics appear. The factor inside the interpolating function is a kinetic term for the small potential and it makes easier to recover the MONDian dynamics. This is the main difference with respect to the model proposed in this manuscript where, as has been said before, the non-localities are introduced as algebraic expansion of the potential. If we want to mimic in some sense the model suggested in [76], we would have to expand the function $f(\psi)$ around the neighborhood of some imposed scale as has been explained before in this section. The model in [76] also proposes the same relation (5.77) but it cannot reproduce the appropriate lenses without the dark matter assumption.

Chapter 6 Conclusions

In this thesis I started from the most basic formulation of gravity, namely, the Einstein-Hilbert action with cosmological constant expanded up to second order. From the massive gravity point of view, this corresponds to the most basic potential without any interaction between the fiducial and the dynamical metric. I then analyzed the propagation of gravitational waves inside this formalism. The purpose is to show the type of physics that can be analyzed in these formulations. The gravitational waves will be the most important discovery in the forthcoming decades, providing a new window to physics. The discovery of stochastic background of gravitational waves for example, will provide evidence for physics at the highest energies ever reached by any accelerator.

Later I analyzed the Fierz-Pauli theory for massive gravitons and after a brief explanation of the number of degrees of freedom, I explained the origin of the vDVZ discontinuity, the first pathology found inside massive gravity. This was in fact the first motivation for working around the non-linear theory of massive gravity. It was Vainshtein who suggested that the vDVZ discontinuity was a consequence of working at the linear level. He then found the Vainshtein mechanism as a non-linear effect able to screen the additional attractive force due to the coupling of the scalar component of the graviton with the trace of the energy-momentum tensor. Then the theory became satisfactory for the solar system test. Later Boulware and Deser discovered by using the ADM formulation [80] that the non-linearities activate a sixth mode inside the theory. This is the so-called Boulware-Deser ghost. One of the most difficult pathologies found in this formulation. It took many years to solve it. It was de-Rham and Gabadadze whose solved the problem initially at the decoupling limit up to quintic order, and later with the collaboration of Tolley at all orders. They basically tuned the coefficients of the potential in the action such that the terms able to reproduce a ghost when combined with other terms of the action coming from higher order contributions, become total derivatives. Then any evidence of a ghost will never appear in the equation of motions. This is the so-called dRGT theory. Later Hassan and colleagues were able to demonstrate that this tune is successful even outside decoupling limit. Many people then began to work around this subject and Hassan was able to propose an extension of the theory by allowing the fiducial metric to be dynamical. Remember that in its generic form, the non-linear formulation for massive gravity requires a fiducial metric in order to get the 5 degrees of freedom consistent with a massive gravity formulation.

Later some black hole solutions were found inside this formulation and in bi-gravity. In bi-gravity some authors analyzed the stability of black holes and they found the Gregory-Laflamme instability. However, Cardoso and colleagues found that there is a point where the instability disappears. This happens when the graviton mass takes some specific value in agreement with the partially massless regime. The special point is known as the Higuchi limit. It has been recently confirmed by Babichev, inspired in the work showed here that the instability is completely absent (independent of the mass value) when the fiducial metric becomes Minkowski.

In this thesis, we analyzed (in collaboration with Prof. Kodama) the stability of black holes inside the dRGT formulation of massive gravity. This analysis is in fact more difficult than the one performed by Babichev, Cardoso et- al. The reason is that in bi-gravity formulations, the two metrics are normally taken to be the same (although their perturbations might be different) and this means that at the background level, everything looks like Einstein gravity and you can take the background solutions from General Relativity.

In our analysis, we first looked for the parameter relation for which the non-linear massive gravity theory admits the Schwarzschild-de Sitter black hole as an exact solution systematically. We found that when the parameters satisfy the relation $\beta = \alpha^2$, there exists a family of solutions parameterized by an arbitrary function $T_0(t,r)$, which are isomorphic to the Schwarzschild-de Sitter spacetime but are not equivalent if the configuration of the Stückelberg fields are taken into account. We next investigated the perturbative stability of this family of Schwarzschild-de Sitter-type black holes in the framework of the dRGT formulation of the non-linear massive gravity with $\beta = \alpha^2$. We found that the perturbative equations derived from the field equations of the dRGT theory become identical to the perturbations equation for the vacuum Einstein theory with cosmological constant if we take into account the consistency condition obtained from the field equations by the Bianchi identity. This consistency condition is essentially equivalent to the field equation for the Stückelberg field. This implies that the Schwarzschild-de Sitter black hole solution is stable in the non-linear massive gravity theory at least in the linear perturbation level, in contrast to the bi-Schwarzschild solution in the bi-metric theory. In spite of this stability result, we found a pathological feature of the black hole solution in the dRGT theory with the parameter relation $\beta = \alpha^2$; the general solution to the perturbation equations contains an arbitrary function of the spacetime coordinates. This implies that the predictability of dynamics is lost at least in the linear perturbation level around this black hole solution. This degeneracy can be removed by coordinate transformations if we neglect the Stückelberg fields. Hence, the pathology appears to come from the dynamics of the Stückelberg fields. Because the Schwarzschild-de Sitter black hole becomes an exact solution only when the higher-order mass terms exist, there is a possibility that this pathology might be removed in the non-linear level of perturbations. Finally, I analyzed another attempt to modify gravity in order to explain the necessary ingredients which a theory requires if we want to reproduce dark matter effects. I selected a non-local model proposed by Nojiri, Odintsov and later used by Sasaki and colleagues. My intention was to reproduce the galactic dynamics in agreement with the compact expression provided by MOND (Modified Newtonian Dynamics). I found that the model cannot reproduce the dynamics because the interpolating function μ is scale-dependent contrary with what is expected from MOND. The non-local model in the present manuscript can reproduce some additional attractive effects for some range of the parameter γ . The model cannot reproduce the MONDian dynamics without a strong tunning of the parameters. However, it can reproduce the AQUAL field equations with a scale-dependent interpolating function μ for some special case given by C = -1. That case however, requires the additional condition $B > \frac{2}{r}$ everywhere. The reproduction of the AQUAL equations is in agreement with Milgrom and Bekenstein, the first step for getting a Relativistic version of MOND. Every attempt in modifying gravity in order to reproduce the MONDian dynamics, must reproduce equations like the AQUAL Lagrangian explained before in this manuscript. Further research is needed in order to see whether or not is viable to reproduce the dark matter effects in agreement with non-localities. Another alternatives for the introduction of non-localities have been explored in [75] and [76]. In [75], the non-localities were able to reproduce the MONDian dynamics and the appropriate gravitational lenses. In the case of [76], the non-localities could reproduce the dynamics but not the lenses.

Acknowledgement I would like to thank to HET group and Prof. Hosotani for giving me the chance of coming to Japan for doing PhD studies and the chance for doing this research in a free environment. I would like also to thank to Prof. Hideo Kodama for the collaboration in this final year. This collaboration helped me to increase my background and open my research to new topics. I would like also to thank to Misao Sasaki and Takahiro Tanaka for the discussions during conferences and lunch seminars, as well as the chance for attending many conferences at YITP. Additionally, I would like to thank to the following professors for the discussions during conferences and correspondences: Gregory Gabadadze, Ruth Gregory, Robert Brandenberger, Jacob Bekenstein, Hagen Kleinert, Stanley Deser, Cedric Deffayet, Achim Kempf, Lee Smolin, Gia Dvali, Herman Verlinde, Shinji Tsujikawa, Vitor Cardoso, Bangalore Sathyaprakash and Claudia de Rham.

Appendix A Second order expansion for the Λ term

As I explained inside the text, the simplest possible potential keeping the same degrees of freedom as in the case of General Relativity is that equivalent to a cosmological constant term as has been derived in [30]

$$\sqrt[2]{\bar{g}} = \sqrt[2]{gdet(\delta_{\nu}{}^{\alpha} + h_{\nu}{}^{\alpha})}.$$
(A.1)

We must solve first the determinant of the right hand side; using then the general formula for the development of a determinant, we get

$$Det(T^{\alpha}_{\ \beta}) = [\mu\nu\rho\sigma]T^{\mu}_{\ 0}T^{\nu}_{\ 1}T^{\rho}_{\ 2}T^{\sigma}_{\ 3}, \tag{A.2}$$

$$det(\delta_{\nu}^{\ \alpha} + h_{\nu}^{\ \alpha}) = \begin{vmatrix} 1 + h_{0}^{0} & h_{1}^{0} & h_{2}^{0} & h_{3}^{0} \\ h_{0}^{1} & 1 + h_{1}^{1} & h_{2}^{1} & h_{3}^{1} \\ h_{0}^{2} & h_{1}^{2} & 1 + h_{2}^{2} & h_{3}^{2} \\ h_{0}^{3} & h_{1}^{3} & h_{2}^{3} & 1 + h_{3}^{3} \end{vmatrix} .$$
(A.3)

If we develope in detail the determinant, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \det(\delta_{\nu}{}^{\alpha} + h_{\nu}{}^{\alpha}) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0123 \end{bmatrix} (1 + h_{0}^{0})(1 + h_{1}^{1})(1 + h_{2}^{2})(1 + h_{3}^{3}) + \begin{bmatrix} 0213 \end{bmatrix} (1 + h_{0}^{0})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{2}^{1})(h_{2}^{2})(1 + h_{3}^{3}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 0132 \end{bmatrix} (1 + h_{0}^{0})(h_{1}^{1})(1 + h_{2}^{2})(h_{3}^{1}) + \begin{bmatrix} 0231 \end{bmatrix} (1 + h_{0}^{0})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2})(h_{3}^{1}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 00321 \end{bmatrix} (1 + h_{0}^{0})(h_{1}^{3})(1 + h_{2}^{2})(h_{3}^{1}) + \begin{bmatrix} 0031 \end{bmatrix} (1 + h_{0}^{0})(h_{1}^{3})(h_{2}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1023 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{1})(h_{1}^{0})(h_{1}^{2})(1 + h_{3}^{2})(1 + h_{3}^{3}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1032 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{1})(h_{1}^{0})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1023 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{1})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2})(h_{3}^{0}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1203 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{1})(h_{2}^{2})(1 + h_{3}^{3}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{1})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{1})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2})(h_{3}^{1}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 12013 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{2})(h_{1}^{0})(h_{1}^{2})(1 + h_{3}^{3}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1203 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{2})(h_{1}^{1})(h_{2}^{2})(h_{3}^{1}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1230 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{2})(h_{1}^{3})(h_{2}^{0})(h_{3}^{1}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1230 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{2})(h_{1}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{0}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1230 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{2})(h_{1}^{3})(h_{2}^{0})(h_{3}^{1}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1230 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{2})(h_{1}^{3})(h_{2}^{1})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1301 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{2})(h_{1}^{3})(h_{2}^{2})(h_{3}^{1}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{0}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) + \begin{bmatrix} 1302 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{1}^{2})(h_{3}^{2}) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 1320 \end{bmatrix} (h_{0}^{3})(h$$

Here $[\mu\nu\rho\beta]$ represents the Levi-Civita symbol, it will be 1 or -1 depending on the order of the indices; with that in mind and ignoring second order terms $O(h^2)$, we get

$$det(\delta_{\nu}^{\ \alpha} + h_{\nu}^{\ \alpha}) = 1 + h_{0}^{0}h_{1}^{1} + h_{0}^{0}h_{2}^{2} + h_{0}^{0}h_{3}^{3} + h_{1}^{1}h_{2}^{2} + h_{1}^{1}h_{3}^{3} + h_{2}^{2}h_{3}^{3} + h_{0}^{0} + h_{1}^{1} + h_{2}^{2} + h_{3}^{3} - h_{1}^{2}h_{1}^{1} - h_{3}^{3}h_{3}^{2} - h_{1}^{3}h_{3}^{1} - h_{0}^{1}h_{1}^{0} - h_{0}^{2}h_{2}^{0} - h_{0}^{3}h_{3}^{0}$$
(A.5)

We must take now the root square of determinant; then

$$\sqrt[2]{det(\delta_{\nu}{}^{\alpha} + h_{\nu}{}^{\alpha})} = (1 + h^{0}{}_{0}h^{1}{}_{1} + h^{0}{}_{0}h^{2}{}_{2} + h^{0}{}_{0}h^{3}{}_{3} + h^{1}{}_{1}h^{2}{}_{2} + h^{1}{}_{1}h^{3}{}_{3} + h^{2}{}_{2}h^{3}{}_{3} + h^{0}{}_{0} + h^{1}{}_{1}
+ h^{2}{}_{2} + h^{3}{}_{3} - h^{2}{}_{1}h^{1}{}_{2} - h^{3}{}_{2}h^{2}{}_{3} - h^{3}{}_{1}h^{1}{}_{3} - h^{1}{}_{0}h^{0}{}_{1} - h^{2}{}_{0}h^{0}{}_{2} - h^{3}{}_{0}h^{0}{}_{3})^{1/2}
. (A.6)$$

Executing now the expansion, we obtain

$$\sqrt[2]{det(\delta_{\nu}{}^{\alpha}+h_{\nu}{}^{\alpha})} = 1 + \frac{1}{2}h - \frac{1}{4}h^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}h^{\beta}{}_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{4}hh - \frac{1}{8}\left(h - \frac{1}{2}h^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}h^{\beta}{}_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}hh\right)^{2}.$$
 (A.7)

If we ignore higher order contributions, we get

$$\sqrt[2]{det(\delta_{\nu}{}^{\alpha} + h_{\nu}{}^{\alpha})} = 1 + \frac{1}{2}h - \frac{1}{4}h^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}h^{\beta}{}_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{8}hh.$$
(A.8)

Then we know already that the cosmological action is taken as [30]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Lambda} = \Lambda \sqrt[2]{gdet(\delta_{\nu}{}^{\alpha} + h_{\nu}{}^{\alpha})}.$$
(A.9)

From the final two equations, we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Lambda} = \Lambda \left(1 + \frac{1}{2}h - \frac{1}{4}h^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}h^{\beta}{}_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{8}hh \right).$$
(A.10)

Appendix B

Poynting vector average over big regions

Here I will show that the Poynting vectors, corresponding to a gravitational wave source, and the one corresponding to the Λ contribution can be added after performing an average over a big enough region of spacetime. I focus here in the case of massless theory (m = 0). The full solutions of gravitational radiation are

$$h_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu M} + h_{\mu\nu A},\tag{B.1}$$

where the subindex M means matter and the subindex Λ is related to the cosmological constant contribution. The solution can then be expressed as a superposition of plane waves due to matter and the background contribution given by

$$h_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu\nu} exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e^*_{\mu\nu} exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + h_{\mu\nu\Lambda}.$$
 (B.2)

For the sake of simplicity, I will omit the possible spatial dependence for the polarization tensors, that dependence is shown explicitly in the power definition in [29]. On the other hand, the dependence in frequency is not important at this moment since we can work with a single Fourier component and after the full solution is just a superposition of different modes. As far as the equations and solutions are linear, everything is safe. The different solutions obtained in section (2.1) are repeated here as

$$h_{00} = e_{00} exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e_{00}^{*} exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) - \Lambda t^{2},$$
(B.3)

$$h_{0i} = e_{0i} exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e_{0i}^{*} exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + \frac{2}{3}Atx_{i},$$
(B.4)

$$h_{ij} = e_{ij}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e_{ij}^{*}exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + \Lambda t^{2}\delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{3}\Lambda\epsilon_{ij},$$
(B.5)

where $\epsilon_{ij} = x_i x_j$ for $i \neq j$ and zero otherwise. The total Poynting vector is given by

$$\hat{t}_{0i} = t_{0i} - \frac{h_{0i}}{8\pi G} \Lambda.$$
(B.6)

The second term of this expression can be expanded as

$$\frac{h_{0i}}{8\pi G}\Lambda = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \left(e_{0i} exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + e_{0i}^* exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + \frac{2}{3}\Lambda tx_i \right) \Lambda.$$
(B.7)

If we average over a big enough space-time region, the terms proportional to $exp(\pm ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma})$ disappear, then

$$\left\langle \frac{h_{0i}}{8\pi G}\Lambda \right\rangle = \frac{1}{12\pi G} < \Lambda^2 t x_i > .$$
 (B.8)

For $\langle t_{0i} \rangle$, we only have to worry for evaluating terms of the form

$$<2\Lambda h_{0i}>=\left\langle 2\Lambda\left(e_{0i}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma})+e_{0i}^{*}exp(-ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma})+\frac{2}{3}\Lambda tx_{i}\right)\right\rangle =\frac{4}{3}\Lambda^{2}< tx_{i}>.$$
 (B.9)

The terms proportional to $exp(\pm ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma})$ are killed by the spacetime average. We have to prove that there are no interference terms between the cosmological constant solutions and the matter contributions in the second-order Ricci tensor given in (2.17); the 0-i component is given by

$$R_{0i}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{2}h^{\lambda\nu}(\partial_i\partial_0h_{\lambda\nu} - \partial_i\partial_\lambda h_{0\nu} - \partial_\nu\partial_0h_{\lambda i} + \partial_\nu\partial_\lambda h_{0i}) + \frac{1}{4}(2\partial_\nu h^\nu_{\ \sigma} - \partial_\sigma h)(\partial_ih^\sigma_{\ 0} + \partial_0h^\sigma_{\ i} - \partial^\sigma h_{0i}) - \frac{1}{4}(\partial_\lambda h_{\sigma i} + \partial_ih_{\sigma\lambda} - \partial_\sigma h_{\lambda i})(\partial^\lambda h^\sigma_{\ 0} + \partial_0h^{\sigma\lambda} - \partial^\sigma h^\lambda_{\ 0}).$$
(B.10)

After a moment of reflexion, the reader can convince him/herself that by replacing the full solutions given by eqns. (B.3), (B.4) and (B.5), inside eq. (B.10), gives us interference terms of the form

$$h_{\mu\nu\Lambda}\left(e_{\alpha\beta}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma})\right),\tag{B.11}$$

which average to zero for big enough regions of spacetime, as an example let's find the first term of the equation (B.10) as follows

$$R_{0i}^{(2)A} = -\frac{1}{2}h^{\lambda\nu}\partial_{i}\partial_{0}h_{\lambda\nu} = -\frac{1}{2}\left(h^{00}\partial_{i}\partial_{0}h_{00} + h^{ii}\partial_{i}\partial_{0}h_{ii} + 2h^{0j}\partial_{i}\partial_{0}h_{0j} + 2h^{kj}_{k\neq j}\partial_{i}\partial_{0}h_{kj}\right).$$
(B.12)

Explicitly, this expression becomes

$$h^{\lambda\nu}\partial_{i}\partial_{0}h_{\lambda\nu} = \left(e^{00}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + c.c - \Lambda t^{2}\right)\left(-e_{00}k_{i}k_{0}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) - c.c\right) + \left(e^{jj}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + c.c + \Lambda t^{2}\right) \times \left(-e_{jj}k_{i}k_{0}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) - c.c\right) + 2\left(e^{0j}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + c.c - \frac{2}{3}\Lambda tx_{j}\right)\left(-e_{0j}k_{0}k_{i}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) - c.c + \frac{2}{3}\Lambda\delta_{ij}\right) + 2\left(e^{kj}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) + c.c + \frac{1}{3}\Lambda x_{k}x_{j}\right)\left(-e_{kj}k_{0}k_{i}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) - c.c\right).$$
 (B.13)

If we develop the products and take the average over a big enough space-time region, then crossed terms between the polarization tensors proportional to $exp(\pm 2ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma})$ are obtained. These terms disappear after average. On the other hand, you can find crossed terms between polarization tensors and cosmological constant contributions as follows

$$\Lambda e_{00}k_ik_0t^2exp(ik_\sigma x^\sigma). \tag{B.14}$$

The average over space-time tells

$$\Lambda e_{00}k_ik_0 < t^2 exp(ik_\sigma x^\sigma) > . \tag{B.15}$$

The averaged term becomes

$$\langle t^2 exp(ik_\sigma x^\sigma) \rangle = \frac{1}{VT} \int d^4x t^2 exp(ik_\sigma x^\sigma) = \frac{1}{VT} \int d^4x t^2 exp(ik_0 x^0 + ik_j x^j),$$
 (B.16)

where V is the three-volume and T is the time of average. Thus

$$\langle t^{2}exp(ik_{\sigma}x^{\sigma}) \rangle = \frac{1}{VT} \int dt dx_{1} dx_{2} dx_{3} t^{2} exp(ik_{0}t) exp(ik_{1}x^{1}) exp(ik_{2}x^{2}) exp(ik_{3}x^{3}) = 0.$$
(B.17)

Since the integrals involving x_1 , x_2 and x_3 go to zero. It is simple to realize that every average term involving crossed terms will be of the form (B.17) or

$$\frac{1}{VT} \int d^4x x_1 texp(ik_\sigma x^\sigma) = \frac{1}{VT} \int dt dx_1 dx_2 dx_3 tx_1 exp(ik_0 t) exp(ik_1 x^1) exp(ik_2 x^2) exp(ik_3 x^3) = 0,$$
(B.18)

which vanishes since the integrals involving x_2 and x_3 go to zero. Then the total Poynting vector is just linear after average.

Appendix C

The other parameter choices admitting the Schwarzschild-de Sitter solution

In this appendix, we exhaust all possible choices of the parameters in which X becomes a constant multiple of the unit matrix as $m^2 X^{\mu}_{\nu} = \Lambda \delta^{\mu}_{\nu}$ assuming that the spacetime metric takes the spherically symmetric form (4.51) and the Stückelberg fields satisfy the unitary gauge condition (4.54). We use the same notations as in Section (4.3).

i). c = 0, a = b. In this case, the condition

$$X_{t}^{t} - X_{\theta}^{\theta} = (F_1 + aF_2)\left(a - 1 + \frac{1}{S}\right) = 0,$$
 (C.1)

implies a = 1 - 1/S or $a = -F_1/F_2$, if we exclude the case $F_1 = F_2 = 0$ discussed in Section (4.3). Then, from $X_t^t = \Lambda/m^2 = const$, if follows that S is constant. Hence, the metric must represent a flat spacetime and $\Lambda = 0$. Because the metric (4.25) with constant coefficients has vanishing curvature if

$$g_{(2)} = S^2 g_{tt} \equiv S^2 \{ (1-b)^2 - c^2 \} = 1,$$
 (C.2)

in general, in the present case, we obtain the constraint a = b = 1 - 1/S. The corresponding flat metric should have the form

$$ds^{2} = S^{2}(-dt^{2} + dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}).$$
 (C.3)

No constraint on α and β is required, but the value of S is restricted from the condition $X_t^t = 0$ to

$$S = 1, \ \frac{3\alpha + 2\beta \pm \sqrt{9\alpha^2 - 12\beta}}{2(3 + 3\alpha + \beta)}.$$
 (C.4)

The case $a = -F_1/F_2$ can be included in this solution as a special case.

ii). $c = 0, a \neq b$. In this case, we obtain $F_3 = 0$ from $X_t^t = X_r^r$, hence S must be constant.

From this it follows that $X_t^t = (1/S - 1)(F_1 + 1) = const.$ Next, from

$$0 = X_t^t - X_\theta^\theta = (F_1 + bF_2)(a - 1 + 1/S),$$
(C.5)

we obtain a = 1 - 1/S or $b = -F_1/F_2$, if we exclude the case $F_1 = F_2 = 0$ discussed Section (4.3). Because c = 0, T_0 should be a function only of t from (4.139). Hence, if a = 1 - 1/S = const, the metric should be flat because g_{tt} is constant from (4.67), (4.68), (4.69), (4.70) and (4.71). Then, from (C.2), we obtain b=1-1/S=a, contradicting the assumption. Next, when $b = -F_1/F_2 = const$, we find that the metric is flat and a is constant again. From $X_t^t = -(F_1 + 1)(1 - 1/S) = 0$, we obtain two constraints $F_1 = -1$, $F_2 = S/(S - 1)$ because S = 1 leads to $F_3 = 1$. This means that b = 1 - 1/S. This leads to the contradiction due to the regularity condition (C.2). Thus, this case has no other solution than those discussed in Section (4.3).

iii $c \neq 0, a = b$. In this case, $F_3 = 0$ is required, and from $X_t^t = const$, it follows that S is constant. Then, from

$$0 = X_t^t - X_{\theta}^{\theta} = F_2 \left\{ (a - 1 + 1/S)^2 + c^2 \right\},$$
(C.6)

we obtain $F_2 = 0$. Hence, this case is a special case of the case with $F_1 = F_2 = 0$ discussed in Section (4.3).

iv $c \neq 0, a \neq b$. Again, we obtain $F_3 = 0$ and S = const. If $F_2 = 0$, this case reduces to the class $F_1 = F_2 = 0$ discussed in Section (4.3). Next, when $F_2 \neq 0$, the constraint

$$0 = X_{\ t}^{t} - X_{\ \theta}^{\theta} = F_2\left((a - 1 + 1/S)(b - 1 + 1/S) + c^2\right),\tag{C.7}$$

leads to

$$0 = c^{2} + (1 - a - 1/S)(1 - b - 1/S) = c^{2} + (1 - a)(1 - b) - \frac{2 - a - b}{S} + \frac{1}{S^{2}}.$$
 (C.8)

This should be satisfied by a, b, c corresponding to the Schwarzschild-de Sitter metric

$$ds^{2} = -f(Sr)dT_{0}(t,r)^{2} + \frac{S^{2}dr^{2}}{f(Sr)} + S^{2}r^{2}d\Omega^{2}.$$
 (C.9)

From the general formula in Section (4.3), we obtain

$$c^{2} + (1-a)(1-b) = \frac{1}{S|T_{0}|},$$
 (C.10)

$$2 - a - b = M_1 = \frac{1}{S|\dot{T}_0|} \left(f\dot{T}_0^2 + \frac{S^2}{f} - f(T_0')^2 + 2S\dot{T}_0 \right)^{1/2}, \quad (C.11)$$

where $\dot{T}_0 = \partial_t T_0$, $T'_0 = \partial_r T_0$, and f = f(Sr) is understood. Inserting these into the above constraint, we obtain

$$(T'_0)^2 = \frac{1 - f(Sr)}{f(Sr)} \left(\frac{S^2}{f(Sr)} - \bar{T}_0^2\right).$$
(C.12)

Hence, in this case, no relation is imposed on α and β , but instead the gauge transformation function $T_0(t, r)$ is constrained. The value of S is determined by $F_3 = 0$ as

$$S = \frac{\alpha + \beta \pm \sqrt{\alpha^2 - \beta}}{1 + 2\alpha + \beta},\tag{C.13}$$

and the corresponding cosmological constant is given by

$$\Lambda = -m^2 \left(1 - \frac{1}{S}\right) \left(2 + \alpha - \frac{\alpha}{S}\right).$$
(C.14)

The condition $\Lambda \neq 0$ is given by

$$\beta \neq \frac{3}{4}\alpha^2 \equiv \Lambda \neq 0. \tag{C.15}$$

Note that (C.12) has a solution for T_0 locally with respect to r at most in general. One exception is the solution

$$T_0 = St \pm \int^{Sr} \left(\frac{1}{f(u)} - 1\right) du.$$
 (C.16)

Interestingly, this corresponds to a Finkelstein-type time coordinate which is regular at the future horizon or the past horizon.

Appendix D Explicit forms for δQ_1 , δQ_2 and δQ_3

$$\delta Q_1 = \frac{2(1+\alpha)}{\alpha} H_L Y + \frac{\mu^2}{2} \{ (a-1)^3 - c^2 (2a+b-3) \} h_{tt} + \frac{\alpha^2}{2(1+\alpha)^2} \{ -(b-1)^3 + c^2 (a+2b-3) \} h_{rr} + \frac{\alpha\mu}{(1+\alpha)} c \{ c^2 - (a^2+b^2+ab-3a-3b+3) \} h_{tr},$$
(D.1)

$$\delta Q_2 = -\frac{4(\alpha+1)}{\alpha^2} H_L Y + \mu^2 \{ c^4 - c^2 (3a^2 + b^2 + 2ab - 6a - 3b + 3) + a(a-1)^3 \} h_{tt} \\ + \frac{\alpha^2}{(1+\alpha)^2} \{ -c^4 + c^2 (a^2 + 3b^2 + 2ab - 3a - 6b + 3) - b(b-1)^3 \} h_{rr} \\ + \frac{2\mu\alpha}{1+\alpha} c \{ c^2 (2a+2b-3) - a^3 - b^3 - ab(a+b) + 3a^2 + 3b^2 + 3ab - 3a - 3b + 1 \} h_{tr},$$
(D.2)

$$\delta Q_{3} = \frac{6(\alpha+1)}{\alpha^{3}}H_{L}Y + \frac{3\mu^{2}}{2}\{c^{4}(3a+2b-3) - c^{2}(4a^{3}+b^{3}+2ab^{2}+3a^{2}b-9a^{2}-3b^{2} + 6a+3b-6ab-1) + a^{2}(a-1)^{3}\}h_{tt} \\ -\frac{3\alpha^{2}}{2(1+\alpha)^{2}}\{c^{4}(3b+2a-3) - c^{2}(4b^{3}+a^{3}+2ba^{2}+3b^{2}a-9b^{2}-3a^{2} + 6b-6ab+3a-1) + b^{2}(b-1)^{3}\}h_{rr} \\ +\frac{3\mu\alpha}{1+\alpha}c\{-c^{4}+c^{2}(3a^{2}+3b^{2}+4ab-6a-6b+3) - a^{4}-b^{4}-ab^{3}-a^{3}b-a^{2}b^{2}+3a^{3}+3b^{3}+3ab^{2}+3a^{2}b-3a^{2}-3b^{2}-3ab+a+b\}h_{tr}.$$
 (D.3)

Bibliography

- V. Sahni, Dark matter and dark energy, Lect.Notes Phys. 653, 141, (2004); J. Martin, Everything you always wanted yo know about the cosmological constant problem (But were afraid to ask), Comptes Rendus Physique 13, 566, (2012).
- [2] J. W. Moffat, Modified gravitational theory as an alternative to dark energy and dark matter, astro-ph/0403266; J. R. Brownstein and J. W. Moffat, Galaxy rotation curves without non-baryonic dark matter, Astrophys.J. 636, 721, (2006); J. W. Moffat, Scalartensor-vector gravity theory, JCAP 0603 (2006) 004; J. R. Brownstein and J. W. Moffat, Galaxy cluster masses without non-baryonic dark matter, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 367, 527, (2006).
- [3] C. Chicone, B. Mashhoon, Modified Poisson's equation, J.Math.Phys. 53, 042501, (2012);
 B. Mashhoon, Nonlocal Gravity, arXiv:1101.3752 [gr-qc]; H. J. Blome, C. Chiconeand,
 F. W. Hehl and B. Mashhoon, Nonlocal Modification of Newtonian Gravity, Phys.Rev. D81, 065020, (2010).
- [4] J. Frieman, M. Turner, D. Huterer, Dark Energy and the Accelerating Universe, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 46, 385, (2008); A. G. Riess, A. V. Filippenko, P. Challis, A. Clocchiattia, A. Diercks, P. M. Garnavich, R. L. Gilliland, C. J. Hogan, S. Jha, R. P. Kirshner, B. Leibundgut, M. M. Phillips, D. Reiss, B. P. Schmidt, R. A. Schommer, R. C. Smith, J. Spyromilio, C. Stubbs, N. B. Suntzeff, J. Tonry, Observational Evidence from Supernovae for an Accelerating Universe and a cosmological constant, Astron. J. 116, 1009, (1998).
- [5] Polarbear Collaboration, Ade, et. al. *Gravitational Lensing of Cosmic Microwave Back-ground Polarization*, arXiv:1312.6646v1.
- [6] S. Deser and R. P. Woodard, Nonlocal Cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, 111301 (2007).
- [7] Ivan Arraut, Can a non-local model of gravity reproduce dark matter e?ects in agreement with MOND?, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 23, No. 1 (2014).
- [8] S. Nojiri, S. D. Odintsov, M. Sasaki and Y. Zhang, Screening of cosmological constant in non-local gravity, Phys.Lett. B696, 278, (2011).
- [9] S. Nojiri and S. D. Odintsov, Modified non-local-F(R) gravity as the key for the inlation and dark energy, Phys. Phys. Lett. **B 659**, 821, (2008).

- [10] C. de Rham and G. Gabadadze, Generalization of the Fierz-Pauli action, Phys. Rev. D 82, 044020, (2010).
- [11] C. de Rham, G. Gabadadze and A. J. Tolley, *Resummation of massive gravity*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 231101, (2011).
- [12] E. Babichev and A. Fabbri, Instability of Black Holes in massive gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 30, 152001, (2013).
- [13] R. Brito, V. Cardoso and Paolo Pani, Partially massless gravitons do not destroy general relativity black holes, Phys.Rev. D87, 124024, (2013).
- [14] R. Brito, V. Cardoso and P. Pani, Massive spin-2 fields on black hole spacetimes: Instability of the Schwarzschild and Kerr solutions and bounds on the graviton mass, Phys. Rev. D88, 023514, (2013).
- [15] C. de Rham and S. R. Petel, Massive gravity on de-Sitter and unique candidate for partially massless gravity, J. Cosm. Astr. Phys 035, (2013); G. Gabadadze and A. Iglesias, General Massive Spin-2 on de-Sitter background, arXiv:0809.2996; G. Gabadadze and A. Iglesias, Special massive spin-2 on the de-Sitter space, JCP 0802, 030, (2008).
- [16] S. Deser, M. Sandora and A. Waldron, Non-linear Partially Massless from massive gravity?, Phys. Rev. D87, 101501, (2013); C. de Rham, K. Hinterbichler, R. A. Rosen and A. J. Tolley, Evidence for and obstruction to non-linear Partially Massless Gravity, Phys.Rev. D88 024003, (2013).
- [17] L. Berezhiani, G. Chkareuli, C. de Rham, G. Gabadadze and A. . Tolley, On black holes in massive gravity, Phys.Rev. D85 044024, (2012).
- [18] M. Milgrom, A Modification of the Newtonian Dynamics: Implications for Galaxy systems, Astrophys.J. 270 384, (1983).
- [19] M. Milgrom, A Modification of the Newtonian dynamics: Implications for galaxies, Astrophys. J. 270 371, (1983).
- [20] M. Milgrom, A Modification of the Newtonian dynamics as a possible alternative to the hidden mass hypothesis, Astrophys. J. 270 365, (1983).
- [21] J. D. Bekenstein, Relativistic gravitation theory for the MOND paradigm, Nucl.Phys. A827, 555C, (2009).
- [22] J. D. Bekenstein, Second Canadian Conference on General Relativity and Relativistic Astrophysics, A. Coley, C. Dyer and T. Tupper, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1988), p. 68.
- [23] J. D. Bekenstein and M. Milgrom, Does the missing mass problem signal the breakdown of Newtonian gravity?, Astrophys. Journ. 286, 7 (1984).

- [24] J. D. Bekenstein in Developments in General Relativity, Astrophysics and Quantum Theory, F. I. Cooperstock, L.P. Horwitz and J. Rosen, eds. (IOP Publishing, Bristol 1990), p. 156.
- [25] Ivan Arraut, About the propagation of the Gravitational Waves in an asymptotically de-Sitter space: Comparing two points of view, Mod.Phys.Lett. A 28, 1350019 (2013).
- [26] M. Nowakowski and I. Arraut, The fate of a gravitational wave in De-Sitter spacetime, Acta Phys. Polon. B 41 911-925 (2010).
- [27] D. G. Boulware and S. Deser, Can Gravitation Have a Finite Range?, Phys. Rev. D 6, 3368, (1972).
- [28] Carroll. S, Space-Time and Geometry, Ed. Addison Wesley, Chicago-Illinois, (2004), 205-322, 40, 376-422.
- [29] Weinberg. S, Gravitation and Cosmology: Principles and Applications of the general Theory of Relativity, Ed. Jhon Wiley & Sons Inc, New York, (1972),165-171; 251-262;46-47.
- [30] Veltman, M.J.G, Methods in field theory, Edited by; Balin, R and Zinn-Justin, J, Ed. Les Houches Lectures, Amsterdam-Netherlands, New York-USA,(1975),289-291.
- [31] J. Bernabeu, D. Espriu and D. Puigdomènech, Gravitational waves in the presence of a cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. D 84 063523 (2011).
- [32] G. Dvali, S. Hofmann and J. Khoury, Degravitation of the cosmological constant and Graviton Width, Phys. Rev. D. 76 084006, (2007).
- [33] B. S. Sathyaprakash and B. F. Schutz, *Physics, astophysics and cosmology with gravita*tional waves, Liv. Rev. Rel. 12, 2, (2009).
- [34] C. W. Misner, K. S. Thorne and J. A. Wheeler, *Gravitation*, W. H. Freeman and Company, (1973).
- [35] M. Shibata, K. Nakao, T. Nakamura and K. Maeda, Dynamical evolution of Gravitational Waves in asymptotically de-Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 50 708-719 (1994).
- [36] J. Bičák and J. Podolský, The cosmic no-hair conjecture and black-hole formation: an exact model with gravitational radiation, Phys. Rev. D 52, 887 (1995).
- [37] J. Bičák and J. Podolský, Global structure of Robinson-Trautman radiative spacetimes with cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. D 55, 1985 (1997).
- [38] J. Bičák and J. Podolský, Gravitational Waves in vacuum spacetimes with cosmological constant. II. Deviation of geodesics and interpretation of nontwisting type N solutions, J.M.P 40, 4506 (1999).

- [39] B. Allen, The stochastic gravity-wave background: sources and detection, Les Houches 1995, Relativistic gravitation and gravitational radiation, 373; M. Maggiore, Gravitational Wave Experiments and Early Universe Cosmology, Phys. Rept. 331 (2000) 283; S. Capozziello, C. Corda and M. De Laurentis, Stochastic background of gravitational waves "tuned" by f(R) gravity, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 22, 1097, (2007); S. Capozziello, C. Corda and M. De Laurentis, Stochastic background of of relic scalar gravitational waves from scalar-tensor gravity, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 22, 2647 (2007).
- [40] V. A. Rubakov and P. G. Tinyakov, Infrared-modified gravities and massive gravitons, Phys. Usp. 51, 759 (2008)
- [41] K. Hinterbichler, Theoretical aspects of massive gravity, Phys. Rev. D 84, 671 (2012).
- [42] M.Fierz and W.Pauli, On relativistic wave equations for particles of arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 173, 211 (1939); W. Pauli and M. Fierz, On Relativistic field equations of particles with arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field, Helv. Phys. Acta 12 297, (1939); M. Fierz Helv. Phys. Acta 12 3, (1939).
- [43] E. Babichev and C. Deffayet, An introduction to the Vainshtein mechanism, Class. Quantum Grav. 30, 184001, (2013).
- [44] H. Van Dam and M. G. Veltman, Massive and massless Yang-Mills and gravitational field J G Nucl. Phys. B 22 397, (1970); V. I. Zakharov, Linearized gravitation theory and the graviton mass JETP Lett. 12 312, (1970); Y. Iwasaki, Consistency Condition for Propagators Phys. Rev. D 2 2255, (1970).
- [45] M. Porrati, No van Dam-Veltman-Zakharov discontinuity in AdS space Phys. Lett. B 498 92, (2001).
- [46] E. C. G. Stückelberg, Helv. Phys. Acta 30, 209, (1957).
- [47] C. Fronsdal, Smooth massless limit of field theories, Nucl. Phys. B167, 237, (1980).
- [48] T. Kugo and N. Ohta, Covariant Approach to the No-ghost Theorem in massive gravity, arXiv:1401.3873v1[hep-th].
- [49] A. I. Vainshtein, To the problem of nonvanishing gravitation mass, Phys. Lett. B 39, 393, (1972).
- [50] D. G. Boulware, and S. Deser, Can Gravitation Have a Finite Range?, Phys. Rev. D 6, 3368, (1972).
- [51] S. F. Hassan and R. A. Rosen, Resolving the ghost problem in Non-linear massive gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 041101, (2012).
- [52] N. Arkani-Hamed, H. Georgi and M. D. Schwartz, Effective Field Theory for Massive Gravitons and Gravity in Theory Space, Ann. Phys. 305, 96, 2003.

- [53] T. Damour and I. I. Kogan, Effective Lagrangians and universality classes of nonlinear bigravity, Phys. Rev. D. 66, 104024, (2002).
- [54] S. L. Bażański and V. Ferrari, Analytic Extension of the Schwarzschild-de Sitter Metric, Il Nuovo Cimento Vol. 91 B, N. 1, 11 Gennaio (1986).
- [55] I. Arraut, D. Batic and M. Nowakowski, Comparing two approaches to Hawking radiation of Schwarzschild-de Sitter Black Holes, Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009), 125006.
- [56] R. Bousso and S. W. Hawking, Pair creation of black holes during inflation, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996), 6312-6322.
- [57] R. Bousso and S. W. Hawking, (Anti)-evaporation of Schwarzschild-de Sitter black holes, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998), 2436-2442.
- [58] P. Ginsparg and M. J. Perry, Semiclassical Perdurance of de Sitter Space, Nucl. Phys. B222, 245 (1983).
- [59] Hideo Kodama and Ivan Arraut, Stability of the Schwarzschild-de Sitter black hole in the dRGT massive gravity theory, arXiv:1312.0370.
- [60] H. Kodama, A. Ishibashi and O. Seto, Brane World cosmology: Gauge invariant formalism for perturbation, Phys. Rev. D 62, 064022.
- [61] H. Kodama, Perturbations and Stabilities of Higher-Dimensional black holes, Lect Notes Phys. 769 (2009), 427-470; A. Ishibashi and H. Kodama, Stability of Higher-Dimensional Schwarzschild Black Holes, Prog. Theor. Phys. 110, (2003),5.; A. Ishibashi and H. Kodama, Perturbations and Stability of Static Black Holes in Higher Dimensions, Prog. Theor. Phys. Supp. 189, (2011); H. Kodama and A. Ishibashi, Stability of Generalised Static Black Holes in Higher Dimensions, Proceedings of the Conference C03-08-10.1.
- [62] R. Gregory and R. Laflamme, Black Strings and p-Branes are Unstable, Phys. Rev. Lett 70, (1993).
- [63] E. Babichev and A. Fabbri, *Stability analysis of black holes in massive gravity: a unified treatment*, arXiv:1401.6871 [gr-qc].
- [64] T. M. Nieuwenhuizen, Exact Schwarzschild-de Sitter black holes in a family of massive gravity models, Phys. Rev, D 84, 024038, (2011).
- [65] S. F. Hassan and R. A. Rosen, Ghost-free massive gravity with a General Reference Metric JHEP 1202, 126, (2012).
- [66] C. de Rham and S. Renaux-Petel, Massive gravity on de Sitter and unique candidate for partially massless gravity, JCAP 1301, 035, (2013).
- [67] A. Higuchi, Forbidden mass range for spin-2 field theory in de-Sitter spacetime, Nucl. Phys. B282, 397, (1987).

- [68] Katsuki Aoki and K. Maeda Cosmology in ghost-free bigravity theory with twin matter fluids: The origin of "dark matter", arXiv:1312.7040v2.
- [69] See, for example, C. Will, Living Rev. Rel. 9,3 (2005).
- [70] K. Kuijken and G. Gilmore, The Mass Distribution in the Galactic Disc Part Two -Determination of the Surface Mass Density of the Galactic Disc Near the Sun, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 239 (1989) 651.
- [71] H. Babcock, The rotation of the Andromeda Nebula, Lick Observatory bulletin; no. 498, (1939).
- [72] L. Volders. Neutral hydrogen in M 33 and M 101, Bulletin of the Astronomical Institutes of the Netherlands 14 (492): 323.
- [73] A. Bosma, The distribution and kinematics of neutral hydrogen in spiral galaxies of various morphological types, PhD Thesis, Rijksuniversiteit Groningen, 1978, available online at the Nasa Extragalactic Database.
- [74] V. Rubin, N. Thonnard, W. K. Ford, Jr, Rotational Properties of 21 Sc Galaxies with a Large Range of Luminosities and Radii from NGC 4605 (R=4kpc) to UGC 2885 (R=122kpc). Astrophys. J. 238: 471. Bibcode 1980ApJ...238..471R. doi:10.1086/158003, (1980).
- [75] C. Deffayet, G. E. Farèse and R. P. Woodard, Nonlocal metric formulations of modified Newtonian dynamics with sufficient lensing, Phys. Rev. D84 (2011), 124054.
- [76] M. E. Soussa and R. P. Woodard, A nonlocal metric formulation of MOND, Class. Quant. Grav. 20, (2003), 2737.
- [77] B. Famaey Modified Newtonian Dynamics (MOND): Observational Phenomenology and Relativistic Extensions, Living Rev.Rel. 15 (2012) 10.
- [78] K. G. Begeman, A. H. Broeils and R. H. Sanders, Extended rotation curves of spiral galaxies: dark haloes and modified dynamics, Mon.Not.Roy.Astron.Soc. 249 (1991) 523.
- [79] S. L. Adler and T. Piran, Relaxation methods for gauge field equilibrium equations, Rev. Mod. Phys. 56, 1, (1984).
- [80] R. Arnowitt, S. Deser and C. W. Misner, Republication of: The dynamics of general Relativity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 40:1997, (2008).